
© 2022 City of Adelaide. All Rights Reserved © 2022 City of Adelaide. All Rights Reserved.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA & REPORTS 

 
for the meeting 

 
Tuesday, 31 January 2023 

 
at 5.30 pm 

 
in the Council Chamber, Adelaide Town Hall 

 
 
 

© 2022 CITY OF ADELAIDE. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
COUNCIL 

Meeting Agenda, Tuesday, 31 January 2023, at 5.30 pm 
 

 
 

Members: The Right Honourable the Lord Mayor, Dr Jane Lomax-Smith (Presiding) 
 Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Martin 
 Councillors Abrahimzadeh, Couros, Davis, Elliott, Giles, Hou, Li, Noon, Dr Siebentritt and 

Snape 
 

  

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

  
1.   Acknowledgement of Country 

At the opening of the Council Meeting, the Lord Mayor will state: 

‘Council acknowledges that we are meeting on traditional Country of the Kaurna 
people of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past and present.  We 
recognize and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the land. 
We acknowledge that they are of continuing importance to the Kaurna people living 
today. 
And we also extend that respect to other Aboriginal Language Groups and other First 
Nations who are present today.’ 

 

 
2.   Acknowledgement of Colonel William Light 

Upon completion of the Kaurna Acknowledgment, the Lord Mayor will state: 

‘The Council acknowledges the vision of Colonel William Light in determining the site 
for Adelaide and the design of the City with its six squares and surrounding belt of 
continuous Park Lands which is recognised on the National Heritage List as one of 
the greatest examples of Australia’s planning heritage.’ 

 

 
3.   Prayer 

Upon completion of the Acknowledgment of Colonel William Light by the Lord Mayor, 
the Chief Executive Officer will ask all present to pray - 

‘Almighty God, we ask your blessing upon the works of the City of Adelaide; direct 
and prosper its deliberations to the advancement of your glory and the true welfare of 
the people of this City.  Amen’ 

 

 
4.   Memorial Silence 

The Lord Mayor will ask all present to stand in silence in memory of those who gave 
their lives in defence of their Country, at sea, on land and in the air. 

 

 
5.   Apologies and Leave of Absence 

Nil 

 

 
6.   Confirmation of Minutes - 13/12/2022 & 17/1/2023 

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 13 December 2022 and the 
minutes of the Special meeting of the Council held on 17 January 2023, be taken as 
read and be confirmed as an accurate record of proceedings. 

 

 
7.   Deputations 

Granted at time of Agenda Publication – 27/1/2023 

 

 
 7.1   Deputation - Ruth Mackenzie & Kath Mainland - 2023 Adelaide Festival 

Program 
 

 



8.   Petitions - Nil    
 
9.   Advice from Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority & Advice/Recommendations of 

the Audit and Risk/Reconciliation Committee - Nil   
 

 
10.   Reports for Council (Chief Executive Officer's Reports)    
 
 Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
 
 10.1   Planning System Implementation Review 5 - 87 
 
 Strategic Alignment – Thriving Communities  
 
 10.2   Submission to the Review of the Late Night Trading Code of Practice 88 - 94 
 
 10.3   Community Impact Grants and Community Infrastructure Grants Round 1 95 - 106 
 
 Strategic Alignment – Environmental Leadership  
 
 10.4   Nomination of Council Appointed Members to Kadaltilla 107 - 111 
 
 Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
 
 10.5   Award of Contracts 112 - 117 
 
 10.6   Appointments to External Bodies 118 - 120 
 
 10.7   Premier's Climate Change Council 121 - 123 
 
11.   Lord Mayor's Reports    
 
12.   Councillors' Reports    
 
 12.1   Reports from Council Members 124 - 126 
 
13.   Questions on Notice    
 
 13.1   Councillor Abrahimzadeh - QoN - Paternity Leave 127 
 
 13.2   Councillor Li - QoN - Free Adelaide Wi-Fi 128 
 
14.   Questions without Notice    
 
15.   Motions on Notice    
 
 15.1   Deputy Lord Mayor (Councillor Martin) - MoN - Student Safety 129 - 130 
 
 15.2   Councillor Abrahimzadeh - MoN - Coercive Control Forum Support 131 - 132 
 
 15.3   Councillor Davis - MoN - Governance Structure - Revocation 133 - 137 
 
 15.4   Councillor Elliott - MoN - Re-automation of Pedestrian Actuated Crossings 138 - 139 
 
 15.5   Councillor Snape - MoN - Vic Park Wetlands - Dogs on Leash 140 - 141 
 
 15.6   Councillor Giles - MoN - Adelaide Aquatic Centre 142 - 143 
 
16.   Motions without Notice    
 
17.   Exclusion of the Public 

In accordance with sections 90(2),(3) and (7) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) 
Council will consider whether to discuss in confidence the reports contained within 
section 18 of this Agenda. 

144 - 147 

 
18.   Confidential Reports for Council (Chief Executive Officer's Reports)    
 
 Strategic Alignment – Strong Economies   
 
 18.1 Lease Rundle Street [S90(3) (b), (d)] 148 - 151 
 
 18.2 Assignment of Lease - 86 Grote Street [S90(3) (b), (d)] 152 - 156 
 
19.   Closure    



 

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Planning System Implementation Review 
– Submission  
 
Strategic Alignment - Enabling Priorities 

Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis - Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

An independent review of the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) and the Planning and 
Design Code commenced in August 2022 by an Expert Panel to ensure planning decisions encourage a more 
liveable, competitive and sustainable long-term growth strategy for Greater Adelaide and the regions. The review 
was open to industry, community, state and local government.   

For the City of Adelaide, the review provides an opportunity to highlight key changes to improve the planning 
system within the Capital City context.  It is acknowledged that the new planning system is approaching two years 
of operation and the introduction of a simplified, state-wide set of policies, e-lodgement, online processing of 
planning and building approvals under new legislation are important and effective initiatives.  

Council’s response highlights opportunities for the planning system to value and recognise the City of Adelaide’s 
rich planning and architectural heritage, whilst unlocking 21st Century, climate-responsive development potential. 
Stimulating the city’s economic growth in this way, with a critical focus on growing our visitor economy, residential 
growth and enabling business growth and investment attraction are key aspirations of both City of Adelaide and 
State Government policies. 

Strategic improvements to the planning system are recommended in Council’s response to better enable key 
planning and development outcomes in the City of Adelaide. Consistent with Council’s strategic directions, this will 
strengthen the planning system’s ability to enable our communities to thrive, to strengthen our economy, enable a 
dynamic city culture and enable environmental leadership. 

The response from City of Adelaide reflects Council and community feedback and recommends improvements to 
the Planning System under the themes of Live, Local and Lead, detailed in the report below. These include: 

1. ‘A vision and identity for the capital city’ that encourages greater emphasis on design standards through the 
planning system; supports strong interface policies to minimise development conflicts; strengthens or 
improves catalyst site policies to better respond to development interface issues; and facilitates better 
approval process for non-envisaged land uses.  

2. ‘Effective community participation, appeals and notification’ that supports engagement on policy; improves 
localised and discretionary notification settings for developments; requires a test of external impacts to be 
applied to minor variations; provides greater opportunity and transparency in appeals; improves certainty for 
owners and strata groups over strata approvals; and encourages more positive outcomes in relation to liquor 
licensing applications.  

3. ‘One Act for heritage protection’ that promotes a single legislation to govern and protect State and Local 
Heritage; identifies a simpler nomination pathway to assess Local Heritage Places; fast-tracks Historic Area 
Statements updates; and provides better demolition controls in an Historic Area.  

4. ‘Options for additional local assessment’ whereby the current $10m financial threshold is revisited to use 
local expertise in the planning development assessment process.  

5. ‘All applications to be assessed under the existing planning system’ so that major developments within the 
city, specifically the Adelaide Park Lands, are consistently assessed with other developments including 
engagement with communities.  

6. ‘Development tracking and integrated e-Planning’ that improves on the positives of the current system, such 
as automatic notifications, spatial analysis, and automatic withdrawal of non-compliance proposals. 

Page 4

Agenda Item 10.1



 

7. ‘Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans’ that seeks to ensure contributions to local 
infrastructure; improves policies on waste management; avoids premature demolition of buildings; diverts car 
parking funds to active and sustainable transport infrastructure; and seeks sufficient EV charging 
infrastructure.  

8. ‘Pathway to a climate-ready future’ that invests in green infrastructure; enhances tree canopy coverage; and 
enables climate-ready policies.  

9. ‘A place for everyone’ that supports a State-based approach to mandate provision of social and affordable 
housing. 

The deadline for Council submissions to the Expert Panel was extended to 30 January 2023, whilst community 
submissions closed on 16 December 2022.  City of Adelaide notified and received confirmation from Planning and 
Land Use Services that Council’s formal submission can be made following Council decision on 1 February 2023. 

This report seeks Council’s approval of the draft City of Adelaide submission to the Expert Panel as contained in 
Attachment A – Draft City of Adelaide Submission to the Planning System Implementation Review, Expert Panel 
Questions and Strategic Response, to enable submission to the Expert Panel by 1 February 2023. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Approves the submission included as Attachment A to Item 10.1 on the Agenda for the meeting of Council 
held on 31 January 2023, noting it addresses key issues considered by Council and informed through 
engagement with the community, including, but not limited to appeal rights, public notification, heritage, 
vegetation and tree canopy, building heights at zone transitions and changes in land use.  

2. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to amend, finalise and forward the submission to the Expert Panel’s 
Planning System Implementation Review, included as Attachment A to Item 10.1 on the Agenda for the 
meeting of Council held on 31 January 2023. 

 
 
  

Page 5



 

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
5.3 Build on effective advocacy and partnerships locally, nationally and globally 

Policy 

The State Government initiated the planning system implementation review process during 
the local government election period.  Administration drafted a submission to the review 
which builds on policy positions of the City of Adelaide as well as a draft strategic response 
to the review that reflects priorities raised by Council Members and informed though 
engagement with the community (Attachment A). 

Consultation 

The State Government’s consultation process included workshops for State Government 
practitioners, building practitioners, planning practitioners and community. Sessions were 
provided for local government Mayors and Chief Executive Officers, which occurred during 
the local government election and caretaker period. 
A workshop was held with Council on 6 December 2022 to guide preparation of a strategic 
response to the Expert Panel.  
Administration wrote to the Expert Panel on 8 December 2022 seeking a community 
information session to be held in the City of Adelaide, a response to this request has not 
been received at the time of publishing this report. 
The Council Assessment Panel discussed the State Planning review on 
12 December 2022. 
Council resolved on 13 December 2022 to undertake community consultation on the State 
Government review process. Consultation opened on 20 December 2022 and closed on 
13 January 2023. 
A further workshop was held on 24 January 2023 to refine Council’s submission to the 
Expert Panel based on Council Member feedback. 
 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report 

Opportunities To highlight issues and opportunities with the design and operation of the State planning 
system, to improve outcomes for the City of Adelaide. 

22/23 Budget 
Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

The state-wide planning system introduced in South Australia pursuant to the Planning, 
Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) will continue to govern the way planning 
policy and development assessment is undertaken by local government. 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

Page 6



 

DISCUSSION 
 

1. The Minister for Planning commissioned an independent review of South Australia’s planning system on 5 
August 2022.  Link 1 – Planning System Implementation Review 

2. An independent Expert Panel was appointed by the State Government to identify opportunities to ensure 
planning decisions encourage a more liveable, competitive, affordable, and sustainable long-term growth 
strategy for Greater Adelaide and the regions. 

3. The Expert Panel released three discussion papers (Link 2) on 17 October 2022 outlining the scope of the 
review and possible reform options titled: 

3.1. Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 2016 – Reform Options 

3.2. Planning and Design Code – Reform Options 

3.3. e-planning system and the PlanSA website – Reform Options. 

4. The Panel sought feedback from industry, community, State, and local government on the review. The State 
Government held a Mayors / Chief Executive Officer workshop as well as building practitioner and planning 
practitioner workshops during October and November 2022.  Administration attended the Mayors / Chief 
Executive Officer workshop, and the Planning Practitioner workshops. 

5. The State Government review process was open to the community for comment and community information 
sessions were held on 1, 8 and 13 December 2022, as follows: 

5.1. 1 December – 11.30am – 1.30pm – online community workshop 

5.2. 8 December 10am – 12pm – in person workshop – Parks Library, Angle Vale 

5.3. 13 December 5pm – 6.30pm – in person workshop – Fullarton Park Community Centre, Fullarton 

5.4. 13 December 7.30- 9.00pm – in person workshop – Don Pyatt Hall, Norwood. 

6. Key community and industry groups were invited to provide deputations to the Panel at the Panel’s 
discretion.  

7. Much of the consultation for the State Government review coincided with the local government election and 
caretaker period.  

8. The deadline for community submissions was 16 December 2022.  

9. The deadline for local government submissions was extended to 30 January 2023. 

10. City of Adelaide notified and received confirmation from Planning and Land Use Services that Council’s 
formal submission be made following Council’s decision by 1 February 2023. 

11. Council received a deputation from a community member at its meeting held on 29 November 2022 
requesting the Council seek an extension to the submission timeframe to the end of March 2023. 

12. The timeframe for submission to the State Government review process was discussed by Council Members 
at a CEO briefing held on 6 December 2022.  The Lord Mayor subsequently wrote to the chair of the Expert 
Panel and the Minister for Planning on 8 December 2022 seeking a further extension until 31 March 2023 
and a community information session to be held in the City of Adelaide.  The Minister for Planning provided a 
response dated 14 December 2022 declining the request for a further extension. 

13. At its meeting held on 13 December 2022, Council resolved to undertake public consultation on the State 
Government review.  The consultation was open from 20 December 2022 and closed on 13 January 2023.  
This report provides summary information on community participation in the consultation. 

Background 
14. At its meeting on 25 July 2017, Council adopted guiding principles for submissions about the introduction of 

the planning system which are shown on page 4 of Attachment A. 
15. City of Adelaide has actively participated in State Government processes to create the new State planning 

system.  Submissions by City of Adelaide since the creation of the State Planning Commission in 2017 
include: 

15.1. Link 3 view here - Submission on the Community Engagement Charter – September 2017  

15.2. Link 4 view here – Submission on the State Planning Policies – September 2018  

15.3. Submissions on Discussion Papers to inform the creation of the Planning and Design Code; 

Page 7

https://plan.sa.gov.au/planning_review/have_your_say
https://plan.sa.gov.au/planning_review/have_your_say
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_3.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_4.pdf


 

15.3.1 Link 5 view here - Performance Indicators 17 October 2018  

15.3.2 Link 6 view here - Assessment Pathways – 16 October 2018  

15.3.3 Link 7 view here - Accredited Professionals Scheme Discussion Draft – 30 April 2018  

15.3.4 Link 8 view here - Accredited Professionals Draft Regulations 16 October 2018  

15.3.5. Link 9 view here - Natural Resources and Environment and Integrated Movement Systems 12
 November 2018  

15.3.6 Link 10 view here - Productive Economy 21 February 2019  

15.4. Link 11 view here - Submission on the Draft Planning and Design Code – 28 February 2020  

15.5. Link 12 view here – Submission on Revised Draft Planning and Design Code - 13 November 2020  

15.6. Link 13 view here - Submission on the Ministerial Riverbank Code Amendment – 17 November 2021  

15.7. Link 14 view here - Submission on Ministerial Miscellaneous & Technical Enhancements Code 
Amendment 23 September 2022  

16. On 3 August 2021 Council identified priorities for future amendments to the Planning and Design Code 
(Link 15 view here - Council Report “Planning & Design Code – Update and Future Priorities – August 
2021).  

17. The Planning System review is an opportunity to highlight priorities for reform within a Capital City context. 

18. Council’s response identifies strategic and future-focussed pathways for improving planning and 
development outcomes aligned to City of Adelaide’s strategic plan outcomes.  

19. Specific opportunities to improve effectiveness and efficiency in development assessment processing are 
identified, specifically in the context of the challenges and opportunities faced in a highly urban and unique 
Capital City environment. 

20. Although the State Government’s current Planning System Implementation Review is not a Code 
Amendment process, it can influence future opportunities for policy improvements. 

21. The City Plan is identified as the mechanism and framework to work with the State Government around 
future opportunities to strengthen the Planning and Design Code to reinforce the city as the physical and 
economic heart of the state. 

22. A program of work on future planning system improvements, including potential Planning and Design Code 
Amendments will be brought to Council in 2023. 

City of Adelaide Consultation 
23. The City of Adelaide prepared a survey to seek community feedback to inform its response to the Expert 

Panel.  The survey was available on Council’s website, shared via social media and emailed directly to: 

23.1. 558 Plan SA applicants within the City of Adelaide who have interacted with the system  

23.2 6,499 Residents and ratepayers registered on the City of Adelaide Your Say website 

23.3. 31,221 City of Adelaide LinkedIn followers 

23.4. 8,000 contacts through the AEDA City Business newsletter. 

24. A total of 82 responses to the City of Adelaide consultation process were received (Link 16 view here).  A 
total of 10 submissions made by respondents to the Expert Panel were shared with the City of Adelaide.   

25. Comments raised by the community reinforce and are consistent with City of Adelaide’s submission. 

26. Key themes arising through the community submissions include: 

26.1. Public notification - respondents are most interested in having an ability to respond to multi-storey and 
residential developments, followed by adjacent development/commercial development. Respondents 
broadly support development applications and variations being more widely notified. 

26.2. Appeals - respondents are seeking broader appeal rights including as neighbour, community member 
and applicant. Respondents supported expanding rights of appeal for adjacent and nearby properties 
and concerned parties. One submission suggested the Environment, Resources and Development 
Court should have greater discretion to award costs in certain circumstances. 

26.3. Policy importance - respondents ranked the policy areas under review in the following order of 
importance: character, heritage, trees, infill development and car parking. 

Page 8

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_5.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_6.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_7.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_8.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_9.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_10.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_11.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_12.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_13.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_14.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_15.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Planning_Link_16.pdf


 

26.4. Planning system importance – respondents ranked aspects of the planning system under review in the 
following order of importance: impact assessed development, public notification and appeal rights, 
verification of development applications, local heritage, accredited professionals, website experience, 
deemed consents and infrastructure schemes. 

27. Other comments arising from community submissions include (in no particular order): 

27.1 Catalyst sites – request to revisit policies which provide concessions to policy parameters beyond 
what otherwise may have been envisaged in the Planning and Design Code, particularly where the 
development has impacts on character, amenity and building height/form.  

27.2. Certainty – creation and adherence to policy limits (specifically height and heritage value), clear rules 
for assessment of variations to development applications, and reduced frequency of Code 
Amendments. 

27.3. Open space and greening – preserving garden spaces in development and greater minimum provision 
requirements for multi-unit dwellings than for individual dwellings. 

27.4. Heritage – preservation of historical, architectural and character buildings and values; the need to 
acknowledge Aboriginal history; demolition of heritage as a serious issue that should be carefully 
assessed. 

27.5. Park Lands and public spaces – preservation of Park Lands and objection to rezoning for large scale 
development. 

27.6. Transparency and access – improved access to information, including policy, assessment information 
and development processes, by improvements to the online system and provision of hard copies. 

27.7. $10M development assessment threshold – review of requirements for the State Commission 
Assessment Panel to assess development in the City of Adelaide above $10M. 

27.8. Engagement – validation of submission and representor details. 

27.9. Website experience – simplification and mobile phone compatibility. 

27.10. Urban design – importance of city form, scale and design quality; re-introduction of ‘Desired Future 
Character Statements’. 

27.11. Verification - support for a simple, timely and accurate verification processes and simplification of 
verification language in the development assessment processing system (PlanSA website). 

27.12. Vision – a vision for the city (height and urban form) and long-term strategic land use planning. 

27.13. City vitality and liveability – impact of vacant sites and buildings; the need for balanced decision-
making to resolve issues associated with liquor licensing and adult entertainment. 

27.14. Affordable Housing – ensure dwellings which are built as ‘affordable housing’ are utilised for such 
purpose. 

27.15. Sustainability and climate change – improved policy, building design and active travel options. 

27.16. Assessment Authorities – greater transparency in decision-making and for assessment authorities to 
be accountable for decisions. 

28. The Council Assessment Panel considered the State Planning review on 12 December 2022 and raised the 
following three key areas for improvement: 

28.1. Crown development being subject to the Development Assessment Processing system 

28.2. Local assessment for development over $10 million, including increasing the threshold or removing 
the current threshold in favour of a ‘call-in’ option 

28.3. Review of accredited professional requirements for Council Assessment Panel members to incentivise 
membership. 

29. City of Adelaide’s submission supports the accredited professional’s requirements for Council Assessment 
Panels.  

30. Survey responses and copies of submissions to the Expert Panel contain valuable input which will inform 
future Code Amendment investigations by City of Adelaide.  

Submission to the State Planning System 
31. Discussion papers developed by the Expert Panel raise areas for feedback and consideration based on the 

scope of the review. The discussion papers specifically seek new opportunities to improve the planning 
system, rather than re-submission of previous comments. 

Page 9



 

32. To inform a response, Administration gathered feedback from subject-matter experts across Council and 
attended Expert Panel workshops. 

33. Administration has prepared a table of responses to the matters raised by the Expert Panel in their 
discussion papers (Attachment A). 

34. Areas of the review which provide strategic alignment to outcomes sought by the City of Adelaide as raised 
by Council on 6 December 2022 and 24 January 2023 are summarised below.  Key recommendations under 
each of these themes are detailed in Attachment A: 

Live 

  ‘A vision and identity for the capital city’ that seeks improvements through the review that: 

o supports a strong city centre; encourages greater emphasis on design standards through the 
planning system;  

o supports strong interface policies to minimise development conflicts;  

o catalyst site policies are revised to better respond to development interface issues; and facilitates an 
improved approval process for non-envisaged land uses.  

  ‘One Act for heritage protection’ that promotes a single legislation to govern and protect State and Local 
Heritage; identifies a simpler nomination pathway to assess Local Heritage Places; fast-tracks Historic 
Area Statements updates; and provides better demolition controls in an Historic Area.  

  ‘A place for everyone’ that supports a State-based approach to mandate provision of social and 
affordable housing. 

Local 

  ‘Consider options for additional local assessment’ that emphasises the necessity of local expertise in the 
planning development assessment process.  

  ‘All applications to be assessed under existing planning system’ so that major developments within the 
city, specifically the Adelaide Park Lands, are consistently assessed with other developments, including 
engagement with communities.  

  ‘Effective community participation, appeals and notification’ that supports meaningful engagement on 
policy; promotes localised and discretionary notification settings for developments; requires a test of 
external impacts to be applied to minor variations; provides greater opportunity and transparency in 
appeals process; creates better certainty for owners and strata groups over strata approvals; and 
encourages more positive outcomes in relation to liquor licensing applications.  

Lead 

  ‘Development tracking and integrated e-Planning’ that enables abilities and functionalities, such as 
adoption of spatial analysis, automatic notifications, and automatic withdrawal of non-compliance 
proposals. 

  ‘Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans’ that seeks appropriate tools to ensure 
contributions to local infrastructure; improves policies on waste management; avoids premature 
demolition of buildings that reduces activations; diverts car paring funds to active and sustainable 
transport infrastructure; and seeks sufficient EV charging infrastructure.  

  ‘Pathway to a climate-ready future’ that invests in green infrastructure; enhances tree canopy coverage; 
and enables climate-ready policies.  

35. This report seeks a decision of Council on the draft City of Adelaide submission to the Expert Panel as 
contained in Attachment A – Draft City of Adelaide Submission to the Planning System Implementation 
Review, Expert Panel Questions and Strategic Response, to enable submission to the Expert Panel on 1 
February 2023. 

 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Link 1 – Planning System Implementation Review 

Link 2 – Full consultation report  

Page 10

https://plan.sa.gov.au/planning_review/have_your_say


 

Link 3 - Submission on the Community Engagement Charter – September 2017  

Link 4 - Submission on the State Planning Policies – September 2018  

Link 5 - Performance Indicators 17 October 2018  

Link 6 - Assessment Pathways – 16 October 2018  

Link 7 - Accredited Professionals Scheme Discussion Draft – 30 April 2018  

Link 8 - Accredited Professionals Draft Regulations 16 October 2018  

Link 9 - Natural Resources and Environment and Integrated Movement Systems 12 November 2018  

Link 10 - Productive Economy 21 February 2019  

Link 11 - Submission on the Draft Planning and Design Code – 28 February 2020  

Link 12 – Submission on Revised Draft Planning and Design Code - 13 November 2020  

Link 13 - Submission on the Ministerial Riverbank Code Amendment – 17 November 2021  

Link 14 - Submission on Ministerial Miscellaneous & Technical Enhancements Code Amendment 23 September 
2022  

Link 15 - Council Report “Planning & Design Code – Update and Future Priorities – August 2021  

Link 16 – Summary of Consultation on the State Government Planning Review – January 2023 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment A – City of Adelaide Submission to Planning System Implementation Review, Strategic Response and 
Expert Panel Questions 

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 11



 

 

Enquiries: xxx 
Reference: ACC2022/141050 
 

xx February 2023 
 

John Stimson 
Chair, Expert Panel 
GPO Box 1815 
ADELAIDE SA 5001  
 

Via email: DTI.PlanningReview@sa.gov.au  
 
 
Dear Mr Stimson 
 

Planning System Implementation Review 
 

Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to the review of the implementation of the 
Planning System. City of Adelaide has actively participated in State Government processes 
to create the new State planning system and acknowledges the scale of the reform program 
undertaken by the State Government.  

City of Adelaide’s contribution to the current review by the Expert Panel incorporates 
feedback from the Council, key stakeholders, the broader community and administration. 
There was a high degree of consistency of the themes raised across the range of 
stakeholders.  

There was recognition and support from stakeholders for components of the system which 
are working well to create efficiencies and transparency. The feedback has also identified 
areas for improvement and key challenges for ensuring a planning system that balances 
statewide consistency, strategic investment, growth and local planning priorities.  
 

Of highest priority to Council are improvements to policy and mechanisms that include: 

 Public notification – increasing the scope 
 Appeal rights – broadening these rights beyond the developer only 
 Local assessment of development – review of Council Assessment Panels current range 

of authority 
 Interface between zone and/or site boundaries 
 Catalyst sites – revise policies to better respond to development interface issues and 

facilitate an improved approval process for non-envisaged land uses 
 Vegetation and tree canopy 
 Waste management 
 Land use vs licensing assessment, particularly adult entertainment. 
 

The Council is progressing a City Plan which will provide the framework for engagement with 
the State Government around future opportunities to strengthen the Planning and Design 
Code and to reinforce the city as the physical and economic heart of the state. 

We are also committed to working with the State Government on a future code amendment 
program and playing our role to implement improvements identified in the City of Adelaide’s 
submission endorsed by Council at its meeting on 31 January 2023. 

Furthermore, I would be pleased to continue the productive conversations with the Minister 
for Planning in the interests of ensuring the latest planning review provides greater certainty 
for existing city communities about where and how the city will grow, while simultaneously 
demonstrating opportunities for business growth and investment.  
 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
<name> 
Position 
 
Encl. 

Page 12

Attachment A



Planning System 
Implementation
Review
City of Adelaide Submission 
January 2023

Page 13



2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

The City of Adelaide acknowledges that we are located on the traditional Country 
of the Kaurna people of the Adelaide Plains and pays respect to Elders past, 
present and emerging. 

We recognise and respect their cultural heritage, beliefs and relationship with the 
land. We also extend that respect to visitors of other Aboriginal Language Groups 
and other First Nations.

Acknowledgement of Country

3

P
age 14



54    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

City of Adelaide’s position on implementation of the planning system adopted on 25 July 2017 is 
that it should be based on, and assessed against, the eleven guiding principles shown in Figure 1.

During the March 2022 State Election, an election commitment was made to commission an 
independent review of the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) and the 
Planning and Design Code to ensure planning decisions encourage a more liveable, competitive and 
sustainable long-term growth strategy for Greater Adelaide and the regions. 

This paper highlights key opportunities to improve the planning system as it operates within the 
City of Adelaide. It should be read in conjunction with the detailed feedback table which responds 
to questions raised by the Expert Panel in each of the three discussion papers prepared for the 
Planning System Implementation Review.

Council has dealt with technical elements of the review in the response table, and has also 
summarised its key issues under the themes Live, Local and Lead.

The opportunities highlighted in this paper will strengthen the delivery of shared outcomes sought 
by both State Government and City of Adelaide, including but not limited to affordable housing, 
residential growth, investment attraction, a climate-ready city and a vibrant city centre.

Introduction

Figure 1: City of Adelaide’s principles for the planning system implementation

P
age 15



7

•	 A vision and identity for the capital city 
•	 One Act for heritage protection
•	 A place for everyone

•	 Consider options for additional local assessment 
•	 All applications assessed under existing planning system
•	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

•	 Development tracking and integrated e-Planning 
•	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans
•	 Pathway to a climate-ready future

Live

Lead

Local

6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

P
age 16



98    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Context 
City of Adelaide’s vision is to be the most 
liveable city in the world. A city where design is 
high-quality and front of mind.

City of Adelaide is developing a City Plan with 
the support of State Government. The City Plan 
is an opportunity to reinstate a vision to guide 
the future growth and development of the city. 
The City Plan, as an urban planning strategy, 
has the opportunity to be implemented as a 
statutory document into the planning system 
as a regional or sub-regional plan.

The City Plan will also provide the framework 
through which to engage with the State 
Government around future opportunities to 
strengthen the Planning and Design Code to 
reinforce the city as the physical and economic 
heart of the state.

With a focus on liveability the City Plan’s 
objective is to create a city that is vibrant and 
thriving as an attractor for residents, students, 
businesses and investors.

The City Plan will provide certainty for existing 
city communities about where and how the 
city will grow over time, while simultaneously 
demonstrating opportunities for business 
growth and investment.

1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city 1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

Live
Opportunities and Challenges

Vision
City of Adelaide’s vision and supporting 
statements were previously included in the 
preface to the Adelaide (City) Development 
Plan and provided a touchstone and policy 
context to help guide development assessment.

Incorporating a vision for the city in the 
Planning and Design Code to provide 
locally and spatially relevant policy within 
development assessments can support 
community confidence in planning and 
development.

Conversely there are policies and overlays 
within the Code which have been developed for 
a suburban context that are applied to the city. 
Given the city’s role as a civic, commercial and 
residential location it is important that policies 
and overlays are specific to the capital city 
context. 

Design Standards
The Planning, Development and Infrastructure 
Act 2016 (SA) and Regulations introduced 
new provisions relating to Design Standards, 
which interact with development assessment 
and management of land under the care and 
control of local government.

Design Standards can be used to pro-actively 
manage the interaction between the planning 
system and Council managed public land, such 
as footpaths and roadways.

Most development in the city is infill 
development. Design Standards or guidelines 
should be developed for medium-high scale 
development to promote design quality and 
improved connection with public realm, squares 
and Park Lands. 

P
age 17



111 0    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Good neighbours: Better manage height and 
design at the interface between existing and 
new development 
City of Adelaide acknowledges the potential 
for residential growth of the city centre and 
evolution of building heights across the city. 
City of Adelaide supports a clear vision, design 
standards and stronger policy at zone interfaces 
to ensure the city can grow in a way that 
delivers high levels of amenity for existing and 
future residents. The 3D spatial model developed 
with the City Plan will be a valuable tool for this 
purpose.

Catalyst Sites  
Catalyst site policies are designed to provide 
policy flexibility for large sites over 1,500sqm 
and apply in the city in the following locations: 
•	 Business Neighbourhood Zone 

(Melbourne Street West Subzone) 
•	 City Living Zone (East Terrace Subzone) 
•	 City Main Street Zone (City High Street 

Subzone) 
•	 Community Facilities Zone 

(St Andrews Hospital Precinct Subzone). 

The premise of catalyst site policy is that design, 
setback and interfaces can be appropriately 
managed on larger sites. Policy improvements 
are needed to address community concerns so 
that new development is designed to reflect its 
context, for example multi-storey development 
immediately adjacent single or two storey 
development, built form not set back from the 
boundary and/or windows that look directly into 
neighbour’s bathrooms.

The City of Adelaide is concerned that 
current catalyst site policies are insufficient to 
manage the transition in height and scale of 
development across the city. City of Adelaide 
cannot support catalyst sites in the city without 
stronger policy to achieve desired design quality.

Envisaged Land Use
Providing certainty of development and land use 
is a cornerstone of local planning.

The removal of City of Adelaide specific land-use 
definitions, including but not limited to adult 
entertainment premises, adult products and 
services premises, and licensed entertainment 
premises is continuing to be problematic. 

As a result, issues with some forms of 
development and land use are difficult to 
resolve, and the City of Adelaide has a reduced 
ability to moderate potentially incompatible 
land uses and influence positive outcomes.

City of Adelaide supports amendment of zone 
provisions and/or new or amended subzones 
to provide communities and developers 
with greater certainty of land use outcome. 
Other changes could include inclusion of a 
non-envisaged land use list in the Planning 
and Design Code and/or opportunities for 
Assessment Authorities to provide early refusal 
of problematic development types in certain 
locations.

1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

Live

P
age 18



1 2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Issue
•	 Council submitted feedback to State 

Government that removal of a definition 
for ‘Prescribed Entertainment (Adult 
Entertainment)’ within the Code was a 
concern. Council’s feedback was not acted 
upon.

•	 In 2022 community members contacted 
Council with strong concerns about an 
Prescribed (Adult) Entertainment application 
lodged with Consumer and Business Services.

Result
•	 As the use is not defined in the Code, there is 

difficulty assessing its appropriateness from a 
planning perspective. 

•	 The use falls under a ‘licensed premise’, which 
is often envisaged.

•	 Considered unlikely that Council would win 
if it declined support of the land use and was 
challenged on appeal.

Recommendation
•	 Reinstate a definition for Prescribed (Adult) 

Entertainment in the Code to allow for 
assessment.

Case Study: Grenfell Street Bar/Club
Theme: Non-envisaged Land Use

Case Study: 5 Albert Lane, Adelaide
Theme: Zone Interfaces and Building Height Transition

1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

Issue
•	 Proposal for a mixed-use building on a site 

currently used as an open lot car park at 
the interface between the City Living Zone 
(subject site) and the Capital City Zone

•	 Maximum height in this portion of the City 
Living Zone is 3 storeys / 11 metres. In the 
neighbouring Capital City Zone it is 22 metres. 
Proposal is for a 4 storey / 14.5 metre high 
building

•	 Council expressed concern regarding the scale 
of the proposal during assessment

•	 Neighbouring residents also expressed concern 
during the assessment process and public 
notification

•	 Council’s Assessment Panel refused two 
versions of the proposal

Result
	 Complicated assessment allowing for the 

interface between two zones, particularly 
when the zones have significantly varied 
height requirements

•	 An assessment needs to allow for a transition 
between the two zones and this often results 
in increased height, bulk and scale within low 
scale residential areas at the zone interface

•	 Difficult to explain to the public how this 
assessment process works when there are 
specific height requirements for each zone

Recommendation
•	 Consider height changes between zones that 

are more gradual, avoiding significant changes 
in height at a single point

•	 Improve interface policies to better guide the 
assessment of developments at the interface

Live
1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

13

Case Study: East End Residential Redevelopment (Garden East) 
Theme: Vision and Identity

Issue
•	 Large scale redevelopment at former markets
•	 Consists of multiple (9) separate multi-storey 

residential apartments, pedestrian linkages 
and commercial/retail

Result
•	 Integration with existing commercial precinct 
•	 Responsive to heritage and historic context

Outcome
•	 Use of City of Adelaide planning vision 

and statements of desired future character 
contributed to long-term positive liveability 
and vibrancy outcomes for the City of 
Adelaide, tourism and economic development.  

 

Case Study: 217 East Terrace, Adelaide 
Theme: Catalyst Site Policies

Issue
•	 Large scale development proposal located 

within a low-scale residential neighbourhood
•	 The development proposal however did not 

trigger use of the catalyst site policies

Result
•	 Existing zone policies were able to be used 

during design and assessment which resulted 
in a contextual design response which had 
regard to neighbouring properties

Outcome
•	 This example demonstrates the benefits of 

having sufficient policies to encourage positive 
design outcomes for larger site developments 

P
age 19



Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Vision for the 
city centre

A statutory plan for a strong city centre (City Plan) which is 
recognised in the planning system.

Vision statements being included in Zones in the Planning and 
Design Code and recognised in Part 1 – Rules of Interpretation.

Design standards 
in the city

Resolving the introduction of appropriate Design Standards, and the 
interaction with the Local Government Act 1999 to ensure positive 
outcomes for Council-managed public land, such as footpaths and 
roadways.

Encouraging the planning system to place greater emphasis on 
achieving Universal Design outcomes across all development, as 
envisaged by the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 
2016.

Pursue Local Design Review process within the City of Adelaide.

Zone Interfaces and 
Building Height 
transition

Prepare design standards or guidelines for medium-high scale 
development for inclusion in the Planning & Design Code in City of 
Adelaide.

City of Adelaide supports stronger interface policies to minimise 
over-height development and commercial land-use encroachments 
into residential zones.

Consider height changes between zones that are more gradual, 
avoiding significant changes in height at a single point.

Improve interface policies to better guide the assessment of 
developments at the interface.

Catalyst site policies Revise policies to better respond to development interface issues and 
facilitate an improved approval process for non-envisaged land uses.

Non-envisaged 
land use

Further consideration of a non-envisaged land use list in the Planning 
and Design Code and opportunities for early refusal of problematic 
development types in certain locations.

Reinstate a definition for Prescribed (Adult) Entertainment in the 
Code to allow for assessment.

1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

Live

1 4    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 15

P
age 20



“Enable the full economic, tourism, cultural, community and 
sustainability potential of our built and cultural heritage to be realised.”
Heritage: Our Future. Heritage Strategy 2021 – 2036 and Action Plan, City of Adelaide

Context
The city’s heritage enriches the city’s heart 
and soul. It provides an anchor for people and 
communities. An acknowledgement of history 
provides our society with an understanding 
of the past and directions for the future. 
Appreciation of our heritage helps build strong, 
connected communities with access to rich 
cultural and social experiences.  

City of Adelaide has a Position Paper on 
Heritage Reform to inform numerous 
stakeholders and community members of its 
position on the State Government’s heritage 
system. Some of Council’s position is repeated 
here for easy reference. Heritage is one of 
four Council-endorsed development policy 
improvement priorities (the others being 
sustainability, liveability and movement).

Council seeks a heritage system that:

•	 Enables the full economic, tourism, 
cultural, community and sustainability 
value of our built heritage to be realised

•	 Provides for consistent and transparent 
decision making based on merit and that 
meets community expectations

•	 Enables the appropriate conservation, 
adaptation, sensitive re-use and 
development of heritage assets.

Opportunities and Challenges
The identification of Heritage Places in South 
Australia is currently managed by separate 
State and Local Heritage listing processes which 
results in two authorities, two administrative 
systems and two sets of differing processes.  

Places that do not achieve State Heritage 
listing follow a longer nomination pathway 
to be considered for Local Heritage listing 
which is complicated by the need for a Code 
Amendment process and differing standards of 
heritage expert assessment. 

A single integrated system would provide the 
best platform for effective reform to enable 
consistency of approach, enhance opportunities 
for streamlining and administrative efficiencies. 

The Planning, Development and Infrastructure 
Act 2016 (SA) includes provisions for designating 
an area as a heritage character or preservation 
zone. The legislation contemplates that in the 
future such designation would require 51% of 
relevant owners of allotments within a relevant 
area to support the designation (part (4) and 
part (5) of section 67). 

City of Adelaide does not support the 
implementation of such provisions which would 
subject future Heritage Area Overlays to a 
popular vote rather than a planning decision 
based upon sound evidence, analysis, and 
consultation.

1.2	 One Act for heritage protection

1 6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Live

1.	 Proponent (Council/Private) and Minister reach 
agreement on a “Proposal to Initiate a Code 
Amendment” (Note: privately initiated Code 
Amendments are charged a significant fee).

2.	 Engagement Plan prepared in accordance with 
Community Engagement Charter.

3.	 Council or private proponent prepared a Code 
Amendment with expert advice to support listing 
considered against the Section 67 (1) criteria in 
the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 
2016 for destination of new local heritage places. 
(Note: The Section 67 (1) criteria are the same as the 
former Section 34(4) criteria in the Development 
Act 1993(SA)).

4.	 Early commencement of a Code Amendment 
may be requested, subject to providing written 
justification to the Department.

5.	 Engagement undertaken consistent with 
Engagement Plan. 

6.	 Engagement outcomes are reviewed in accordance 
with the engagement plan. An Engagement Report 
is prepared which sets out how the proposed 
changes have responded to the engagement. 

7.	 Proponents forward the updated Code Amendment 
and Engagement Report to the Minister.

8.	 The State Planning Commission will give the owner 
of the land (if an objection is received) reasonable 
opportunity to make a submission on the proposed 
designation of a local heritage place. 

9.	 Minister considers proposal. 

10.	If approved by Minister, Code Amendment reviewed 
by ERD Committee. 

11.	 The owners of a place designated as a Local 
Heritage Place may appeal to the ERD Court.

1.	 Nomination made by anyone.

2.	 State Heritage Council or its delegate considers 
the nomination criteria regarding the State 
Heritage criteria. 

3.	 If considered of State significance, provisionally 
State listing. 

4.	 The provisional listing is released for three 
months of consultation. 

5.	 The State Heritage Council then determines 
whether to confirm the provisional listed. 

6.	 The Minister can request the Council to remove a 
provisional entry if the Minister is of the opinion 
that its confirmation would be ‘contrary to the 
public interest’.

Local Heritage Listing Process
(Council-led or Private)
as set out in the 
Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act (2016)

State Heritage Listing Process 

as set out in the 
Heritage Places Act 1993 (SA)

Table 1 - Existing Heritage Listing Processes

17

P
age 21



1.2	 One Act for heritage protection

Live

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

A single heritage 
statute

A single legislation to govern and protect State and Local Heritage, as 
described in City of Adelaide’s Position on Heritage Reform (June 2022). 
This can be enabled through adjustments to the Heritage Places Act 
1993 (SA) and removal of Code Amendment local listing processes from 
the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA).

A simpler pathway 
for Local Heritage 
protection

A simpler nomination pathway, that provides for Local Heritage Places 
to be assessed on heritage values by heritage experts. 

Fast track updates 
to Historic Area 
Statements

Urgent update of City of Adelaide’s Historic Area Statements to provide 
greater context, description and guidance.

Demolition Control
Demolition in an Historic Area to follow performance assessed pathway 
and only once full Development Approval for a replacement building is 
granted.

1 8    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 19

P
age 22



212 0    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

1.3	 A place for everyone

Context
Council’s Homelessness, Social Housing and 
Housing Affordability Policy identifies a role for 
Council to advocate to the State and Federal 
Governments for a national approach to 
mandatory inclusionary zoning for affordable 
housing, including a change in State-based 
planning legislation to enable its staged 
implementation.

City of Adelaide is committed to residential 
growth and has endorsed a residential housing 
and growth action plan that seeks to address 
housing challenges for all.

Opportunities and Challenges
The Planning and Design Code includes an 
Affordable Housing Overlay that applies across 
all zones in the city other than areas within the 
Historic Area Overlay or City Riverbank Zone.   

Requirements to provide affordable housing are 
not mandatory and there are no requirements 
under the planning legislation for provision of 
social housing.

There is potential to unlock residential 
development in the city while reinforcing 
liveability through amendment of the Planning 

and Design Code to strengthen policies to 
incorporate public realm, greening and public 
art in new residential developments, building 
sustainability, and incentivised policies for aging 
in place.

The U City development is just one example 
of what is already being achieved in the City 
of Adelaide by private and non-government 
organisations.

There is also significant opportunity for the 
City of Adelaide to partner with the State 
Government, community housing providers 
and the private sector to progress residential 
development in the City of Adelaide that 
delivers significant affordable, social and 
specialised housing in the city. This could be 
achieved through existing State Government 
programs delivered through SA Housing 
Authority and Renewal SA, such as the 
1000 Homes Program, and new partnership 
arrangements.

Council seeks to work in collaboration with the 
State Government to identify ways to remove 
or address barriers to the repurposing of older 
and vacant buildings in the city and increase 
stimulation and delivery of adaptive reuse of 
existing building stock.

Live
1.3	 A place for everyone
Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Social and Affordable 
Housing

Progression of a national approach to mandatory inclusionary zoning 
for affordable housing, including a change in State-based planning 
legislation to enable its staged implementation.

Housing Growth
A multi-faceted approach to housing growth with partnerships between 
Local and State Government, community housing providers and the 
private sector.

Adaptive Reuse A State-local government partnership to incentivise adaptive building 
reuse in the city.

Residential Code 
Amendment

Amendment of the Planning and Design Code to strengthen policies 
that promote residential development and good design in the city.

Fees and Charges Reform of State Government fees and charges applied to residential 
development in the city.

P
age 23



Context 
The planning system provides for development 
assessment pathways that seek to match the 
level of potential impacts or complexity of a 
proposed development with the assessment 
process. Combined with the introduction of the 
Accredited Professional Scheme, this provides 
suitable assurance for professional decision 
making. Changes to the composition, and 
skills-based expertise, of Council Assessment 
Panels provides further surety of professional 
assessment of larger developments.  

Opportunities and Challenges
The current threshold for development over 
$10m in the City of Adelaide to be assessed 
by the State Commission Assessment Panel 
contained in the Regulations is out of step 
with new checks and balances introduced by 
the planning system and there is potential 
to achieve quality development outcomes 
and assessment efficiencies by enabling more 
developments to be assessed by the City of 
Adelaide Assessment Manager and/or Council 
Assessment Panel.

Many city developments are over $10m and 
would benefit from local assessment. Council 
members and the Council Assessment Panel 
suggest the $10m trigger requiring State 
Commission Assessment Panel assessment 
should be reassessed. Developments assessed 
by the State Commission Assessment Panel are 
referred to the City of Adelaide Chief Executive 
Officer with a 15 day turnaround. This only 
allows approximately 5 days to receive detailed 
internal referrals, 5 days to collate comments 
including planning feedback and 5 days to 
allow for Chief Executive Officer sign off.  

The State Commission Assessment Panel is not 
required to adopt Council comments (including 
recommended conditions and advice). Where 
sub-standard development outcomes occur, 
Council seeks to work with the applicant and 
residents to deliver an acceptable outcome. 
Council staff are unable to do this when SCAP is 
the ‘relevant authority’.

2.1	 Consider options for additional local assessment

2 2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Local

Issue
•	 Apartment residents wanting to install 

external blinds in a recently constructed 
building

•	 Council raised concerns regarding a lack of 
shading to the proposed apartments at the 
assessment stage

Impact 
•	 Council is now assessing individual 

development applications for the installation 
of external blinds

•	 It is difficult to ensure a coordinated approach 
for the building once a development has been 
completed, particularly where not all residents 
are in agreement

Case Study: Penny Place Apartments
Theme: Local assessment of development over $10m

Case Study: Walker Corporation Festival Tower & Car Park
Theme: Local assessment of development over $10m

2.1	 Consider options for additional local assessment

Issue
•	 Council raised repeated concerns to the State 

Commission Assessment Panel regarding the 
proposed car park layout which were not 
adopted as part of approval

Impact
•	 The car park is difficult to access and prone to 

significant game day/event day delays

23

Recommendation
•	 City of Adelaide to be the relevant authority for more development applications in our jurisdiction to 

include locally valuable knowledge into development outcomes
•	 Consider increasing the financial threshold for State Commission Assessment Panel from $10 million to 

$50 million

P
age 24



2 4    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Assessment based on 
local expertise

Performance assessed development applications to be undertaken by 
the relevant Council Assessment Panel or Assessment Manager (noting 
that both are required to be Accredited Professional planners).

Local assessment of 
major development in 
the city 

Amendment of the Planning, Development and Infrastructure (General) 
Regulations 2017 (SA) to review the mechanism (currently $10 million 
financial threshold) to enable Council to assess developments of 
significance to City of Adelaide.

Local assessment 
of development 
over $10m

City of Adelaide to be the relevant authority for more development 
applications in our jurisdiction to include locally valuable knowledge 
into development outcomes.

Consider increasing the financial threshold for State Commission 
Assessment Panel from $10 million to $50 million.

2.1	 Consider options for additional local assessment

Local

25

P
age 25



Context 
The Nationally heritage-listed Park Lands are 
subject to development pressure, including 
from State Government.

City of Adelaide, Kadaltilla and State 
Government have existing commitments to 
value and protect the Park Lands, and the 
opportunity exists to strengthen the delivery 
of shared recreation, community health and 
environmental outcomes.

Challenges
The State Government’s approach to major 
developments within the city, specifically the 
Adelaide Park Lands, must respect the planning 
system and the need for engagement with 
communities.  

Fast-tracking specific legislation (such as for 
the new Women’s and Children’s Hospital site) 
undermines confidence in the planning system, 
Park Lands protection, heritage protection and 
engagement with local communities.  

Council has raised concerns relating to 
development of the Park Lands, specifically 
in relation to the proposed new Women’s and 
Children’s Hospital site where new legislation 
has been created to by-pass the planning 
system.

Finding a way forward which utilises the 
strengths of the planning system during 
assessment of State Government initiatives 
will generate confidence in the system by all.

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

State Government State Government to utilise the planning system to assess State 
Government-initiated major projects.

Major projects
Whole-of-government determinations should be made on major 
projects, including State Government projects which are currently only 
determined by the Planning Minister.

Planning System
The Planning System enables and encourages development to be 
located within the city to create activation, employment and economic 
opportunities.

2.2	 All applications assessed under existing planning system

2 6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Local
2.2	 All applications assessed under existing planning system

Issue
•	 New State Government development in the 

city is sometimes proposed in the Park Lands 
when it could be better located within the city

•	 Planning policy and zoning encourages 
development within the city, and discourages 
it from occurring within the Park Lands

Impact
•	 SA Police headquarters in Angas Street are a 

positive example of government investment 
in an appropriate built form within the core of 
the city that promotes activation

Recommendation
•	 The Planning System enables and encourages 

development to be located within the city to 
create activation, employment and economic 
opportunities

Case Study: SA Police, Angas Street, Adelaide
Theme: State Government to use the Planning System

27

P
age 26



Context 
City of Adelaide seeks a planning system that 
balances the provision of greater certainty 
and streamlined processes for developers 
with effective community engagement and 
participation.

City of Adelaide supports localised and 
discretionary notification settings based on 
impact more aligned to the former categories 
of public notification.

Improvements to community participation 
settings will strengthen confidence in the 
system and enable constructive feedback to 
improve liveability and investment attraction to 
the city.

Opportunities and Challenges
Community Engagement and Notifications
The planning system aims to front-load 
community engagement at the policy setting 
stage.  

The new planning system has removed the 
previous system’s non-complying assessment 
pathway. Together with loss of local desired 
character (or vision) statements and 
introduction of the restricted impact assessed 
development assessment pathway (by the 
State), the ability for local communities to 
influence or discourage certain types of 
development is low. 

There is community concern that the new 
planning system has reduced the level of 
notification to neighbours and affected 
properties. This reduces the opportunity to 
consider additional relevant information during 
assessment, which could improve development 
outcomes.

Variations
Opportunity exists to enable variation data 
and history to be more readily available in 
the planning system. Examples of processing 
variations as minor where there is potential 
community impact is evident in the system 
and creates concerns in communities about 
transparency and participation in the planning 
system.

The community seeks transparency and 
certainty in any improvements to how 
variations are handled by the planning system.

Appeals
Changes to community engagement and 
notification is not counter-balanced by third 
party appeal rights to representors of restricted 
developments (if financially able to fund an 
appeal).

Greater opportunity is needed for the public 
and Council to appeal development decisions, 
in particular: 
•	 For performance assessed development 

the applicant is the only party with appeal 

Local
2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

2 8    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 29

rights and there is opportunity to broaden 
appeal rights

•	 Councils should have the ability to appeal 
all decisions in its local area

•	 Even if appeal rights are broadened, it 
is recognised that some residents and 
property owners would have limited ability 
to pay for an appeal.

Clear communication of appeal processes is 
required to:
•	 Avoid applicants lodging a decision review 

against an incorrect authority (for example, 
a Council Assessment Panel when the 
appeal can only be against an Assessment 
Manager decision)

•	 Avoid judicial reviews occurring during the 
application process (because there is no 
right of appeal once a decision is made).

Joint Planning and Liquor Assessment
The Planning, Development and Infrastructure 
Act 2016 (SA) provides the opportunity for a 
joint planning assessment and liquor panel for 
liquor applications. It is understood that there 
has been no uptake of this across the State to 
date.

There is a high level of expectation from the 
community in the City of Adelaide that the 
planning system is proactive in this space. 
City of Adelaide supports amendments to 
the Planing and Design Code as it relates to 
licensing.

Strata/Development Approval Issues
City of Adelaide has experienced issues with 
applicants not seeking Strata owner approval 
before seeking development approval. The 
South Australian planning system currently 
does not require proof of ownership or strata 
approval when an application is lodged. 
Improvements could be made to bring 
South Australia in line with planning practice 
interstate.

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

P
age 27



31

c

Case Study: Wingfield Tower, 114 Waymouth Street, Adelaide
Theme: Effective community participation

Issue
•	 Application lodged to undertake internal 

alterations for an apartment
•	 Proposal was considered to meet Code 

requirements and approved
•	 There is no requirement in the development 

assessment process for an applicant to notify 
a property owner/Strata corporation of a 
development application submitted

•	 Applicant did not notify Strata corporation 
and undertook the works without the required 
Strata approval

Impact
•	 The Strata corporation was aggrieved with 

Council for granting consent without their 
approval

•	 Numerous complaints were received at the 
Court case (Strata Corporation 12753 Inc v Ren 
[2022] SADC 134 11 November 2022).

•	 In November 2022 the Court ruled the 
landlord was not allowed to convert the 
Adelaide apartment into five

Recommendation
•	 Require notification to landlord/owners during 

the development assessment process to 
strengthen confidence in the planning system

Case Study: Mansions Apartments on Pulteney Street
Theme: Effective community participation

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

Local

Issue
•	 Minor variation by State Commission 

Assessment Panel for the addition of a rooftop 
bar open for public access 

Impact
•	 As a minor variation, an assessment of hours 

of operation and noise impacts for nearby 
residential buildings was not undertaken

Recommendation
•	 Require a test for external impacts to be 

applied to minor variation requests to improve 
liveablity outcomes for the city

3 0    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

Issue
•	 Variations by State Commission Assessment 

Panel to resolve issues from non-compliant 
construction which moved a transformer to a 
visible location adjacent to the public realm on 
the boundary of the local heritage place

Impact
•	 Two exhaust flues were built at the front of 

the property
•	 A large electrical transformer box was built in 

a very visible location on the boundary of the 
local heritage place, prominant on the corner 
of South Terrace and Hutt Street

•	 Alteration to the rear windows and verandah 
form associated with Davaar House (Heritage 
Place), altered front fence and position, use of 
colorbond roof cladding and various internal 
alterations to the tower building 

•	 Change in levels across the site resulting from 
car park location/levels above ground and 
associated hard and soft landscaping and 
paving (part retrospective) 

Recommendation
•	 Require variations for retrospective (non-

compliant) construction to be referred to 
Council for comment/review

•	 Require variations on heritage sites to be 
referred to Council (including minor variation 
requests)

Case Study: TPI Building, 318 South Terrace, Adelaide
Theme: Effective community participation

P
age 28



333 2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Local

Case Study: 200 East Terrace, Adelaide
Theme: Effective community participation

Issue
•	 Larger site in lower-scale residential context 

which triggered the use of the catalyst site 
policies  

•	 Example of constructive use of notification 
and appeal process to achieve positive 
development outcomes

Impact
•	 Notifications resulted in feedback from local 

community in relation to height, overlooking, 
boundary interface and scale

•	 State Commission Assessment Panel refused 
original application

•	 Applicant appealed the decision, which 
resulted in modifications to the development, 
including reduction in height, built form 
stepped back from the boundaries to address 
overlooking concerns

Recommendation
•	 Notifying the local community provides 

opportunities for development decisions to 
respond to specific concerns, resulting in 
positive, long-term built form outcomes for 
the city, community and investors

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Allowing time 
for meaningful 
engagement on 
policy 

Minimum consultation timeframes of eight weeks for complex Code 
Amendments to enable constructive feedback to inform development 
design as early as possible.

Subscription alerts when Code Amendments are uploaded to PlanSA’s 
Planning Portal.

Notification

Localised and discretionary notification settings for development in the 
City of Adelaide.

Notifying the local community provides opportunities for development 
decisions to respond to specific concerns, resulting in positive, long-term 
built form outcomes for the city, community and investors

Variations

Require a test of external impacts to be applied to minor variation 
requests and on referral to Council.

Require variations for retrospective (non-compliant) construction to be 
referred to Council for comment/review.

Require variations on heritage sites to be referred to Council (including 
minor variation requests).

Greater opportunity 
for public and Council 
to appeal decisions

Consider extending appeal rights to more than only the applicant and 
provide Councils with right to appeal all decisions in its local area.

Transparency in 
appeals process

Clear explanation of the appeal processes and pathways and system 
improvements to add conditions from Environment, Resources and 
Development Court Orders to decisions.

Strata owner 
approval

Options for reform could include a Practice Direction, or alternatively 
amending the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Regulations 
2017 (SA) to bring South Australia in line with other states and create 
certainty for owners and strata groups.

Require notification to landlord/owners during the development 
assessment process to strengthen confidence in the planning system.

Reduced ability to 
positively resolve 
Liquor Licensing 
and Land Use 
Incompatibility

The Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) provides 
the opportunity for a joint planning assessment and liquor panel for 
liquor applications or amendments to the Planning and Design Code.

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

P
age 29



353 4    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Context 
The planning system implementation 
deliberately sought to move toward a 
digital solution that improved efficiency for 
development applications and provided ability 
for more evidence-based decision making at a 
strategic and policy level.

An advantage of the planning system is the 
ability of local government to access key 
reporting information via PowerBI, and realising 
the full potential of the e-system is a priority. 

Opportunities and Challenges
Accuracy in the creation and use of policy 
is paramount and there is a need to resolve 
errors in the transition of policy, and in the 
application of policy to certain development 
types for some assessment pathways. Clearer 
and faster pathways for resolution are needed 
such as Council-led miscellaneous and technical 
Code Amendments.

Methods to maintain and grow the strategic 
importance of the planning system are needed 
to ensure new evidence and spatial planning 
tools continue to evolve and support high 
quality planning and design outcomes.

A strong digital platform will enable the City 
Plan to be created as a 3D visualisation of the 
interaction between built form, open space and 
managing height and density interactions in an 
inner-city context.

3.1	 Development tracking and integrated e-Planning

Lead
3.1	 Development tracking and integrated e-Planning

Case Study: 382 Gilles Street, Adelaide
Theme: 3D Mapping and Analysis

Issue
•	 The local context of some proposed 

developments can be difficult to visualise 
during Council Assessment Panel meetings

•	 A proposed addition to a residence on a small 
site requires additional visualisation to assist 
assessment

Impact
•	 A 3D model was prepared for this proposal and 

a video of the model was presented during the 
Council Assessment Panel meeting

•	 The 3D visualisation provides Panel Members 
with accessible and easy to understand spatial 
analysis

Recommendation
•	 Provision of 3D images of a proposed 

development can assist with better decision 
making

P
age 30



373 6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Spatial planning
State and local government agreements for data provision that enables 
spatial analysis - for example, to enable a City Plan through a strong 
digital platform and 3D functionality.

Digital tools

Development of mapping and map tools including changes to 
legislation to require 3D development models for large scale and 
constrained site developments to enable height and density interactions 
to be more readily considered during development assessment.

Provision of 3D images of a proposed development can assist with 
better decision making.

Enabling the Development Assessment Processing system 
to automatically withdraw proposals that have not passed verification 
after a certain time.

Mobile-enabled building notification processes.

Miscellaneous and 
Technical Code 
Amendment

Initiation of a Miscellaneous and Technical Code Amendment for 
city-specific policy corrections.

3.1	 Development tracking and integrated e-Planning

Lead

P
age 31



393 8    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Context 
The City of Adelaide has a strategic residential 
growth agenda and there is continued need for 
infrastructure schemes in the planning system 
to contemplate challenges associated with 
inner city development.  

Opportunities and Challenges 
Infrastructure 
Current infrastructure schemes are one 
delivery tool to ensure infrastructure for 
local communities and the State. These 
schemes have not served the city population 
well and new tools to invest better in urban 
environments are needed. 

Waste Policy 
It is important to ensure appropriate waste 
management systems and on-site storage is 
included within developments. 

Internal fit-out operations often do not trigger 
change of use and are accepted development. 

The City of Adelaide experiences waste bins 
being stored in the public realm instead of on-
site which can be especially problematic in a 
fine-grained mixed use urban environment. 

Improved policies are needed to ensure shops 
(cafés and restaurants) which generate large 
volumes of waste consider waste storage and 
management, including deemed-to-satisfy 
change of use applications (shops/offices/
consulting rooms).

Under the new planning system, the City of 
Adelaide will need to pursue this change via a 
relatively lengthy and costly Code Amendment 
process, despite having sufficient policies to 
address waste management during assessment 
under the previous planning system. This is 
an opportunity for the planning system to 
enable positive waste and recycling outcomes, 
consistent with broader state and City of 
Adelaide objectives.

3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

Lead

Case Study: Waste Management
Theme: Investing better in urban environments

Issue
•	 Most Development Applications for internal 

fit-outs fall into the ‘accepted development’ 
assessment pathway 

•	 This occurs frequently for shops/cafés/
restaurants which generate large volumes 
of waste

•	 ‘Accepted development’ must be granted 
Planning Consent

•	 Consequently, waste management is 
not assessed

Impact
•	 Numerous instances in City of Adelaide where 

waste storage areas do not appear on plans 
after an internal fit-out

•	 Community safety and amenity issues arise as 
bins are left in the public realm 24/7, with no 
internal space allocated

•	 Compliance issues are experienced as the 
business has invested in internal upgrades, and 
is operating within its approval

Recommendations
•	 Assessment pathway to default to ‘code 

assessed’ for shop alterations if no internal 
waste storage indicated on plans. Policy 
amendment is to ensure adequate design of 
waste solutions for the development type and 
pathway

3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

P
age 32



414 0    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Vacant Sites and Demolition Control
The City of Adelaide is committed to thriving, 
activated and vibrant communities. Vacant 
sites and premature demolition of buildings can 
lead to reduced activity levels in the city centre 
which could be addressed through stronger 
policies for demolition control and incentives 
for development.

Car Parking 
Council seeks to ensure that development 
provides an appropriate level of parking. 

It is recognised that some locations and some 
land uses require less car parking than others.

Future-ready development, such as inclusion 
of electric vehicle (EV) charging facilities in 
residential flat buildings, will enhance the 
attractiveness of the city as a place to live and 
work. Policies relating to EV charging should 
reflect recent improvements to the National 
Construction Code.

Code Amendment Priorities 
City of Adelaide has resolved to review 
and update policy to encourage and 
facilitate improved movement, liveability 
and sustainability outcomes, which will 
include consideration of parking for cars and 
other vehicles/modes of transport such as 
commercial vehicles, visitor parking for in-home 
care, mobility scooters and electric vehicles.

Lead
3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

Case Study: Lot 14, North Terrace, Adelaide
Theme: Vacant Sites and Demolition Control

Issue
•	 Premature demolition was avoided at the 

former hospital site on North Terrace (adjacent 
Botanic Gardens)

•	 Plans for redevelopment were approved prior 
to demolition of the site

Impact
•	 Heritage buildings were retained and 

repurposed for the innovation precinct
•	 The site provides activation of key city and 

Park Lands sites adjacent to the University 
Precinct

Recommendations
•	 Actively work with PlanSA to formulate 

policies that continue to encourage activation 
of sites, including discouraging premature 
demolition

3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

P
age 33



434 2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Developer 
contributions to local 
infrastructure

New tools to ensure infrastructure for local communities and 
consideration of developer contributions for local infrastructure 
(as per NSW).

Positive waste 
management 
outcomes in smaller 
developments

Improved policies to ensure shops (cafes and restaurants) which 
generate large volumes of waste consider waste storage and 
management.

Assessment pathway to default to ‘code assessed’ for shop alterations 
if no internal waste storage indicated on plans. Policy amendment is to 
ensure adequate design of waste solutions for the development type 
and pathway.

Vacant sites

Policy to prevent premature demolition of buildings which can lead to 
vacant sites that reduce activity levels in the city.

Actively work with PlanSA to formulate policies that continue to 
encourage activation of sites, including discouraging premature 
demolition.

Investment in 
multi-modal transport 
infrastructure

A “car parking” fund that can be used to fund active transport, electric 
vehicle infrastructure, separated bike lanes and footpaths.

EV charging 
infrastructure

Inclusion of a benchmark ratio for EV charging points in new 
developments.

Lead
3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

P
age 34



454 4    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

3.3	 Pathway to a climate-ready future
Context 
City of Adelaide’s Strategic Plan includes a 
strong focus on a climate-resilient future 
through climate action, greening, tree canopy, 
movement and sustainable development.

These objectives are consistent with broader 
State Government policies and an opportunity 
exists to enable the planning system to assist 
with delivery.

Opportunities and Challenges 
Urban Tree Canopy  
City of Adelaide is committed to increasing tree 
canopies and green infrastructure in city hot 
spots, public spaces and the Park Lands.  

In the City of Adelaide, the Urban Tree Canopy 
Overlay applies within the City Living Zone, 
which covers a large proportion of the suburb 
of North Adelaide, but only approximately a 
quarter of the built-up areas within the suburb 
of Adelaide. The Urban Tree Canopy Offset 
Scheme is therefore limited in application in 
the city and only applies to new dwellings 
(which occur less frequently in well-established 
residential areas). 

Stronger, evidence-based policy is needed 
to enable tree canopy to be increased 
and retained. Such policies could include 
requirements for space in which to plant new 
trees (for example providing sufficient root 
zones). Policy improvements should recognise 
trees and urban tree canopy as a long-term, 
appreciable asset that promotes health and 
wellbeing in the community. 

The cost of removing trees is frequently 
less than the cost to the city for planting, 
establishing and maintaining trees in a highly 
urbanised environment. The economic and 

societal cost of removing biodiversity, visual 
amenity, and microclimate services provided 
by trees are not accounted for in the cost of 
removal, which can act as a disincentive to 
retaining trees. 

Open Space Fund 
Council recognises the purpose of the Planning 
and Development Fund is to “support the 
purchase, planning and enhancement of 
public spaces throughout South Australia” 
and considers it is not appropriate to use the 
fund to pay for the implementation of the new 
planning system. The high cost and difficulty 
associated with the planning, design and 
delivery of quality public and green spaces in 
the City of Adelaide is recognised. Council is 
supportive of an independent review of the 
Planning and Development Fund.

Council appreciates the important open 
space and recreational opportunities the Park 
Lands provide to residents of the city, and 
acknowledges the growing use and enjoyment 
by residents of neighbouring Councils.

Overshadowing Solar Panels
Development that results in overshadowing 
of solar panels has both environmental and 
economic impacts. 

The Planning and Design Code does not require 
consideration or notification of adjoining 
property owners for impacts on solar panels. 

Policies are required to ensure the impacts 
of new developments and their potential to 
overshadow solar panels is considered.   

City of Adelaide has resolved to review and 
update policy to encourage and facilitate 
sustainable development.

Lead
3.3	 Pathway to a climate-ready future

Opportunities to collect funds for removal/
replacement of trees through the planning system 
do not adequately reimburse the loss of trees in 
the City of Adelaide which generally cost between 
$2,000 and $15,000 per tree for replacement.

If removal of Significant and Regulated trees is 
approved through development assessment, the 
cost for replacement as set by Regulation is $150 
per tree (two trees for a Regulated tree removal, or 
three trees for a Significant tree removal).  

Where a new dwelling is proposed in the Urban Tree 
Canopy Overlay area, a certain number of trees 
must be planted, or payment must be made into a 
fund. The Urban Tree Canopy offset scheme requires 
a payment of between $300 and $1200 per tree 
being offset, with the fee calculated on the size of 
the tree to be offset. 

The Urban Tree Canopy Overlay applies within 
the City Living Zone in the City of Adelaide, which 
covers a large proportion of the suburb of North 
Adelaide, but only approximately a quarter of the 
built-up areas within the suburb of Adelaide. The 
Urban Tree Canopy Overlay is not spatially applied 
within the Adelaide Park Lands. The fund only 
applies to new dwellings, which occur infrequently 
in the established areas of North Adelaide.

Recommendations
Increase opportunity for tree planting by increasing 
the offset payment, spatial application and type 
of development the Urban Tree Canopy Overlay 
applies to.

Case Study: Trees
Theme: Investment in tree canopy

Case Study: 83 Pirie Street, Adelaide
Theme: Climate ready policies
Issue
•	 City of Adelaide and State Government have 

shared ambitions to address climate change 
and encourage climate-ready development

Impact
•	 83 Pirie Street is a recent example of A-Grade 

development achieving high environmental 
and climate-ready performance, including:
•	 Platinum WELL pre-certification
•	 6-star Green Star Design Review certified 

rating
•	 Targeting ongoing 6-star NABERS Indoor 

Environment and Waste ratings
•	 3-star Cleaning Accountability Framework 

certification 
•	 This all-electric building has electric car 

charging stations, natural light from 
its three street frontages and drought-
resistant landscaping

•	 100 + bike racks and 100 + lockers, and 
showers as end of trip facilities

Recommendations
•	 Identify opportunities to implement     

climate-ready policies via the Planning System

P
age 35



474 6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Investment in 
greening

Use of the Planning and Development fund for investment in open 
space, public realm, pocket parks, tree canopy and the Adelaide Park 
Lands.

Investment in tree 
canopy

Increasing the application of the Urban Tree Canopy Overlay to the city 
(not just the City Living Zone) and the types of development that the 
overlay applies to.

Increase opportunity for tree planting by increasing the offset payment, 
spatial application and type of development the Urban Tree Canopy 
Overlay applies to.

Stronger, evidence-based policy is needed to enable tree canopy to be 
increased and retained. Such policies could include requirements for 
space in which to plant new trees (for example providing sufficient root 
zones).

Climate-ready policies

Enabling climate-ready policies, informed by whole of government and 
industry-led initiatives.

Identify opportunities to implement climate-ready policies via the 
Planning System.

3.3	 Pathway to a climate-ready future

Lead

P
age 36



494 8    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

The City of Adelaide sought community 
feedback to inform its response to the Expert 
Panel. The survey was open from 20 December 
2022 to 13 January 2023.

The survey referred to the Planning System 
Implementation Review community 
consultation, held 17 October to 16 December 
2022, and gave direct links to the information 
provided.

The survey was sent to 558 Development 
Application applicants who had lodged 
applications in the City of Adelaide area since 
the introduction of the Planning & Design Code 
in March 2021. 

The survey was also sent to 6,499 registered 
recipients on Your Say Adelaide. An item on 
the engagement survey was included in the 
Adelaide Economic Development Agency City 
Business newsletter on 22 December 2022 and 
in a post on the City of Adelaide LinkedIn page.

82 responses were received from a broad range 
of participants including residents, rate-payers, 
city workers and visitors, business owners, 
property developers and building designers.

Community Survey

Community Voice
Community Survey Summary

What we heard 
Key themes arising from community 
consultation include: 
•	 Public notification – respondents are most 

interested in having an ability to respond to 
multi-storey and residential developments, 
followed by adjacent development/
commercial development. Respondents 
broadly support development applications 
and variations being more broadly notified.

•	 Appeals – respondents are seeking broader 
appeal rights including as neighbour, 
community member and applicant. 
Respondents broadly support expanding 
rights of appeal for adjacent and nearby 
properties and concerned parties. One 
submission suggested the Environment, 
Resources and Development Court should 
have greater discretion to award costs in 
certain circumstances. 

•	 Policy importance – respondents ranked 
the policy areas under review in the 
following order of importance: character, 
heritage, trees, infill development and car 
parking.

•	 Planning system importance – 
respondents ranked aspects of the planning 
system under review in the following 
order of importance: impact assessed 
development, public notification and 
appeal rights, verification of development 
applications, local heritage, accredited 
professionals, website experience, deemed 
consents and infrastructure schemes.

Other comments arising from community 
submissions include (in no particular order): 
•	 Catalyst sites – request to revisit policies 

which provide concessions to policy 
parameters beyond what otherwise may 
have been envisaged in the Planning 
and Design Code, particularly where the 
development has impacts on character, 
amenity and building height/form.

•	 Certainty – creation and adherence 
to policy limits (specifically height and 
heritage value), clear rules for assessment 
of variations to development applications, 
and reduced frequency of Code 
Amendments. 

•	 Open space and greening – preserving 
garden spaces in development and 
greater minimum open space provision 
requirements for multi-unit dwellings than 
for individual dwellings. 

•	 Heritage – preservation of historical, 
architectural and character buildings and 
values; the need to acknowledge Aboriginal 
history; and demolition of heritage as a 
serious issue to be carefully assessed. 

•	 Park Lands and public spaces – 
preservation of Park Lands and objection to 
rezoning for large scale development. 

•	 Transparency and access – improved 
access to information, including policy, 
assessment information and development 
processes, via the online system and 
provision of hard copies. 

•	 $10m development assessment threshold 
– review of requirements for the State 
Commission Assessment Panel to assess 
development in the City of Adelaide above 
$10 million.

P
age 37



515 0    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

•	 Engagement – validation of submission and 
representor details. 

•	 Website experience – simplification and 
mobile phone compatibility. 

•	 Urban design – importance of city form, 
scale and design quality; re-introduction of 
‘Desired Future Character Statements’. 

•	 Verification – support for a simple, timely 
and accurate verification processes and 
simplification of verification language in the 
development assessment processing system 
(PlanSA website). 

•	 Vision – a vision for the city (height and 
urban form) and long-term strategic land 
use planning. 

•	 City vitality and liveability – impact of 
vacant sites and buildings; the need for 
balanced decision-making to resolve issues 
associated with liquor licensing and adult 
entertainment. 

•	 Affordable Housing – ensure dwellings 
which are built as ‘affordable housing’ are 
utilised for such purpose.

•	 Sustainability and climate change – 
improved policy, building design and active 
travel options. 

•	 Assessment Authorities – greater 
transparency in decision-making and for 
assessment authorities to be accountable 
for decisions.

Community Survey Summary

P
age 38



535 2    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations
1.1	 A vision and identity for the capital city

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Vision for the 
city centre

A statutory plan for a strong city centre (City Plan) which is 
recognised in the planning system.

Vision statements being included in Zones in the Planning and 
Design Code and recognised in Part 1 – Rules of Interpretation.

Design standards 
in the city

Resolving the introduction of appropriate Design Standards, and the 
interaction with the Local Government Act 1999 to ensure positive 
outcomes for Council-managed public land, such as footpaths and 
roadways.

Encouraging the planning system to place greater emphasis on 
achieving Universal Design outcomes across all development, as 
envisaged by the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 
2016.

Pursue Local Design Review process within the City of Adelaide.

Zone Interfaces and 
Building Height 
transition

Prepare design standards or guidelines for medium-high scale 
development for inclusion in the Planning & Design Code in City of 
Adelaide.

City of Adelaide supports stronger interface policies to minimise 
over-height development and commercial land-use encroachments 
into residential zones.

Consider height changes between zones that are more gradual, 
avoiding significant changes in height at a single point.

Improve  interface policies to better guide the assessment of 
developments at the interface.

Catalyst site policies Revise policies to better respond to development interface issues and 
facilitate an improved approval process for non-envisaged land uses.

Non-envisaged 
land use

Further consideration of a non-envisaged land use list in the Planning 
and Design Code and opportunities for early refusal of problematic 
development types in certain locations.

Reinstate a definition for Prescribed (Adult) Entertainment in the 
Code to allow for assessment.

1.3	 A place for everyone

1.2	 One Act for heritage protection
Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

A single heritage 
statute

A single legislation to govern and protect State and Local Heritage, as 
described in City of Adelaide’s Position on Heritage Reform (June 2022). 
This can be enabled through adjustments to the Heritage Places Act 
1993 (SA) and removal of Code Amendment local listing processes from 
the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA).

A simpler pathway 
for Local Heritage 
protection

A simpler nomination pathway, that provides for Local Heritage Places 
to be assessed on heritage values by heritage experts. 

Fast track updates 
to Historic Area 
Statements

Urgent update of City of Adelaide’s Historic Area Statements to provide 
greater context, description and guidance.

Demolition Control
Demolition in an Historic Area to follow performance assessed pathway 
and only once full Development Approval for a replacement building is 
granted.

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Social and Affordable 
Housing

Progression of a national approach to mandatory inclusionary zoning 
for affordable housing, including a change in State-based planning 
legislation to enable its staged implementation.

Housing Growth
A multi-faceted approach to housing growth with partnerships between 
Local and State Government, community housing providers and the 
private sector.

Adaptive Reuse A State-local government partnership to incentivise adaptive building 
reuse in the city.

Residential Code 
Amendment

Amendment of the Planning and Design Code to strengthen policies 
that promote residential development and good design in the city.

Fees and Charges Reform of State Government fees and charges applied to residential 
development in the city.

P
age 39



555 4    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

Recommendations

2.2	 All applications assessed under existing planning system

2.1	 Consider options for additional local assessment

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

State Government State Government to utilise the planning system to assess State 
Government-initiated major projects.

Major projects
Whole-of-government determinations should be made on major 
projects, including State Government projects which are currently only 
determined by the Planning Minister.

Planning System
The Planning System enables and encourages development to be 
located within the city to create activation, employment and economic 
opportunities.

2.3	 Effective community participation, appeals and notification

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Allowing time 
for meaningful 
engagement on 
policy 

Minimum consultation timeframes of eight weeks for complex Code 
Amendments to enable constructive feedback to inform development 
design as early as possible.

Subscription alerts when Code Amendments are uploaded to PlanSA’s 
Planning Portal.

Notification

Localised and discretionary notification settings for development in the 
City of Adelaide.

Notifying the local community provides opportunities for development 
decisions to respond to specific concerns, resulting in positive, long-term 
built form outcomes for the city, community and investors.

Variations

Require a test of external impacts to be applied to minor variation 
requests and on referral to Council.

Require variations for retrospective (non-compliant) construction to be 
referred to Council for comment/review.

Require variations on heritage sites to be referred to Council (including 
minor variation requests).

Greater opportunity 
for public and Council 
to appeal decisions

Consider extending appeal rights to more than only the applicant and 
provide Councils with right to appeal all decisions in its local area.

Transparency in 
appeals process

Clear explanation of the appeal processes and pathways and system 
improvements to add conditions from Environment, Resources and 
Development Court Orders to decisions.

Strata owner 
approval

Options for reform could include a Practice Direction, or alternatively 
amending the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Regulations 
2017 (SA) to bring South Australia in line with other states and create 
certainty for owners and strata groups.

Require notification to landlord/owners during the development 
assessment process to strengthen confidence in the planning system.

Reduced ability to 
positively resolve 
Liquor Licensing 
and Land Use 
Incompatibility

The Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) provides 
the opportunity for a joint planning assessment and liquor panel for 
liquor applications or amendments to the Planning and Design Code.

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Assessment based on 
local expertise

Performance assessed development applications to be undertaken by 
the relevant Council Assessment Panel or Assessment Manager (noting 
that both are required to be Accredited Professional planners).

Local assessment of 
major development in 
the city 

Amendment of the Planning, Development and Infrastructure (General) 
Regulations 2017 (SA) to review the mechanism (currently $10 million 
financial threshold) to enable Council to assess developments of 
significance to City of Adelaide.

Local assessment 
of development 
over $10m

City of Adelaide to be the relevant authority for more development 
applications in our jurisdiction to include locally valuable knowledge 
into development outcomes.

Consider increasing the financial threshold for State Commission 
Assessment Panel from $10 million to $50 million.

P
age 40



575 6    P L A N N I N G  S Y S T E M I M P L E M E N TAT I O N R E V I E W 

3.1	 Development tracking and integrated e-Planning

Recommendations

3.2	 Strategic investment aligned to growth and infrastructure plans

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Spatial planning
State and local government agreements for data provision that enables 
spatial analysis - for example, to enable a City Plan through a strong 
digital platform and 3D functionality.

Digital tools

Development of mapping and map tools including changes to 
legislation to require 3D development models for large scale and 
constrained site developments to enable height and density interactions 
to be more readily considered during development assessment.

Provision of 3D images of a proposed development can assist with 
better decision making.

Enabling the Development Assessment Processing system 
to automatically withdraw proposals that have not passed verification 
after a certain time.

Mobile-enabled building notification processes.

Miscellaneous and 
Technical Code 
Amendment

Initiation of a Miscellaneous and Technical Code Amendment for 
city-specific policy corrections.

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Developer 
contributions to local 
infrastructure

New tools to ensure infrastructure for local communities and 
consideration of developer contributions for local infrastructure 
(as per NSW).

Positive waste 
management 
outcomes in smaller 
developments

Improved policies to ensure shops (cafes and restaurants) which 
generate large volumes of waste consider waste storage and 
management.

Assessment pathway to default to ‘code assessed’ for shop alterations 
if no internal waste storage indicated on plans. Policy amendment is to 
ensure adequate design of waste solutions for the development type 
and pathway.

3.3	 Pathway to a climate-ready future

Vacant sites

Policy to prevent premature demolition of buildings which can lead to 
vacant sites that reduce activity levels in the city.

Actively work with PlanSA to formulate policies that continue to 
encourage activation of sites, including discouraging premature 
demolition.

Investment in 
multi-modal transport 
infrastructure

A “car parking” fund that can be used to fund active transport, electric 
vehicle infrastructure, separated bike lanes and footpaths.

EV charging 
infrastructure

Inclusion of a benchmark ratio for EV charging points in new 
developments.

Recommendations

City of Adelaide supports:

Investment in 
greening

Use of the Planning and Development fund for investment in open 
space, public realm, pocket parks, tree canopy and the Adelaide  
Park Lands.

Investment in tree 
canopy

Increasing the application of the Urban Tree Canopy Overlay to the city 
(not just the City Living Zone) and the types of development that the 
overlay applies to.

Increase opportunity for tree planting by increasing the offset payment, 
spatial application and type of development the Urban Tree Canopy 
Overlay applies to.

Stronger, evidence-based policy is needed to enable tree canopy to be 
increased and retained. Such policies could include requirements for 
space in which to plant new trees (for example providing sufficient 
root zones).

Climate-ready policies

Enabling climate-ready policies, informed by whole of government and 
industry-led initiatives.

Identify opportunities to implement climate-ready policies via the 
Planning System.

P
age 41



Adelaide.  
Designed for Life.

Page 42



1 
 

Planning System Implementation Review 
City of Adelaide Submission to the Expert Panel – Expert Panel Questions Response Table 
20 January 2023 
 

The Expert Panel released three Discussion Papers in October 2022, seeking responses by 16 December 2022.  Local Government received an extension 
until 30 January 2023 to submit feedback.  This document provides feedback on 3 discussion papers.  The first paper has a specific focus on potential 
opportunities to reform the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 2016.  Discussion Paper 2 focuses on opportunities to improve the Planning and 
Design Code, and Discussion Paper 3 focuses on e-planning and website improvement opportunities. 

Discussion Paper 1 – Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 Reform Options 

• Scope of review: 

o Public Notification and Appeals 
o Accredited Professionals 
o Impact Assessed Development 
o Infrastructure Schemes 
o Local Heritage in the PDI Act 
o Deemed Consents 
o Verification of Development Applications 

Discussion Paper 2 – Planning and Design Code Reform Options 

• Scope of review: 

o Character and Heritage Policy  
o Tree Policy  
o Infill Policy  
o Car Parking Policy 

Discussion Paper 3 – e-Planning System and the PlanSA website Reform Options 

• Scope of review: 

o Early recommendations to the Minister for Planning 
o User Experience 
o Innovation 

This document provides City of Adelaide responses to each of the questions raised in the discussion papers, including level of concern and urgency from City 
of Adelaide’s perspective, and should be read in conjunction with the strategic response document. 

P
age 43



2 
 

DISCUSSION PAPER 1 – Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 2016 Reform Options – October 2022 

Table 1 responds to the topics raised by the Expert Panel in “Discussion Paper 1 – Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 Reform Options” 
under the following scope set by the Expert Panel: 

• Public Notification and Appeals 
• Accredited Professionals 
• Impact Assessed Development 
• Infrastructure Schemes 
• Local Heritage in the PDI Act 
• Deemed Consents 
• Verification of Development Applications. 

This document provides feedback on 3 discussion papers.  The first paper has a specific focus on potential opportunities to reform the Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act, 2016.  Discussion Paper 2 focuses on opportunities to improve the Planning and Design Code, and Discussion Paper 3 focuses on e-
planning and website improvement opportunities. 
 

Table 1 – Response to “DISCUSSION PAPER 1 – Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 Reform Options – October 2022” 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

Public Notification and Appeals 

City of Adelaide Context 
Notification - The public notification settings in the City of Adelaide are generally working as intended under the new planning system, except 
for a small number of applications which appear to avoid notification triggers by proposing development just off the boundary, and some 
instances where low impact development is broadly notified.  
Appeals - There are very limited avenues for appeal in the new system. This creates certainty for those undertaking development, but does 
not enable development decisions to be challenged by adjoining owners or local community. 

1. What type of applications 
are currently not notified 
that you think should be 
notified?  

M M City of Adelaide has received applications for development 
located close to but not directly on the property boundary, 
potentially to avoid notification. This can result in compromised 
design/built form outcomes.  

Clarify whether the existing 
system can allow for 
discretionary notification in line 
with community expectations. 

P
age 44



3 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

This has raised the question of whether the system provides for 
discretionary notification where development or built form 
outcomes would otherwise be compromised so as to avoid 
notification. 

There has been a shift in notification from residential areas in 
North Adelaide to residential areas in the southern portion of the 
CBD. This relates to a greater number of smaller sites in the CBD 
triggering notification through on boundary construction. 
However, more substantial developments on larger sites in North 
Adelaide are not triggering notification as there is no on boundary 
construction. 

Recommendation: Clarify whether the existing system allows for 
discretionary notification in line with community expectations. 

Recommendation: Identify opportunities for the planning system 
to allow for discretionary notification in line with community 
expectations. 

Recommendation: Review on boundary construction trigger. Is 
notification always necessary for single storey construction on a 
boundary for an inner city context? 

City of Adelaide to consider 
approach to notification settings 
via Code Amendment.  

2. What type of applications 
are currently notified that 
you think should not be 
notified? 

 

M M Where development is anticipated in a zone, is in line with the 
zone policies, and offsite impacts are negligible, notification may 
not be necessary.  However, notification is currently occurring 
due to Planning and Design Code wide notification triggers which 
are not tailored for use in the City of Adelaide context. For 
example: 
• Single storey dwelling additions in the City Living Zone 

(southern CBD) are being notified because the notification 
trigger has not taken into consideration the fine-grain and 
small site context of the city.  

• Development directly fronting the main street in the City Main 
Street Zone triggered notification in relation to a small portion 
of on-boundary construction at the front of the site which was 
unlikely to impact residential properties at the rear of the site 

• In the Capital City Zone some forms of development require 
notification adjacent the City Living Zone.  However, as the 
definition of ‘adjacent’ now includes properties within 60m of 
the development site, multiple properties unlikely to be 

City of Adelaide to consider 
approach to notification settings 
via Code Amendment to ensure 
localised notification to those 
most affected by a proposed 
development. 

P
age 45



4 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

impacted by the nature of the development (ie built form) are 
notified.  

• It is acknowledged that if there are potential noise, odour or 
other external impacts the 60m catchment is appropriate.   

• Recommendation: Ensure notification settings are suitably 
flexible and appropriate to enable feedback from relevant 
adjoining properties and/or locality who may be impacted by 
a proposed development, and not “over-notify” in instances 
where there is little or no impact on adjoining 
property/locality. 

3. What, if any, difficulties 
have you experienced as a 
consequence of the 
notification requirements 
in the Code? Please advise 
the Panel of your 
experience and provide 
evidence to demonstrate 
how you were adversely 
affected. 

M M Refer to examples provided above under Question 1 and 
Question 2 – Notification and Appeals. 

Refer to recommendation 
provided under Question 1 and 
Question 2 – Notification and 
Appeals. 

 

4. What, if any, difficulties 
have you experienced as a 
consequence of the 
pathways for appeal in the 
Code? Please advise the 
Panel of your experience 
and provide evidence to 
demonstrate how you were 
adversely affected. 

I H City of Adelaide has observed that applicants and representors 
are unclear about how to access pathways for appeal.  For 
example, some applicants have sought decision reviews against 
the Council Assessment Panel, however a decision review is only 
possible against Council’s designated “Assessment Manager”. As 
such, the City of Adelaide considers improvements could be 
made to how the appeal pathways are communicated to 
applicants. 

Council has also experienced legal challenges related to a 
deemed consent being submitted outside of the Development 
Assessment Processing (DAP) system even though the 
application was on hold at the applicant’s request. Seeking a 
deemed consent should not be able to occur without regard to 
the “hold” status of the application within the Development 
Assessment Processing system. 

The Development Assessment Processing (DAP) system also 
does not adequately integrate new/updated conditions arising 

City of Adelaide recommends 
improvements to pathways for 
appeal, including: 

• Introducing more 
opportunities for third-party 
appeals to enhance scrutiny 
of assessment decisions 

• Improving how decision 
review and appeal pathway 
options are communicated  

• Improving Development 
Assessment Processing 
system (DAP) to enable 
integration with appeals and 
ERD Court Orders 

P
age 46



5 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

from appeals via Court Orders from the Environment, Resources 
and Development Court (ERD Court). 

As the new system provides only limited avenues for appeal the 
City of Adelaide has observed this may be resulting in judicial 
reviews of process before any decision is made on an 
application.  For example, applicants have challenged the 
assessor’s determination of the “nature of development”.  This 
may be symptomatic of the absence of third-party appeal rights 
via the ERD Court after the decision is made. 

 

5. Is an alternative planning 
review mechanism 
required? If so, what might 
that mechanism be (i.e. 
merit or process driven) 
and what principles should 
be considered in 
establishing that process 
(i.e. cost) 

I H City of Adelaide would support consideration of an alternative 
planning review mechanism, such as a Planning Appeal Tribunal 
if there is a demonstrated need to enable strengthened pathways 
for appeal and oversight of planning decisions by Assessment 
Managers, Council Assessment Panels, Regional Assessment 
Panels and/or State Commission Assessment Panel and the 
Minister for Planning. 

City of Adelaide to provide 
comment on any proposal for an 
alternative Planning Review 
Mechanism, such as a Planning 
Tribunal. 

Accredited Professionals 
The new planning system requires relevant authorities to have accreditation under the Accredited Professionals Scheme.  This applies to 
both building and planning accreditation.  Assessment Managers and Council Assessment Panel members are required to be accredited. 
The new system currently enables accredited builders to assess some planning consent applications. 

1. Is there an expectation that 
only planning certifiers 
assess applications for 
planning consent and only 
building certifiers assess 
applications for building 
consent?  

I H City of Adelaide considers it is inappropriate for accredited 
builders to assess planning consent applications. There are 
examples in the City of Adelaide where building certifiers have 
incorrectly interpreted minor variations to planning consents. 

City of Adelaide recommends 
that planning consents are 
undertaken by accredited 
planners, or planners under 
delegation from Assessment 
Managers. 

2. What would be the 
advantages of only planning 
certifiers issuing planning 

I H The advantage of only accredited planners issuing planning 
consent is that that professional standards are maintained which 
upholds confidence in the planning system by our community. 

Refer to recommendation above. 

P
age 47



6 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

consent? What would be the 
disadvantages? 

3. Would there be any adverse 
effects to Building 
Accredited Professionals if 
they were no longer 
permitted to assess 
applications for planning 
consent? 

I H It is acknowledged that this could impact the available work for 
some building professionals. There is not expected to be adverse 
effects to building accredited professionals if they were not 
permitted to assess applications for planning consent, in the 
context of the City of Adelaide.  

Refer to recommendation above. 

Additional City of Adelaide 
Comment relating to Accredited 
Building Professional 

I H Private building certifiers who act as relevant authorities have, in 
some circumstances, approved documentation which is 
inadequate for inspection purposes.  

This presents significant inefficiencies for Council who are 
required to undertake mandatory inspections. 

City of Adelaide supports ongoing efforts by the Accreditation 
Authority to audit Accredited Building Professionals.  This is 
critical to maintaining confidence in the planning system. 

 

Expert panel to encourage audits 
of building certifiers to address 
inadequacies in building 
documentation and increase 
confidence in the planning 
system. 

Impact Assessed Development 
Impact Assessed Development is an assessment pathway for the proper and orderly assessment of applications considered of a complexity 
or scale to warrant State Government oversight. Impact Assessed Developments are identified in the Planning and Design Code, the 
Planning, Development and Infrastructure Regulations or by declaration of the Minister for Planning.  

1. What are the implications of 
the determination of an 
Impact Assessed 
(Declared) Development 
being subject to a whole-of 
Government process? 

I H A process which is whole-of-government and not limited to only 
the Minister for Planning’s portfolio may bring a broader 
understanding and insight to development decisions, and a 
greater appreciation of the role and benefits of the planning 
system across government.  Impact Assessed Development is 
not common in the City of Adelaide however, greater 
transparency is a positive outcome. 

 

 

Expert Panel to consider options 
for Impact Assessed (Declared) 
Development to be subject to a 
whole-of-government process. 

P
age 48



7 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

Infrastructure Schemes 
Infrastructure schemes are intended to supplement existing arrangements for planning and delivery of infrastructure to support development, 
such as planning conditions, deeds and bonding arrangements. Other than three pilot schemes, it is understood no infrastructure schemes 
have been initiated. 

1. What do you see as 
barriers in establishing an 
infrastructure scheme 
under the PDI Act?  

 

M M The complexities associated with the establishment of 
infrastructure schemes, as prescribed by the Planning, 
Development and Infrastructure Act and Regulations, and the fact 
that parts of the legislation have not yet been “switched on” are 
key barriers to establishing an infrastructure scheme. An absence 
of demonstrated successful case studies may also contribute to 
the lack of uptake of these schemes. 

Expert Panel to consider 
amendments to the Infrastructure 
Scheme provisions of the PDI Act 
and Regulations to enable 
provision of infrastructure in the 
city.  

2. What improvements would 
you like to see to the 
infrastructure scheme 
provisions in the PDI Act? 

 

M M The City of Adelaide supports improvements to the requirements 
for infrastructure schemes in the Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act and Regulations to enable the provision of 
infrastructure to support strategic, precinct-scale infill growth, 
including physical, social and future-resilient infrastructure.  

Expert Panel to consider 
opportunities/mechanisms to 
improve usability of infrastructure 
schemes.  

City of Adelaide will identify 
opportunities to utilise 
infrastructure schemes 
associated with development in a 
City of Adelaide context.  

3. Are there alternative 
mechanisms to the 
infrastructure schemes that 
facilitate growth and 
development with well-
coordinated and efficiently 
delivered essential 
infrastructure? 

 

M 

 

M Whilst City of Adelaide does not contain “greenfield” 
redevelopment sites, there is potential for significant precinct-
scale infill development which would also require infrastructure 
upgrades and/or new infrastructure. For example: 

• Regional plans could include targets for service delivery and 
infrastructure (including monitoring these targets) and clearly 
identifying infrastructure needs.  

• Future Code Amendments could identify concept plans, 
including infrastructure upgrade potential. 

Any changes to infrastructure scheme legislation should 
contemplate mechanisms that can apply within an inner-city 
context. 

Expert Panel to consider 
opportunities for regional plans to 
include service delivery and 
infrastructure targets for precinct-
scale infill redevelopment. 

City of Adelaide to identify 
opportunities to unlock sites for 
development. 

P
age 49



8 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

Local Heritage in the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act, 2016 
City of Adelaide has 1850 local heritage listings and 14 Historic Area Overlays, and seeks to protect, preserve and promote heritage, and 
support heritage conservation, including via professional support and financial incentives. 

1. What would be the 
implications of having the 
heritage process managed 
by heritage experts through 
the Heritage Places Act 
(rather than planners under 
the PDI Act)?  

I H City of Adelaide considers the listing process for local heritage 
should be managed by heritage experts through the Heritage 
Places Act 1993 (SA) 

• An integrated heritage assessment process, with a simpler 
nomination pathway, that provides for places to be assessed 
on heritage values by heritage experts, will provide the ability 
to evaluate the merit of a nomination and what heritage 
‘threshold’ is achieved.  Currently if a place does not satisfy 
State listing but meets the criteria for Local listing the listing 
can stall as Local listing requires a Code Amendment. 

• For Local Heritage Places, individual nominations could be 
considered by heritage experts rather than requiring a Code 
Amendment process creating cost efficiencies.  

• Council’s position is described in more detail in City of 
Adelaide’s Heritage Strategy 2021-2036: Heritage, Our 
Future. 

Expert Panel to encourage State 
Government to fast-track the 
introduction of a single heritage 
statute to govern and protect 
State and Local heritage, as 
described in City of Adelaide’s 
Position on Heritage Reform 
(June 2022). This can be enabled 
through adjustments to the 
Heritage Places Act 1993 (SA) 
and removal of Code Amendment 
local listing processes from the 
Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA). 

Expert Panel to encourage a 
simpler nomination pathway, that 
provides for Local Heritage 
Places to be assessed on 
heritage values by heritage 
experts. 

2. What would be the 
implications of sections 
67(4) and 67(5) of the PDI 
Act being commenced? 

I H Sections 67(4) and 67(5) require over 51% of property owners to 
vote to have a new area of land included in the Planning and 
Design Code as an Historic Area.  This part of the Planning 
Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) has not 
commenced. 

• If implemented, future Heritage Area Overlays would be 
subject to a popular vote rather than a planning decision 
based upon sound evidence, analysis, and consultation.  

• City of Adelaide does not support the commencement of 
these sections.  

City of Adelaide recommends 
repeal of sub-section 67(4) and 
(5) of the Planning, Development 
and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA). 

P
age 50



9 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

Additional Comments I H City of Adelaide’s response to Table 2 – Planning and Design 
Code Reform Options, includes discussion and recommendation 
about the urgent need to update the Historic Area Statements. 

City of Adelaide welcomes 
correspondence from the State 
Planning Commission dated 19 
October 2022 to enable Councils 
to review and update Historic 
Area Statements and intends to 
work with the Commission on 
improvements in the City of 
Adelaide. 

Demolition in an Historic Area to 
follow performance assessed 
pathway and only once full 
development approval for a 
replacement building is granted. 

 

Deemed Consents 
The planning system provides a mechanism for applicants to issue a deemed consent notice to the relevant authority if a planning consent 
application has not been determined within the prescribed in the Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA). 

1. Do you feel the deemed 
consent provisions under 
the PDI Act are effective? 

I H City of Adelaide works constructively with applicants to achieve 
positive development outcomes.  Most applications assessed 
under the City of Adelaide’s Assessment Manager and Council 
Assessment Panel are undertaken within the statutory 
timeframes. 

The deemed consent mechanism is not considered to be the 
most effective way of ensuring timely assessment decisions and 
quality outcomes.  

City of Adelaide has experienced the misapplication of the 
deemed consent process. For example, an application was on-
hold at the applicant’s request, and they subsequently issued a 
deemed consent notice. 

 

 

City of Adelaide recommends 
repeal of the PDI Act provisions 
related to “deemed planning 
consent”. 

 

P
age 51



10 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

2. Are you supportive of any 
of the proposed alternative 
options to deemed consent 
provided in this Discussion 
Paper? If not, why not? If 
yes, which alternative(s) do 
you consider would be 
most effective? 

I H If deemed consents are maintained as a feature of the planning 
system, City of Adelaide supports a review of timeframes and 
processes to ensure that deemed consents can only be issued 
with regard to the current status of the application within the 
Development Assessment Processing system (i.e. should not be 
possible to request if an application is on hold at the request of 
the applicant). 

The interstate approach of deemed refusal could be considered 
by the Expert Panel as one option for resolving issues with 
deemed consent, as this will encourage applicants to work with 
relevant authorities to achieve better outcomes. 

If deemed consents are 
maintained, City of Adelaide 
recommends addressing issues 
with the deemed consent 
provisions by reviewing the 
assessment timeframes and/or 
investigating an improved 
approach, such as “deemed 
refusal”. 

 

Verification of Development Applications  
Applications received by Council must be verified within 5 days to confirm they are the correct relevant authority, determine the nature of 
development, identify the assessment pathway, ensure the correct level of documentation is provided, identify any required referrals and 
calculate the application fees.  The assessment of the application can progress once the verification process is complete, and the fees are 
paid.  

1. What are the primary 
reasons for the delay in 
verification of an 
application?  

M M There have been very few instances of the verification of 
applications by Council’s Assessment Manager taking longer 
than the statutory timeframe of 5 days. 

The verification process may appear to take longer for applicants 
who take longer to provide key documentation, or who have not 
yet paid the required fees. 

For more complex applications, the verification process also 
takes longer as this can include detailed consideration of the 
Planning and Design Code policies, relevant legislation, a site 
visit and/or discussion with referral bodies for clarification of 
referral triggers. 

Schedule 8 of the Regulations sets out the basic information that 
an applicant must provide, however this doesn’t include key 
information that is often necessary to determine the nature of 
development (e.g. hours of operation, number of employees, etc), 
Follow up conversations with the applicants are often required. 

 

City of Adelaide recommends 
improvements to Schedule 8 to 
enable provision of key 
information to streamline 
verification timelines.  

P
age 52



11 
 

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

2. Should there be 
consequences on a 
relevant authority if it fails 
to verify an application 
within the prescribed 
timeframe? 
 

M M It is rare for the verification of applications to take longer than the 
statutory 5 days in the City of Adelaide. Consequences for failing 
to verify within the prescribed timeframe could be contemplated 
depending on the nature of the delay. 

However accurate verification is critical to ensure the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the subsequent assessment 
process.  Where a relevant authority is genuinely seeking to 
verify an application and is working with the applicant to achieve 
this, then it would not be appropriate to penalise the relevant 
authority.  

Penalties could be contemplated in instances of persistent and 
systemic failure to verify applications within the statutory 
timeframe.  However, understanding the cause(s) of delay in 
verification is essential to ensure penalties are only applied when 
necessary, and are designed to encourage relevant authorities to 
address the cause of the issue and not the symptoms. 

Note: there are very few 
applications assessed by the City 
of Adelaide which have not been 
verified within the required 
timeframe. 

City of Adelaide recommends the 
Expert Panel should ensure any 
penalties for not meeting the 
verification timeline are designed 
to encourage the relevant 
authority to address the cause of 
the delay. 

3. Is there a particular type or 
class of application that 
seems to always take 
longer than the prescribed 
timeframe to verify? 
 

M M There have been very few instances of the verification of 
applications by Council’s Assessment Manager taking longer 
than the statutory timeframe of 5 days.  

Development types that aren’t specifically addressed within 
“Schedule 8 – Plans”, and some undefined or ambiguous 
change-in-use applications can take longer to verify. For 
example, external alterations to a building are not defined in the 
Planning and Design Code. 

City of Adelaide recommends 
improvements to Schedule 8 to 
enable provision of key 
information to streamline 
verification timelines. 

4. What would or could assist 
in ensuring that verification 
occurs within the 
prescribed timeframe? 
 

M M The following improvements could assist faster verification 
processes: 

• More straight-forward submission process for applicants to 
avoid errors at submission stage, such as including a 
documentation checklist within the Development Assessment 
Processing system 

• Improve the scope of documentation required by Schedule 8 
– Plans 

• Amend Regulation 31 to be more prescriptive about what 
information a relevant authority can request  

• Practice Direction. 

City of Adelaide recommends 
improvements to Schedule 8 to 
enable provision of key 
information to streamline 
verification timelines, amending 
Regulation 31 and/or a Practice 
Direction. 

City of Adelaide recommends 
inclusion of a checklist for 
applicants within the 
Development Assessment 
Processing system. 

P
age 53



12 
 

 
 
  

Expert Panel Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 
 

5. Would there be advantages 
in amending the scope of 
Schedule 8 of the PDI 
Regulations? 
 

M M The scope of Schedule 8 of the Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Regulations do not provide sufficient ability to 
request key information during verification. 

It would be beneficial to amend the scope of this schedule to 
include information that must be provided for a larger range of 
development types, and to address inconsistencies in 
requirements for dwelling additions compared with new builds 
and outbuildings etc.  

City of Adelaide recommends 
improvements to Schedule 8 to 
enable provision of key 
information to streamline 
verification timelines.  

Additional Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA) topics raised by City of Adelaide 

Strata owner approval before 
lodging application 

I H The current planning system does not require approval of strata 
corporations before a relevant authority assesses a development 
application.  Concerns have been raised by the community.   

• Recent issues have been experienced in the City of Adelaide 
associated with development approval occurring without prior 
strata management approval (refer to recent court case, 
Strata Corporation 12753 Inc v Ren [2022] SADC 134 11 
November 2022).  

• Research indicates that strata corporation and landowner 
approval is required before lodging a development application 
in other States/jurisdictions in Australia. 

• Recommendation - Expert Panel to consider preparation of a 
Practice Direction, or alternatively amending the PDI 
Regulations 2017 (SA) to bring South Australia in line with 
other states and create certainty for owners and strata 
groups. 

City of Adelaide recommends the 
planning system should ensure 
landowner and/or strata 
corporation approval is 
demonstrated prior to 
assessment of development. 

P
age 54



13 
 

DISCUSSION PAPER 2 – Planning and Design Code Reform Options – October 2022 

Table 2 responds to the topics raised by the Expert Panel in “Discussion Paper 2 – Planning and Design Code Reform Options” under the following scope set 
by the Expert Panel: 

• Character and Heritage Policy  
• Tree Policy  
• Infill Policy  
• Car Parking Policy  

 

Table 2 – Response to “DISCUSSION PAPER 2 – Planning, Development and Infrastructure Act 2016 Reform Options – October 2022” 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Character and Heritage Policy 
Council’s position on Heritage is described in more detail in City of Adelaide’s Heritage Strategy 2021-2036: Heritage: Our Future and City of Adelaide’s Position on 
Heritage Reform 

1. In relation to prong two 
(2) pertaining to 
character area 
statements, in the 
current system, what is 
and is not working, and 
are there gaps and/or 
deficiencies?  

 

I H What is working? 

• City of Adelaide supports the intent of the Historic Area 
Statements (HAS) to provide localised information for a specific 
area and seeks further inclusion of more localised and directive 
guiding policy. 

• Historic Area Statements work well for the assessment of 
development proposals in streets where there is sufficient 
detail about the specific important character features of the 
street in terms of setbacks, spaces around the buildings, 
building styles etc. 

What is not working? 

• The Historic Area Overlay (HAO) Policy Objectives are generic 
and do not provide localised guidance or direction that can be 
applied to the specific characteristics of the area. 

• The form of language used within the Historic Area Statement 
provides insufficient descriptive policy guidance.  The use of 
language, in particular the failure to use verbs, fails to ensure 

City of Adelaide welcomes 
correspondence from the State Planning 
Commission dated 19 October 2022 to 
enable Councils to review and update 
Historic Area Statements and intends to 
work with the Commission on 
improvements in the City of Adelaide. 

City of Adelaide will seek that greater 
context, description and guidance in 
included in the Planning and Design 
Code. 

P
age 55



14 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

that the content is perceived as directive or a guiding tool for 
new development. 

• The Historic Area Statements do not provide guidance for roof 
pitches nor the continuation of roof form, however this 
guidance was previously provided in the Adelaide (City) 
Development Plan. 

Gaps and Deficiencies 

• There is no clear guidance for present or future expectations 
for the areas. 

• The Historic Area Overlay makes generic statements and does 
not provide design guidance or direction that can influence the 
desired design outcome sought for each area. 

• The Historic Area Overlay policy fails to include specific 
Desired Character Statements for each historic area. The 
Historic Area Overlay statements were drafted to be consistent 
state-wide statements however, every Historic Area has 
distinctive character and should be identified and directed as 
such.  

City of Adelaide considers the Historic Area Statements should: 

• Clarify which policy is applicable 

• Provide a contextual basis for informing design 

• Provide overall guidance about what is required for streets that 
are not individually listed (so that they cannot be interpreted as 
being less significant) 

• Enable policy consideration to the settings and view of 
heritage places 

• Include reference to maintaining setting and vistas which are 
important in maintaining the value of the heritage place as well 
as the surrounding character of the area as whole 

• Include specific graphic tools to assist and guide the design of 
development proposals. Sketches and illustrations are 
important for providing visual examples of what is appropriate 
for different areas. 

P
age 56



15 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

2. Noting the Panel’s 
recommendations to 
the Minister on prongs 
one (1) and two (2) of 
the Commission’s 
proposal, are there 
additional approaches 
available for enhancing 
character areas? 

 

I H The Historic Area Statements for the City of Adelaide need to be 
reviewed as the policy content has not been updated since 2006. 
The following improvements are required: 

• Use of appropriate language to provide clear design guidance 
suitable for different areas. 

• The inclusion of additional contextual information.  The Historic 
Area Statements provide localised policy and more descriptive 
policy is required to guide the future desired character for each 
area. 

• Each Historic Area Statement should provide a descriptive 
localised paragraph on the desired character for that area. 

• Inclusion of further information in the Historic Area Statements, 
particularly for off-street parking, identifying original kerb and 
gutters as well as historic public realm features.  

• Further work is required to ensure each Historic Area 
Statement captures the key elements that contribute to the 
character of each street. 

• Reintroduce specific graphic tools to assist and guide the 
design of development proposals. 

Refer to recommendation for Question 1 - 
Character and Heritage Policy. 

3. What are your views 
on introducing a 
development 
assessment pathway 
to only allow for 
demolition of a building 
in a Character Area 
(and Historic Area) 
once a replacement 
building has been 
approved? 

 

I H City of Adelaide considers the demolition of a building within an 
Historic Area should take the Performance Assessed Pathway to 
ensure the replacement building is consistent with the character 
and value of the area before it is demolished.  Demolition should 
not be supported until Development Approval for a replacement 
building has been granted. 

Full Development Approval is necessary as it demonstrates the 
applicant’s commitment to build the replacement building.  This 
was a previous requirement within the former Development Plan, 
and it worked well for Historic Areas and more broadly for sites 
throughout the city. The 2006 policy framework significantly 
reduced the number of buildings being demolished without a 
replacement building. 

City of Adelaide recommends: 

• The demolition of a building within 
an Historic Area should take the 
performance assessed pathway 
and ensure the replacement 
building is consistent with the 
character and value of the area 
before it is demolished 

• Demolition is not supported until full 
Development Approval for a 
replacement building has been 
granted. 

P
age 57



16 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

4. What difficulties do you 
think this assessment 
pathway may pose?  

 

I H City of Adelaide recognises that the full development approval 
requirement does not guarantee a development will be completed; 
however, it does reduce speculative consents and facilitates the 
retention of the building while it is being planned and the building 
assessed for construction. 

Uncertain market conditions, cost escalation, risk of projects 
stalling and development ceasing after commencement still exist 
and it is acknowledged that it is not always possible for statutory 
controls to stop the possibility of work ceasing. 

Refer to recommendation in response to 
Question 3 – Character and Heritage 
Policy  

5. How could those 
difficulties be 
overcome? 

I H City of Adelaide considers these difficulties could be overcome by: 

• Including appropriate conditions of approval 

• Applicant entering into a legal agreement 

• Obtaining a Bond 

• For example, City of Sydney imposes a condition requiring the 
owner of a site to enter a Site Rectification Deed which is a 
legal obligation with Council providing for a bank guarantee 
authorising the release of funds for the re-instatement and 
improvement of a derelict site. Conditions may include: 

o Making the building safe and attractive at ground level 

o Excavation to be covered to allow the site to be 
landscaped and made attractive from any public vantage 
points 

o If building is constructed beyond ground floor, to allow 
hoardings to be removed and the ground floor 
development to be completed to a tenantable stage 

o Call on bank guarantee to cover the cost. 

• Although economic provisions play an important role in 
development proceeding, it is important that regulatory 
processes also exist. 

 

 

Refer to recommendation in Question 3 – 
Heritage and Character. 

Expert Panel to consider other 
opportunities such as site rectification 
deeds etc.  

P
age 58



17 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Tree Policy 

Native Vegetation 

1. What are the issues 
being experienced in the 
interface between the 
removal of regulated trees 
and native vegetation?  

L L City of Adelaide notes that the Native Vegetation Act 1991 does 
not apply within the City of Adelaide. As such, no issues have been 
identified in seeking development approval via the planning 
system. 

Expert Panel to consult with City of 
Adelaide if it intends to recommend 
applying the Native Vegetation Act 1991 
within the City of Adelaide. 

2. Are there any other 
issues connecting 
native vegetation and 
planning policy?  

 

L L Biodiversity and native vegetation make an important contribution 
to enhanced greening and biodiversity in the City of Adelaide.  
Consideration could be given to how to ensure an appropriate level 
of recognition of locally significant biodiversity in the Adelaide Park 
Lands. 

City of Adelaide to investigate 
appropriate mechanisms for recognising 
and protecting City of Adelaide’s key 
biodiversity areas within the planning 
system.  

Tree Canopy 

1.What are the implications 
of master 
planned/greenfield 
development areas also 
being required to ensure at 
least one (1) tree is planted 
per new dwelling, in 
addition to the existing 
provision of public 
reserves/parks?  

2. If this policy was 
introduced, what are your 
thoughts relating to the 
potential requirement to 
plant a tree to the rear of a 
dwelling site as an option? 

 

 

I H City of Adelaide’s Strategic Plan seeks to achieve the following 
community outcomes “a climate ready organisation and 
community” and “enhanced greening and biodiversity”. 

Encouraging urban tree canopy and greening outcomes across the 
Greater Metropolitan Region via the Planning and Design Code in 
master planned/greenfield development areas is consistent with 
Council’s environmental leadership priorities, notwithstanding that 
City of Adelaide doesn’t contain master planned/greenfield 
development areas per se.   

The location of a tree to provide shade and cooling may also 
benefit from considering the site context and solar orientation.  

Expert Panel to ensure any tree planting 
policy in the planning system can function 
effectively to maintain and/or increase the 
extent of urban tree canopy.  

P
age 59



18 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Tree Protections 

Regulated and significant trees are defined under the Planning, Development & Infrastructure Act 2016 (SA).  Recent studies have compared South Australia’s regulated 
and significant tree protection laws against those that exist interstate.  The Expert Panel is considering whether to suggest changes to SA’s tree protection laws with a view 
to protecting more trees.  

1. What are the 
implications of reducing the 
minimum circumference for 
regulated and significant 
tree protections?  

M M City of Adelaide is supportive of reasonable changes to regulated 
and significant tree policies which are intended to reduce canopy 
loss. 

The City of Adelaide’s seeks to retain and/or increase the amount 
of tree canopy, especially in areas where urban heat effect is most 
prevalent.  

Changes to the minimum circumference, height protection 
thresholds, crown spread protection and species-based tree 
protections would result in more trees having the opportunity to be 
protected. This may also increase the number of development 
applications for tree removal, which could have resourcing 
implications for assessment and compliance. 

Expert Panel to ensure any changes to 
the regulated and significant tree 
protections are evidence-based and 
result in more effective protection of 
regulated and significant trees.  

2. What are the 
implications of introducing 
a height protection 
threshold, to assist in 
meeting canopy targets?  

M M Refer to comments in Q1 – Tree protections. 

 
Refer to recommendation for Question 1 
Tree Protections.  

3. What are the 
implications of introducing 
a crown spread protection, 
to assist in meeting canopy 
targets? 

M M Refer to comments in Q1 – Tree protections. 

In addition, there is potential to encourage more canopy and keep 
existing canopy (not regulated) by recognising spatial mapping of 
urban heat island in planning policy. 

Refer to recommendation for Question 1 
Tree Protections  

4. What are the 
implications of introducing 
species-based tree 
protections? 

M M Refer to comments in Q1 – Tree protections 

 

Refer to recommendation for Question 1 
Tree Protections 

Additional Comments 
relating to significant and 
regulated trees 

I H City of Adelaide considers there may be potential to introduce 
overlays requiring revegetation in areas which are very hot and do 
not have adequate tree canopy coverage.   

City of Adelaide recommends 
investigations into application of science-
based urban heat island overlay to 
prioritise retention of significant and 

P
age 60



19 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Urban heat island science/data could inform the spatial distribution 
of such an overlay.  This could provide higher priority in 
development assessment to ameliorate urban heat in these 
locations. Hourly urban heat data is likely to be more valuable than 
day-night comparisons. 

City of Adelaide is custodian of the Adelaide Park Lands which is a 
significant State-level asset.  Development in the city where tree 
canopy coverage is not achieved could be required to pay into a 
fund that increases tree canopy in the Park Lands. 

regulated trees, and also encourages 
new trees in high priority locations. 

City of Adelaide supports use of the 
Planning and Development fund for 
investment in open space, public realm, 
pocket parks and increased tree canopy 
(including in the Adelaide Park Lands). 

Distance from Development  

1. Currently you can 
remove a protected 
tree, excluding Agonis 
flexuosa (Willow 
Myrtle) or Eucalyptus 
(any tree of the genus) 
if it is within ten (10) 
metres of a dwelling or 
swimming pool. What 
are the implications of 
reducing this distance? 
 

M M Tree protections should be evidence based and balanced with 
safety and structural considerations.  

Expert Panel to ensure any changes to 
the regulated and significant tree 
protections are evidence-based and 
result in more effective protection of 
regulated and significant trees. 

2. What are the 
implications of revising 
the circumstances 
when it would be 
permissible to permit a 
protected tree to be 
removed (i.e. not only 
when it is within the 
proximity of a major 
structure, and/or poses 
a threat to safety 
and/or infrastructure)? 

 

 

M M Increasing circumstances in which protected trees can be 
removed, for reasons other than proximity to a major structure, 
safety etc. would likely increase the number of protected trees that 
are removed. 

Loss of tree canopy should be avoided where practicable. This is in 
line with City of Adelaide’s Strategic Plan’s community outcomes 
on achieving “a climate ready organisation and community” and 
“enhanced greening and biodiversity”.   

 

Refer to recommendation associated with 
Question 1 – Distance from 
Development. 

P
age 61



20 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Urban Tree Canopy Off Set Scheme 

In the City of Adelaide, the Urban Tree Canopy Overlay applies within the City Living Zone, which covers a large proportion of the suburb of North Adelaide, but only 
approximately a quarter of the built-up areas within the suburb of Adelaide.  

As a result, the Urban Tree Canopy Offset Scheme is limited in application in the city and only applies to new dwellings (which occur less frequently in the well-established 
residential areas of the City of Adelaide).  

City of Adelaide has not established a tree fund for these reasons. Expansion of the Urban Tree Canopy Overlay across the whole of the City of Adelaide should be 
considered. 

1. What are the 
implications of 
increasing the fee for 
payment into the Off-
set scheme?  

 

I H Fees 

The cost to the city for planting, establishing and maintaining trees 
in a highly urbanised environment is significantly greater than the 
cost of removing trees.  The economic and societal value of 
biodiversity, visual amenity, and microclimate services provided by 
trees are not accounted for in the cost of removal. 

Any changes to the planning system related to the cost of removal 
or replacement of trees, and distribution of fees, should factor in 
the value of the trees in question, and the cost of replacement, 
including the time it may take a replacement tree to replicate the 
services previously provided by a mature tree. 

Increasing the fee for payment into the Off-set scheme would 
potentially provide additional funding for the City of Adelaide to 
establish new trees and landscaping in the city. It may also 
increase the likelihood of development being designed to retain 
and/or plant new trees. 

Expert Panel to encourage increasing the 
offset payment, spatial application and 
type of development the Urban Tree 
Canopy Overlay applies to in order to 
increase opportunity for additional tree 
planting. 

 

2. If the fee was 
increased, what are 
your thoughts about 
aligning the fee with 
the actual cost to a 
council of delivering 
(and maintaining) a 
tree, noting that this 
would result in differing 
costs in different 
locations? 

I H 

 

City of Adelaide supports aligning the fee with the actual cost of 
delivering and maintaining a tree. 

Refer to Recommendation in response to 
Question 1 – Urban Tree Canopy Offset 
Scheme 

P
age 62



21 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

3. What are the 
implications of 
increasing the off-set 
fees for the removal or 
regulated or significant 
trees? 

I H In addition to the comments provided in Question 1 – Urban Tree 
Canopy Off-set Scheme, City of Adelaide considers increasing the 
fees for removal of regulated or significant trees would result in 
more trees being retained, if the fee is set appropriately. 

Refer to Recommendation in response to 
Question 1 – Urban Tree Canopy Offset 
Scheme 

Public Realm Tree Planting  

1. Should the criteria 
within the Planning and 
Development Fund 
application assessment 
process give greater 
weighting to the 
provision of increased 
tree canopy? 

I H City of Adelaide agrees that the criteria within the Planning and 
Development Fund should give greater weighting to the provision 
of increased tree canopy.  It is also noted that there may be 
location, context, and equity considerations, such as the need to 
prioritise certain areas which are hotter than others, as measured 
via urban heat island mapping.  Increased tree canopy is a key 
mechanism to address this. 

Expert Panel to encourage greater 
weighting to the provision of increased 
tree canopy in assessment of 
applications to use the Planning and 
Development Fund.  

Additional Tree Policy matters  

Use of Urban Tree Canopy 
Offset payment in lieu of 
tree planting. 

I H As stated in the Local Government Association’s October 2022 
submission to the Expert Panel 

“A significant improvement to planning policy proposed in the early 
draft of the Code was the requirement for tree planting and 
provision of deep root zones within infill development/small lot 
housing.  Unfortunately this policy has been significantly weakened 
due to the introduction of an Offset Fund for the planting of trees 
required by the policy.” 

”Clear rules and obligations are required to be placed on the 
Private Certifier and the applicant to ensure that payment into the 
offset scheme in lieu of a tree on the property is the last 
resort”….and, “where a tree is unable to be located on a property in 
conjunction with a dwelling because of reactive soils, footing costs 
or setbacks and the applicant is required to pay into the offset 
scheme these applications should not be determined as a ‘Deemed 
to Satisfy’ application but should become a Performance Assessed 
Application” (LGA, October 2022, pp 28-29). 

City of Adelaide recommends a review of 
the provisions of the Urban Tree Canopy 
Overlay to provide clarity of interpretation 
for applicants and planners that: 

• Paying into the offset scheme is not 
“Deemed to Satisfy” Performance 
Outcome 1.1* of the Urban Tree 
Canopy, unless in demonstrated 
exceptional circumstances, such as 
reactive soils etc., and  

• Reference to “Residential 
development” in Desired Outcome 1 
includes extensions to existing 
dwellings. 

(*PO 1.1 - Trees are planted or retained 
to contribute to an urban tree canopy.) 

P
age 63



22 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Infill Policy 

Design Guidelines 

1. Do you think the 
existing design 
guidelines for infill 
development are 
sufficient? Why or why 
not?  

 
 

 

M H City of Adelaide considers the design guidelines for infill 
development lack the detail and guidance that was contained 
within the previous Development Plan.  

The Planning and Design Code does not contain adequate detail to 
enable good design outcomes and Council is now required to 
negotiate policy that was previously consulted and received 
Ministerial Approval through the Development Plan. The 
implementation of the Planning and Design Code has resulted in a 
loss of good planning policy with respect to high quality design. 

Specific issues are being experienced at the interface between the 
Capital City Zone and the City Living Zone, particularly in relation 
to lack of policies which support a positive transition between 
building heights.  There are often significant differences in 
maximum building heights enabled by the Planning and Design 
Code.  Additional policies are needed to guide and encourage 
more appropriate transitions, especially adjoining the City Living 
Zone. 

There is potential to introduce policy mechanisms to “space-out” 
high rise buildings in the City to protect views for occupants, 
neighbouring buildings and to enhance visual amenity throughout 
the City. 

The design impacts and management of infill development should 
be addressed more thoroughly in the Planning and Design Code. 
Some of the deficiencies of the Code are summarised as follows: 

• Little regard is given to policies addressing design, 
neighbourhood character, and local context.  

• There are limited design standards for medium-high scale 
development which should be given greater interrogation.  

• Lack of illustrations to guide development applications.  
Illustrations that were useful in providing guidance for 
applications within the previous Development Plan are no 
longer included e.g. passive cross-ventilation, borrowed light, 

City of Adelaide will seek to undertake a 
Code Amendment to improve design 
guidelines for infill development in the city 
context, including, but not limited to 
seeking improved interface policies with 
existing residential development. 

Stronger policy focus for catalyst sites to 
achieve desired better quality design and 
interface with the community of the City 
of Adelaide. P

age 64



23 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

overlooking from windows and balconies, building setbacks, 
and building orientation. 

• Absence of policy within the Capital City Zone limiting the 
extent and dominance of garaging along the street frontage 
which negatively affects the activation and human scale of the 
street frontage.  

 
• Lack of policy regarding the integration of plant and 

mechanical equipment into the design of the building.  
• Important policy is not activated for non-residential 

development e.g. Stormwater Management Overlay, Urban 
Tree Canopy Overlay. 

• Existing catalyst site policy is sparse and should be improved 
to ensure it provides better guidance especially in relation to 
scale, height and amenity impacts on neighbouring lower-
scale developments.   

• The Stormwater Management Overlay or the equivalent 
should be applied to non-residential development. 

• Urban Tree Canopy Overlay only applies to residential 
development.  Consideration should be given to non-
residential developments which tend to be larger generators of 
urban heat.  An adapted equivalent should also apply to non-
residential development. 

• Insufficiently addresses the issue of ‘Crime Prevention through 
Urban Design’ and is a step backwards from the previous 
Development Plan policy. Due to the intensity of development 
in the city, safety, surveillance and security should be carefully 

P
age 65



24 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

considered within each planning application however the 
Planning and Design Code provides little direction in this area. 

• Insufficient policy to guide good design outcomes and 
environmental performance such as: 
o Limited policy guidance regarding location of living 

spaces, private open space, communal open space, 
orientation of buildings. 

o Lack of policy to encourage the planting of indigenous 
species which is important in providing an environment 
suitable for our native species and enhancing biodiversity. 

o Fails to address decentralised energy generation and 
embedded networks. 

o Fails to address or encourage low carbon design and 
construction measures. 

o Fails to encourage wastewater and stormwater re-use or 
the minimisation of waste. 

• Absence of policy that guides and influences the design and 
presentation of multi-level car parks. As they are non-active in 
terms of their contribution to the streetscape it is important 
guiding policies are in place to influence the location, design 
and presentation of these buildings to the street. 

• Undercroft structures are uncharacteristic to the streetscapes 
of the city and therefore the policies should not apply in the 
city. 

• Fails to provide policy that encourages sleaved multi-level 
carparks. This ensures that street frontages remain active and 
attractive. 

• Earthworks and sloping land policies have no regard to impact 
on adjoining neighbours or streetscapes. 

• Fails to provide sufficient policy to address universal design to 
ensure accommodation is designed to be adaptable to allow 
one to age in place as well the basic requirement of ensuring 
the ground floor level of buildings is level with the footpath.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 66



25 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Design Guidelines 

2. Do you think there 
would be benefit in 
exploring alternative 
forms of infill 
development? If not, 
why not? If yes, what 
types of infill 
development do you 
think would be suitable 
in South Australia? 

 

 

M H Infill policy design guidelines are not written nor apply within the 
City of Adelaide, however there are many opportunities for 
residential development in the city, including precinct-scale 
medium and high-density infill development. 

The Planning and Design Code does not appropriately capture all 
types of infill development. There is potential to improve the design 
guidelines to enable better policies in place to address a diversity 
of infill development 

Additional Design Standards or Guidelines could be developed for 
medium-high scale development. Further work is required on infill 
development for medium to high scale development focussing on 
key issues such as: 

• Quality of development in terms of materials, articulation and 
design as well as existing streetscapes 

• Successfully resolving the interface with smaller-scale 
development is of particular importance within the City of 
Adelaide 

• Buildings facing secondary street boundaries 
• Local context 
• Adaptability 
• Specific method of reducing direct overlooking e.g. setback 

standards to achieve reasonable distances between buildings, 
orientation of windows, projecting sills, canopy projections etc.   

• The following policy from the previous Adelaide (City) 
Development Plan is an example of policy which has not been 
adequately transferred to the Planning and Design Code: 

City of Adelaide encourages State 
Government to prepare design standards 
or guidelines for medium-high scale 
development in the context of the City of 
Adelaide. 

Also refer to recommendation Question 1 
– Infill Development. 

 

P
age 67



26 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

 
• Encouraging a diversity of housing types within an infill 

development e.g. 1, 2 and 3 etc bedroom housing to cater for 
different household types. 

• Infill development which enables a mix of land uses in the one 
building. 

 

Strategic Planning 

• What are the best 
mechanisms for 
ensuring good 
strategic alignment 
between regional plans 
and how the policies of 
the Code are applied 
spatially?  

M H City of Adelaide considers the following mechanisms could be 
considered to ensure good strategic alignment between regional 
plans and spatial application of Code policies: 

• Prioritising Code Amendments that have been proposed and 
engaged upon within a City Plan, and/or by other strategic 
decisions of Councils. 

• Consider reintroducing the equivalent of Section 30 
Development Plan Reviews which occurred under the previous 
planning system within 12 months of a change to the Planning 
Strategy, or within 5 years of a previous Section 30 review. 

• Consider statutory recognition of sub-regional plans, and/or 
Council-specific (City) Plans as the local spatial realisation of 
the regional plan. 

Expert Panel to consider formal 
recognition of City Plans within the 
planning system as a sub-regional plan. 

Expert Panel to consider introducing 
Local Planning and Design Code reviews 
by local governments within 12 months of 
the introduction of a regional plan, or 
within 5 years of the last Local Planning 
and Design Code review. 

P
age 68



27 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

• What should the 
different roles and 
responsibilities of State 
and local government 
and the private sector 
be in undertaking 
strategic planning? 

 

 

M H City of Adelaide considers that metropolitan-wide strategic planning 
should be led by State Government, local government-scale 
strategic planning should be undertaken by local government.  

Both levels of government have the opportunity to utilise the private 
sector to assist with engagement/consultation, and key 
investigations/research as needed. 

Local government should lead the review of the effectiveness of 
planning policies within the local area and identify opportunities to 
improve delivery of agreed local and regional strategic outcomes 
via planning policy. 

Expert Panel to ensure the planning 
system enables local government to have 
a key role in influencing regional and 
local strategic planning. 

Car Parking Policy 

Code Policy 

1. What are the specific 
car parking 
challenges that you 
are experiencing in 
your locality? Is this 
street specific and if 
so, can you please 
advise what street 
and suburb.  

M H City of Adelaide has a unique role as a Capital City, which includes 
providing key transportation connections. The car parking 
challenges experienced by the city vary depending on proximity to 
the CBD, noting that significant areas of the city are residential in 
nature and/or adjoining more localised Main Street retail areas.  
Key cultural, entertainment, sporting and recreational activities 
associated with the city and Park Lands also present unique 
transportation issues and opportunities, including but not limited to 
car parking. 

Development assessment staff have not experienced any specific 
challenges relating to car parking policies in the Planning and 
Design Code to date. Car parking policy settings in the Capital City 
Zone reflect the high level of access to tram, train, bus, cycle, 
walking and other transportation modes. 

Community feedback in relation to car parking is varied.  There is 
strong support to reduce car dependency. Other feedback has 
highlighted concerns around lack of car parking associated with 
developments in the Capital City Zone 

The transition to the Planning and Design Code delayed policy 
updates of key Concept Plans, such as the Pedestrian Area 
Overlay.  Council has identified this as a priority to be addressed 
via a Code Amendment.  The Planning, Development and 
Infrastructure Act, 2016 (SA) also identifies Universal Design as a 

Expert Panel to ensure any proposed 
changes to car parking policy includes 
collaboration with Council.  

City of Adelaide to pursue Code 
Amendment to update and improve 
transportation-related policies and 
respond to increasing demand for electric 
vehicle infrastructure. 

P
age 69



28 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

priority issue however this has not translated effectively into the 
Planning and Design Code policies yet. The planning system could 
also be better integrated with Disability, Access and Inclusion 
Plans, and Council’s Active Transport Plan (currently in 
development).  

There is emerging demand for electric vehicle facilities, both on-
street and associated with residential flat buildings (apartments), 
which support our community to be climate-ready. Policy reviews to 
reflect emerging demand is required. 

2. Should car parking 
rates be spatially 
applied based on 
proximity to the CBD, 
employment centres 
and/or public 
transport corridors? If 
not, why not? If yes, 
how do you think this 
could be effectively 
applied?  

M H City of Adelaide considers the current car parking requirements 
appear to work relatively well considering the Capital City context.  
Council intends to review the current policy settings via a future 
Code Amendment which will consider transportation policy. 

 

Refer to response to Question 1 – Car 
Parking Policy. 

3. Should the Code 
offer greater car 
parking rate 
dispensation based 
on proximity to public 
transport or 
employment 
centres? If not, why 
not? If yes, what 
level of dispensation 
do you think is 
appropriate?  

M H The Planning and Design Code has zones which are specific to the 
City of Adelaide, and which provide car parking rate dispensation.  
For example, in the Capital City Zone there is no minimum 
requirement for car parking, whilst there are minimum requirements 
for bicycle parking e.g. in residential flat buildings (apartments).  
This does not prevent development from choosing to include car 
parking.  Greater car parking rate dispensation for development 
could be contemplated in parts of the City Living Zone with 
proximity to public transport i.e. areas of mixed use in the City 
Living Zone close to King William Street in the southern part of the 
city. 

City of Adelaide considers that car parking policies in the Planning 
and Design Code should be considered within the overall context 
of a strategic transportation plan and regional and state-wide 
coordination of effective transportation options, including active 
transportation. 

Expert Panel to have regard to 
effectiveness of existing City of Adelaide 
car parking policies. 

Expert Panel to advocate for preparation 
and appropriate inclusion of integrated 
transport management plans within the 
planning system. 

P
age 70



29 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

4. What are the 
implications of 
reviewing carparking 
rates against 
contemporary data 
(2021 Census and 
ABS data), with a 
focus on only 
meeting average 
expected demand 
rather than peak 
demand? 

L L City of Adelaide will consider car parking rates in the Planning and 
Design Code in a Capital City context when undertaking 
investigations to inform a future transportation Code Amendment 

 

Refer to response to Question 1 – Car 
Parking Policy. 

5. Is it still necessary 
for the Code to seek 
the provision of at 
least one (1) covered 
carpark when two (2) 
on-site car parks are 
required. 

 

 

L L City of Adelaide does not consider it necessary to require at least 
one (1) covered carpark when two (2) on-site car parks are 
required. 

Refer to response to Question 1 – Car 
Parking Policy. 

Design Guidelines 

1. What are the 
implications of 
developing a design 
guideline or fact sheet 
related to off-street car 
parking? 

M H City of Adelaide considers that a design guideline or fact sheet 
would be of assistance to applicants. If such a design guideline is 
produced it should consider the context of the City of Adelaide. 
This may also be of assistance to local government areas who are 
experiencing increased demand for medium and high-density 
development. 

A design guideline could include information about off-street 
carparking options for residential flat buildings (apartments) to 
inform higher density off-street parking options, including provision 
for accessibility scooter parking, bicycle parking, car stacking 
devices, and EV charging infrastructure. The guidelines could also 
include advice on how to design development to encourage use of 
available active transport options. 

Expert Panel to include information about 
universal design, electric vehicle 
infrastructure and active transport in any 
new design guidelines or fact sheets 
relating to off-street car parking. 

P
age 71



30 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Inclusion of electric vehicle and active transport information in the 
design guideline will assist communities to cost-effectively 
transition to a climate-ready future, which is consistent with the City 
of Adelaide’s strategic goals. 

Electric Vehicles 

1. EV charging stations 
are not specifically 
identified as a form of 
development in the 
PDI Act. Should this 
change, or should the 
installation of EV 
charging stations 
remain unregulated, 
thereby allowing 
installation in any 
location? 

M H City of Adelaide suggests consideration should be given to whether 
increased regulation of electric vehicle (EV) charging stations will 
assist faster transition to low carbon future to address climate 
change. 

The following information may assist the Expert Panel’s 
considerations: 

• City of Adelaide received legal advice confirming electric 
vehicle charging stations are development when changing an 
existing use i.e. the Tesla EV charging station at the bus 
station on Franklin Street was considered to change the 
existing bus station use.  

• Electric vehicle charging stations are not considered a change 
of use within existing multi-level car parks or for on-street car 
parks. 

Expert Panel to ensure any regulation of 
electric vehicle charging stations is 
consistent with enabling community to be 
climate-ready as rapidly as possible.  

2. If EV charging stations 
became a form a 
development, there are 
currently no dedicated 
policies within the 
Code that seek to 
guide the design of 
residential or 
commercial car 
parking arrangements 
in relation to EV 
charging infrastructure. 
Should dedicated 
policies be developed 
to guide the design of 
EV charging 
infrastructure? 

M H City of Adelaide considers there could be benefit in creating 
policies or guidelines to guide the design and/or selection of 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure for different development 
types, e.g. residential, apartments, commercial etc.  These 
guidelines would need to be consistent with emerging National 
Construction Code policies relating to electric vehicle infrastructure 
provisioning and should recognise that technology is evolving 
rapidly. 

City of Adelaide recommends any electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure policies 
prepared by State Government should 
enable community to be climate-ready as 
rapidly as possible and have regard to 
emerging National Construction Code 
policies. 

P
age 72



31 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Car Parking Offset Schemes 

1. What are the 
implications of car 
parking funds being 
used for projects other 
than centrally located 
car parking in Activity 
Centres (such as a 
retail precinct)?  

L H 

 

City of Adelaide does not currently have a car parking fund.  
Enabling car parking funds to be used for non-car parking projects, 
such as active transport or new bike lanes, could broaden their 
appeal and be of benefit to the community. 

Refer to recommendation in Question 2 
below. 

2. What types of projects 
and/or initiatives would 
you support the car 
parking funds being 
used for, if not only for 
the establishment of 
centrally located car 
parking? 

L H City of Adelaide acknowledges there could be potential for car 
parking funds to provide for a range of used for non-car parking 
projects which will benefit residents and encourage visitors to the 
city, such as implementing active transport plans, delivering active 
and sustainable transport infrastructure e.g. new bike lanes, micro-
mobility initiatives, access and inclusion infrastructure, improving 
the end-to-end user experience of public transport, end-of-trip 
facilities etc. 

City of Adelaide recommends car parking 
funds should be enabled to be used for 
range of active and sustainable 
transportation-related infrastructure  

Commission Prepared Design Standards 

1. Do you think there 
would be benefit from 
the Commission 
preparing local road 
Design Standards? 

I H City of Adelaide has previously and consistently advocated for 
urgent consideration and resolution of the policy interaction 
between development and the public realm, such as public roads. 

Public realm matters need to be encapsulated appropriately in 
either the Planning and Design Code or specific City of Adelaide 
Design Standard.  This issue was raised by City of Adelaide prior 
to implementation of the Planning and Design Code. 

As such, Design Standards need to be prepared in a way which is 
consistent and supportive of public realm interface considerations 
in the City of Adelaide context, including consideration of Council’s 
existing Encroachment Policy and interaction with s221 of the 
Local Government Act, 1999 (SA). 

In the City of Adelaide context, Council-issued permits issued 
under the Local Government Act, 1999 (SA) are important to 
effectively manage encroachments into the public realm and 
activities such as:  

City of Adelaide to collaborate with the 
State Government to ensure Design 
Standards include consideration of the 
City of Adelaide context including the 
interaction between public realm, 
infrastructure and encroachments. 

P
age 73



32 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 
Medium 

Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

• Road closures 
• Crane erection 
• Outdoor dining 
• Crossover changes 
• Ground anchors etc. 

Unregulated use of public road and footpaths can sometimes lead 
to negative impacts upon: 

• Use and enjoyment of the public realm 
• Public safety, public liability and indemnity 
• Maintenance and repair 
• Local trade 
• Occupiers of private land. 

Successful creation of Design Standards in the City of Adelaide 
context will assist with resolving the conflicting legislative 
requirements associated with the use of the public realm as 
defined in the City of Adelaide’s Encroachment Policy. 

 
 

P
age 74



33 
 

DISCUSSION PAPER 3 – e-Planning System and the PlanSA website Reform Options – 30 November 2022 

Table 3 responds to the topics raised by the Expert Panel in “Discussion Paper 3 – e-Planning System and the PlanSA website Reform Options” under the 
following scope set by the Expert Panel: 

• Early recommendations to the Minister for Planning 
• User Experience 
• Innovation 

 

Table 3 – Response to “DISCUSSION PAPER 3 – e-Planning System and the PlanSA website Reform Options – October 2022” 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Early Recommendations 
Discussion Paper 3 included recommendations already made by the Expert Panel to the Minister for Planning.  

Early Recommendations to the 
Minister for Planning by the 
Expert Panel 

 

 

I H • City of Adelaide is supportive of the Expert Panel’s early 
recommendations to the Minister for Planning on 11 
October 2022 in relation to: 

- Subscription service improvements 
- Development application map 
- Builders database 
- Refined submission process 
- Conditions and notes by element type 
- Code rules as a checklist 
- Development Assessment Processing homepage. 

City of Adelaide agrees with the 
early recommendations of the 
Expert Panel.   

User Experience 
The new planning system operates in a new Planning Portal comprising a PlanSA website, an online-accessible “Planning and Design Code” 
and the South Australian Planning and Property Atlas (SAPPA).  Development assessment is undertaken by planners and builders within the 
Development Assessment Processing (DAP) system. Applicants seek development approval via the on-line platform, pay fees on-line and 
receive correspondence via the DAP.  
 
Planning and building Accredited Professionals, including Council staff who act under delegation of an Assessment Manager, must use the 
DAP system to process applications and record actions and decisions. The system was created by and is maintained by State Government. 
Each Council is charged an annual levy to State Government to maintain this system which is proportionate to the value of development in 
that local government area. 

P
age 75



34 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Website Re-Design 

1. Is the PlanSA website easy 
to use? 

M M City of Adelaide does not have any specific concerns or 
recommendations at this stage in relation to the PlanSA website, 
however it is important to ensure any future changes ensure 
excellent user experience for community, industry and 
government. 

City of Adelaide recommends that 
any future changes to the PlanSA 
website should ensure excellent 
user experience, including for 
community, industry and 
government. 

2. What improvements to the 
PlanSA design would you 
make to enhance its 
usability? 

M M Refer to comment above. Refer to response to Question 1 – 
Website Redesign. 

Mobile Application for Submission of Building Notification and Inspections 

3. Would submitting building 
notifications and inspections 
via a mobile device make 
these processes more 
efficient?  

I H City of Adelaide encourages the creation of a mobile platform for 
builders to submit building notifications and inspection 
information to relevant authorities.  It is considered this will make 
it simpler and faster for builders to provide notification 
information which will, in turn, enable Council to deliver key 
building compliance statutory functions. 

City of Adelaide supports the 
creation of a mobile application for 
submitting building notification and 
inspections. 

4. Where relevant, would you 
use a mobile submission 
function or are you more 
likely to continue to use a 
desktop? 

I H Use of a mobile submission function would also be useful for 
City of Adelaide staff.  Council staff are likely to use the mobile 
platform in addition to accessing the Development Assessment 
Processing system via desktop. 

Refer to response to Question 3 – 
Mobile Application 

Online Submission Forms 

5. Is there benefit to simplifying 
the submission process so 
that a PlanSA login is not 
required? 

M L City of Adelaide is supportive of initiatives which simplify the 
interaction with the planning system.  It is recognised that 
appropriate processes will need to be in place to ensure 
accountability for users of the system if a PlanSA login is not 
required for some users. 

City of Adelaide recommends 
appropriate accountability processes 
should be in place if simplified 
application lodging processes are 
created by PlanSA. 

P
age 76



35 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

6. Does requiring the creation 
of a PlanSA login negatively 
impact user experience? 

M L The one-off investment of time to create a PlanSA login could be 
perceived as an obstacle for some users of the system, 
infrequent users of the system, and may deter some people 
from submitting development applications.  

City of Adelaide recognises that the system holds sensitive 
information and appropriate management and accountability 
checks and balances are necessary. 

Refer to response to Question 5 – 
Online Submission. 

7. What challenges, if any, may 
result from an applicant not 
having a logon with PlanSA? 

M L Not requiring a PlanSA login may increase the challenges 
associating with maintaining security and accountability of the 
Development Assessment Processing system and may also 
reduce the level of customer service that can be provided to 
applicants.  

Refer to response to Question 5 – 
Online Submission. 

 

Increase Relevant Authority Data Management 

8. What would be the 
advantages of increasing 
relevant authorities’ data 
management capabilities? 

M M City of Adelaide supports the ability of relevant authorities 
having greater ability to manage data within the Development 
Assessment Processing (DAP) system.  This could mean less 
reliance on PlanSA staff to make simple changes to 
development applications in the DAP.  City of Adelaide agrees 
this would need to be supported by a comprehensive application 
audit history to ensure system stability and integrity. 

City of Adelaide recommends that 
any increased ability of relevant 
authorities to manage data in the 
DAP should be supported by a 
comprehensive application audit 
history to ensure system stability 
and integrity. 

9. What concerns, if any, do 
you have about enabling 
relevant authorities to ‘self-
service’ changes to 
development applications in 
the DAP? 

M M City of Adelaide notes the Expert Panel’s recognition that 
enabling relevant authorities to ‘self-service’ changes to 
development applications in the Development Assessment 
Processing (DAP) system would need to be supported by a 
comprehensive application audit history, to ensure system 
stability and integrity. 

Refer to Recommendation for 
Question 8 – User Experience. 

Inspection Clocks 

10. What are the advantages of 
introducing inspection clock 
functionality? 

M H City of Adelaide is supportive of introducing inspection clock 
functionality because it would improve management, monitoring 
and reporting on inspection compliance. 

Expert Panel to introduce inspection 
clock functionality to improve 
management, monitoring and 
reporting on inspection compliance. 

P
age 77



36 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

11. What concerns, if any,  
would you have about clock 
functionality linked to 
inspections? 

M H City of Adelaide does not have any concerns with respect to 
clock functionality linked to inspections. 

Refer to response to Question 10 – 
Inspection Clocks. 

12. What, if any, impact would 
enabling clock functionality 
on inspections be likely to 
have on relevant authorities 
and builders? 

M H City of Adelaide considers enabling clock functionality on 
inspections will help relevant authorities and builders to manage 
and track in sections and workload priorities. 

Refer to response to Question 10 – 
Inspection Clocks. 

Collection of lodgement fee at submission 

13. Would you be supportive of 
the lodgement fee being 
paid on application, with 
planning consent fees to 
follow verification?  

I M City of Adelaide is supportive of lodgement fee being paid on 
application, with planning consent fees to follow verification. 

Expert Panel to enable lodgement 
fee paid on application with consent 
fees to follow verification. 

14. What challenges, if any, 
would arise as a 
consequence of ‘locking in’ 
the Code provisions at 
lodgement? How could 
those challenges be 
overcome? 

I M There could be advantages of locking in the policy at lodgement 
however it is recognised that the assessment pathway could 
change following verification, and the applicable policy may 
need to be revised. A technical-fix may be needed to 
retrospectively and accurately apply Planning and Design Code 
policies if a new version of the Code has commenced in the 
intervening period. 

Expert Panel to consider practical 
implications of locking in Code 
provisions at lodgement, in the event 
that the verification process 
identifies alternative assessment 
pathways and policy. 

Combined Verification and Assessment Processes 

15. What are the current system 
obstacles that prevent 
relevant authorities from 
making decisions on DTS 
and Performance Assessed 
applications quickly? 

M M Applications which follow a Deemed-to-Satisfy or Performance 
Assessed assessment pathway require initial planning 
assessment to determine whether they appropriately fit the 
criteria, in the context of the application and location.  This is a 
key role to ensure the planning system is working effectively. 

For straight-forward applications it is not possible to complete 
the verification and then proceed directly to assessment in the 
system because fees must be paid first.  

No recommendation. 

P
age 78



37 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

16. What would be the 
advantages of implementing 
a streamlined assessment 
process of this nature?  

 

M M Enabling the Development Assessment Processing system to 
more easily combine verification and assessment processes to 
streamline assessments would be supported by the City of 
Adelaide.  It would enable straight-forward applications to be 
assessed immediately after completing the verification process 
e.g. applications where all required documentation has been 
provided, no agency referrals and when public notification is not 
required. 

Expert Panel to enable a combined 
verification and assessment 
process. 

17. What, if any, impact would a 
streamlined assessment 
process have for non-council 
relevant authorities? 

- - No comment. No comment. 

Automatic Issue of Decision Notification Form 

18. What are the advantages of 
the e-Planning system being 
able to automatically issue a 
Decision Notification Form? 

L L City of Adelaide does not support automations at this stage. 
There are potentially too many errors in the system that need to 
be resolved before this could be pursued. 

City of Adelaide does not 
recommend pursuing automatic 
issuing of decision notification forms 
at this stage. 

19. What do you consider would 
be the key challenges of 
implementing an automatic 
system of this nature?  

L L Refer to response for Question 18 – Automatic Issue of Decision 
Notification Form. 

Refer to recommendation for 
Question 18 – automatic issue of 
Decision Notification Form. 

20. If this was to be 
implemented, should there 
be any limitations attached 
to the functionality (i.e., a 
timeframe for payment of 
fees or the determination will 
lapse)? 

L L Refer to response for Question 18 – Automatic Issue of Decision 
Notification Form. 

Refer to recommendation for 
Question 18 – automatic issue of 
Decision Notification Form. 

Building Notification through PlanSA 

21. Would you be supportive of 
mandating building 
notifications be submitted 
through PlanSA?  

I H City of Adelaide strongly supports mandating building 
notifications to be submitted through PlanSA. 

All relevant people should be provided with a PlanSA login to 
enable notification via the Planning Portal.  It might need 

Expert Panel strongly encouraged to 
mandate building notifications to be 
submitted through PlanSA. 

P
age 79



38 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

guidance built into the system for people who are unfamiliar with 
the Development Assessment Processing system. 

22. What challenges, if any, 
would arise as a 
consequence of removing 
the ability for building 
notifications to be received 
by telephone or in writing to 
a relevant council? How 
could those challenges be 
overcome? 

I H Council suggests that if the ability for building notifications to be 
received by telephone or in writing to Council is removed, the 
replacement notification system needs to be easy to use or it 
won’t be used by builders.  

If the new system isn’t used by builders there could be an 
increased failure to notify, especially if a back-up system for 
notification isn’t provided. 

Barriers to using the portal need to be addressed in the design 
of the system.  For example, a user-friendly mobile app for 
notification will be key to success. 

It is suggested that the notification system could be designed to 
send emails/texts to builders prompting them to notify at key 
stages.  This could also include useful links embedded in the 
reminders to make it mobile-friendly to respond easily.  

It would be useful to have the ability to send a timely reminder to 
notify e.g. 1 week after development approval has been granted 
followed by reminders if needed. It would also be helpful to 
provide a text/email reminder that failure to notify of status could 
result in an expiation (e.g. fine). 

Expert Panel to ensure notification 
system is easy to use and consider 
inclusion of prompt texts/emails at 
key stages. 

23. Would this amendment 
provide efficiencies to 
relevant authorities?  

I H Council considers this amendment would assist in receiving key 
information which triggers mandatory inspections and resulting 
efficiencies for relevant authorities. 

No recommendation.  

Remove Building Consent Verification 

24. Would you be supportive of 
removing the requirement to 
verify an application for 
building consent? 

L L City of Adelaide is not supportive of the proposal to remove the 
requirement for verifying an application for building consent. In 
circumstances where inadequate and incomplete documentation 
is provided, the verification stage enables this to be addressed 
early and quickly, which prevents more time-consuming issues 
later in the assessment process.  

Expert Panel to discourage removal 
of requirement to verify an 
application for building consent. 

P
age 80



39 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

25. What challenges, if any, 
would arise as a 
consequence of removing 
building consent verification? 
How could those challenges 
be overcome? 

L L Removing the verification stage for building consents is likely to 
result in the need to address documentation shortfall at the 
Request for information (RFI) stage during the assessment.  

Early provision of correct documentation during the verification 
stage can save time for applicants, as well as for assessors. 
Removing the verification stage could result in circumstances 
where an applicant may invest a lot of time and money providing 
incorrect documentation. 

Refer to recommendation for 
Question 24 – Remove building 
consent verification. 

Concurrent Planning and Building Assessment 

26. What would be the 
implications of enabling 
multiple consents to be 
assessed at the same time? 

L L Council considers that enabling planning and building consents 
could, in theory, work for simple applications. However, it is 
critically important to have an efficient work-flow process. 
Changes in documentation during planning assessment can 
have implications for building assessment, and take longer to 
assess in parallel for more complex applications. 

Expert Panel to recognise that 
enabling concurrent planning and 
building assessment could increase 
the time for assessment, especially 
for more complex applications.  

Innovation 

Automatic Assessment Checks for Deemed To Satisfy Applications 

1. What do you consider would 
be the key benefits of 
implementing an automatic 
system of this nature? 

L L City of Adelaide does not support automations at this stage. 
There are potentially too many errors in the system that need to 
be resolved before this could be pursued. 

Expert Panel to not consider 
automatic assessment checks for 
Deemed-to-Satisfy applications at 
this stage. 

2. What do you consider would 
be the key challenges of 
implementing an automatic 
system of this nature? 

L L City of Adelaide does not support automations at this stage. 
There are potentially too many errors in the system that need to 
be resolved before this could be pursued. 

Refer to recommendation for 
Question 1 – Automatic Assessment 
Checks for Deemed To Satisfy 
Applications. 

3. Would you be supportive of 
the Government investing in 
developing this technology 
so that it may integrate with 
the e-Planning system? 

L L City of Adelaide does not support automations at this stage. 
There are potentially too many errors in the system that need to 
be resolved before this could be pursued. 

Refer to recommendation for 
Question 1 – Automatic Assessment 
Checks for Deemed To Satisfy 
Applications. 

P
age 81



40 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

3D Modelling for Development Application Tracker and Public Notification 

4. What do you consider would 
be the key benefits of the e-
Planning system being able 
to display 3D models of 
proposed developments? 

I H City of Adelaide supports enabling the e-Planning system 
displaying 3D models of proposed developments.  This will 
assist development assessment and enable community to 
visualise proposed developments.  It will also inform policy 
development and strategic planning. 

Expert Panel encouraged to enable 
the e-planning system to display 3D 
models of proposed development. 

5. Do you support requiring 
certain development 
applications to provide 3D 
modelling in the future? If 
not, why not? If yes, what 
types of applications would 
you support being required 
to provide 3D modelling?  

I H City of Adelaide supports enabling the e-Planning system 
displaying 3D models of proposed developments.  As a starting 
point, applications which are assessed by the State Commission 
Assessment Panel and/or referred to the Government Architect 
(currently developments over $10m in the City of Adelaide) 
should be required to provide 3D modelling. 

Refer to response to Question 4 – 
3D Modelling for Development 
Application Tracker and Public 
Notification 

6. Would you be supportive of 
the Government investing in 
developing this technology 
so that it may integrate with 
the e-Planning system? 

I H City of Adelaide is supportive of the Government investing in 
developing this technology so it may integrate with the e-
Planning system. 

Refer to response to Question 4 – 
3D Modelling for Development 
Application Tracker and Public 
Notification 

Augmented Reality Mobile Application 

7. Would you be supportive of 
the Government investing in 
developing this technology 
so that it may integrate with 
the e-Planning system? 

M M City of Adelaide is supportive of State Government investing in 
augmented reality mobile applications. This will assist 
development assessment and enable community to visualise 
proposed developments.  It will also inform policy development 
and strategic planning. 

Expert Panel encouraged to enable 
the e-planning system to integrate 
with Augmented Reality Mobile 
Application. 

Accessibility through Mobile Applications 

8. Do you think there is benefit 
in the e-Planning system 
being mobile friendly, or do 
you think using it only on a 
computer is appropriate? 

I M City of Adelaide is supportive of enabling the e-Planning system 
to be mobile-friendly. 

Expert Panel encouraged to enable 
the e-Planning system being mobile 
friendly. 

P
age 82



41 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

9. Would you be supportive of 
the Government investing in 
developing this technology 
so that the PlanSA website 
and the e-Planning system is 
functional on mobile? 

I M City of Adelaide is supportive of enabling the e-Planning system 
to be mobile-friendly. 

 

Refer to response to Question 8 – 
Accessibility through Mobile 
Applications. 

Additional City of Adelaide comments 

Development Assessment 
Processing System – plan 
storage capacity and automating 
the process of combining plans 
from applicants 

M M City of Adelaide considers it would be helpful for the 
Development Assessment Processing system to: 

• Enable greater storage capacity of plans. 
• Automatically combine multiple documents received from 

an applicant. 

 

Expert Panel to suggest 
improvements to Development 
Assessment Processing system to 
enable greater storage capacity for 
plans and ability to automatically 
combine documents received from 
an applicant. 

Streamline Payment of 
Compliance Fees 

M H Context 

When Council is the relevant authority for planning and building 
consent, the applicant receives two invoices from Council: 

• Invoice 1 - Lodgement and planning assessment fees 
• Invoice 2 - Building assessment fee and compliance fee. 

When a private building certifier is engaged to undertake the 
building assessment, the applicant receives three invoices: 

• Invoice 1 – Lodgement and planning assessment fees 
(issued by Council) 

• Invoice 2 – Building assessment fee (issued by private 
building certifier) 

• Invoice 3 – Compliance Fee (issued by Council). 

Issue 

Some applicants do not pay Invoice 3 – Compliance Fee for 
some time, despite follow up from Council.  Development 
approval cannot be issued until the third invoice is paid.  
Applicants express concern they have not received final 
approval. 

Expert Panel to encourage 
improvements to the Development 
Assessment Processing system to 
ensure compliance fees are paid in 
a timely manner when building 
assessment is undertaken by a 
private building certifier. 

P
age 83



42 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Suggestion 

Consider improving the customer experience by mandating the 
compliance fee to be charged at the building assessment stage, 
regardless of whether Council or a private building certifier is 
undertaking the building assessment. 

Alternatively, consider reducing administration time and avoid 
delays for applicants by automating reminder emails to 
applicants to ensure the compliance fee is paid and enable the 
Development Approval to be issued. 

Streamline input of ABS building 
data 

M M At the building assessment stage, there is a requirement to 
enter information (e.g. roof type, building use etc.) to enable the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) to collate information. 

• If Council is undertaking the building assessment this is 
undertaken as required. 

• If a private building certifier is undertaking the building 
assessment, this information for ABS is not being entered 
as required. 

The ABS information must be entered before development 
approval can be granted, so Council ends up undertaking this 
task instead of the private building certifier. 

It is suggested that it would increase efficiency and avoid delays 
by mandating that the ABS data is populated by the private 
building surveyor during the building assessment stage. 

Expert Panel to recommend 
mandating private building certifiers 
to input information required for 
Australian Bureau of Statistics at the 
building assessment stage. 

P
age 84



43 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

Sharing Access M M Council administration (and Plan SA) are frequently receiving 
requests from applicants and application contacts asking for 
access to the portal.  This is because the application was lodged 
and managed on their behalf by another party (for example, an 
architect).  

The other party can formally share access with other contacts 
via a sharing code they are issued by email.  However, the 
sharing action is frequently not undertaken by the main contact 
person and Council is contacted to assist.   

Unfortunately, Council does not have permissions to share 
access with other application contacts and is unable to assist. 

It is suggested that Councils should be provided with the ability 
to share access to an application to other contacts, on the 
condition that either: 

• The person requesting access is on the contacts list for the 
application; or 

• That person has written permission from the other party to 
access the application.  

Expert Panel to recommend 
improvements to the Development 
Assessment Processing system to 
enable key application contacts to 
access application information. 

Building Indemnity Insurance I H There is a requirement for Council to ensure receipt of a copy of 
Builders Indemnity Insurance (BII) from the applicant or builder 
prior to commencing approved domestic building work costing 
$12,000 or more.  This protects the owner or consumer and 
future owners.  

Council is also required to include the Building Indemnity 
Insurance as part of the data extracted about a property or land 
for a Section 7 search.  

The Development Assessment Processing system has a 
specific tab/section for uploading the Building Indemnity 
Insurance.  Uploading this information in this specific location in 
the Development Assessment Processing system enables it to 
be accurately extracted as part of a Section 7 search. 
Unfortunately, this information is sometimes incorrectly 
uploaded to the system in the incorrect location, e.g. in the 
documents” section. 

 

Expert Panel to recommend 
improvements to the Development 
Assessment Processing system to 
ensure Building Indemnity Insurance 
information is uploaded correctly to 
improve the accuracy of Section 7 
searches. 

P
age 85



44 
 

Question Urgency 
Immediate 

Medium 
Long term 

Concern 
High 

Medium 
Low 

City of Adelaide (CoA) comment Next Steps 

It is suggested the Development Assessment Processing 
system could be improved by the inclusion of a prompt which 
encourages the Building Indemnity Insurance information to be 
uploaded in the correct location and ensures the Section 7 
extract includes this key information. 

 
 

P
age 86



Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Submission to the Review of the Late 
Night Trading Code of Practice 
 
Strategic Alignment - Thriving Communities 

Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis - Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

On 5 December 2022, the State Government, through Consumer and Business Services, announced a review of 
the Late Night Trading Code of Practice (Late Night Code) under the Liquor Licensing Act 1997 (SA). The State 
Government invited submissions to the review by 20 January 2023. The State Government has confirmed the City 
of Adelaide can provide a submission in February 2023. 

This report provides a draft submission for Council’s consideration (Attachment A).  

The City of Adelaide’s draft submission supports the Late Night Code as an effective policy instrument to reduce 
alcohol-related harm in and around licensed venues. The draft submission supports the continuation of the Late 
Night Code and provides recommendations to support venues to trade while enhancing perceptions of safety and 
enjoyment for city users. These recommendations include: 

  Mandating training to build organisational capacity to support and contribute to bystander action to prevent 
violence against women 

  The provision of visible, within venue, information about late night transport options 

  The exclusion of restaurants and small venues from the requirement to purchase and operate a metal 
detector 

  Maintaining the existing requirement to cease alcohol service and consumption to outdoor areas with public 
access from 2:01am 

  Maintaining the existing Late Night Restricted Entry (or lockout). 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT COUNCIL: 

1. Endorses the submission under the Liquor Licensing Act 1997 (SA) Review of the Late Night Trading 
Code of Practice included as Attachment A to Item 10.2 on the Agenda for the meeting of Council held on 
31 January 2023. 

2. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to amend, finalise and submit the submission to the Liquor and 
Gambling Commissioner included as the letter in Attachment A to Item 10.2 on the Agenda for the 
meeting of Council held on 31 January 2023. 

 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 10.2



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Thriving Communities  
1.4 Develop diverse places, and facilities with and for young people. 

Policy 

The City of Adelaide’s Safer City Policy 2019-2023 supports the delivery of safety 
outcomes that align with the intent of the Late-Night Code of Practice. City of Adelaide’s 
Liquor Licensing Policy encourages development applicants to align their hours of 
operation with policy hours which limit later night activity to Hindley Street east. 
The City of Adelaide’s draft submission is informed by the Late Night West End Safety 
Audit data, resident and city user surveys, analysis of Council’s complaint database, 
Council’s safety data, Lord Mayor’s Hindley Street Round Table, and the Gender Equality 
Project Steering Committee. 

Consultation The City of Adelaide promoted the State Government’s consultation with business and 
community members via social media, existing stakeholder networks and on the website. 

Resource Not as a result of this report  

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative Not as a result of this report  

Opportunities To influence the State Government Review of the Late-Night Trading Code of Practice.  

22/23 Budget 
Allocation Not as a result of this report  

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Not as a result of this report  

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report  

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report  

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report  

 

 

Page 88



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
 

1. The Late Night Trading Code of Practice (Late Night Code) was introduced by the State Government in 2013 
under the Liquor Licensing Act 1997 (SA), to address safer trading in late night licensed venues and the 
impact of alcohol-related harm.  

2. The Late Night Code applies state-wide and includes a successful range of measures that regulate alcohol 
consumption and late night trading in venues that operate between the hours of 2:00 am and 7:00 am, 
including: 

2.1. Drink marshals and first aid officers in venues after 2:00 am 

2.2. A ban on drinking alcohol on footpaths after 2:00 am 

2.3. A ban on ‘shooters’, ‘doubles’, ‘laybacks’ and similar types of drinks after 2:00 am 

2.4. A lockout that stops people from entering or re-entering venues after 3:00 am, excluding the Casino 
and restaurants. 

3. In the city, the Late Night Code forms part of a suite of safety measures by the City of Adelaide and the State 
Government to encourage safer activities in and around late night venues, predominantly Hindley Street.  

4. On Monday, 5 December 2022, Consumer and Business Services released the Review of the Late-Night 
Trading Code of Practice (Link 1 and Link 2) for consultation.  The consultation closed on Friday 
20 January 2023. The City of Adelaide received an extension until February 2023 to enable Council’s 
consideration of a submission.  

5. The review aims to: 

5.1. Assess whether the Late Night Code has successfully reduced alcohol-related harm in and around 
licensed venues 

5.2. Assess whether the Late Night Code has resulted in any unintended consequences 

5.3. Provide recommendations (if any) for amendments to the Late Night Code. 

6. City of Adelaide’s draft submission supports the Late Night Code as an effective policy instrument to reduce 
alcohol-related harm in and around licensed venues.   

7. A summary of proposed feedback to enhance and further improve the Late Night Code is provided below: 

7.1. The City of Adelaide supports an amendment to the Code to require mandatory employee training in 
Bystander Intervention training; and provision of information about late night transport options. 

7.2. The City of Adelaide supports an amendment to the Code to require drink marshals to undertake 
specialist training; and be informed of services available to assist patrons leaving venues late at night 
and returning home.  

7.3. The City of Adelaide supports the existing policy to cease alcohol service and consumption to outdoor 
areas with public access from 2:01 am. To support this, Council Outdoor Dining permits require 
furniture to be removed from the footpath from 3:00 am.  This assists dispersal from the area and 
reduces the potential for the congregation of persons who were unable to gain entry to the venue after 
3:00 am.  Note that this does not apply to existing fixed furniture.  

7.4. The City of Adelaide supports consideration of amendments to the Code to exclude restaurants and 
small venues from the requirement to purchase and operate a metal detector. The existing policy may 
act as a disincentive for restaurants and small venues to remain open after midnight. 

7.5. The City of Adelaide supports existing policy to restrict entry to venues between 3:01am and 7:00 am 
at all times when open for trade.  Maintaining the Late-Night Restricted Entry (or lockout) enables 
venues to continue trading until their approved closing time by providing a well-managed environment 
within the venue. 

8. Anecdotally, City of Adelaide is aware that some businesses and communities including venues and late 
night traders may seek an end to the ‘lockout’ measures. 

9. The premise for the Late Night Restricted Entry or lockout is to enable a venue to continue to trade for their 
approved operating hours with the responsible service of alcohol.  Patrons are required to make a decision 
about where they will end their night before 3:00am. The model contrasts with other states where a last 
drinks model requires drinks service to stop at 3:00am. 

 

Page 89

https://www.cbs.sa.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/late-night-trading-code-of-practice-liquor.pdf?timestamp=1664173108337
https://yoursay.sa.gov.au/late-night-code-review


 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

Perceptions of Safety in the City 
10. Council’s Resident Survey 2020 indicates varying perceptions of safety in the city at night (Link 3). Women 

are significantly less likely to feel comfortable walking places in the evening compared with men. The survey 
indicated that 95% of respondents feel comfortable walking in their local neighbourhood by day, which drops 
to 63% in the evening. 

11. In 2021, city users were asked about their perceptions of safety at different times of the day and night 
through Council’s City User Profile (Link 4). These questions were previously asked in 2018 and 2016. In 
2021: 

11.1. Most city users (98%) felt safe in the city during the day 

11.2. Despite more people visiting the city late at night, fewer city users felt safe during this time.  

11.3. Of those who were in the city after 1:00 am, only 54% felt 'very safe' or 'quite safe' compared to 71% in 
2018.  In contrast, slightly more people felt safe in the city between 8:00 pm and 1:00 am in 2021 
compared to 2018 (80% vs 76%). 

Other Safety Initiatives 
12. The City of Adelaide works with the State Government to implement a range of other safety initiatives that 

support a safer city late at night. These include: 

12.1. Good lighting to ensure visibility while creating feelings of ambience and perceptions of safety.   

12.2. The City Safe CCTV network provides real time monitoring of the entertainment precinct by SA Police. 

12.3. West End late night safety audits, conducted at times when the area is anticipated to be most vibrant 
(for example, Saturday nights in March from midnight-4:00 am).  These audits use Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design (CPTED) assessment to make improvements to infrastructure and 
work with stakeholders to improve perceptions of safety.  Safety Audit data from 2010-2022 suggests 
that the locations ranked as most unsafe are consistently located in the vicinity of venues that operate 
after 3:00 am.  

12.4. The Home Zone (established in 2020) provides three safer, well-lit spaces on Currie and King William 
Streets (monitored by CCTV, Police and Encounter Youth Patrols) for young people to wait for 
collection by a family member or friend while others wait for after-midnight buses. 

12.5. Managed Taxi Ranks were reintroduced by State Government in 2022, providing a managed space 
with good lighting and CCTV where patrons can queue in an orderly manner for a taxi. 

12.6. The Encounter Youth Hindley Street Program (funded by the State Government) is a peer support 
program operated by volunteers to respond to the complex issues faced by young people who may 
become vulnerable due to intoxication.  

12.7. The Hindley Street Police station, which allocates resources to policing the West End supports real 
time intervention for violence and anti-social behaviour associated with intoxication. 

12.8. The Declared Public Precinct ‘City West’ was introduced on 10 November 2017, provides additional 
powers to SA Police (including metal detection search, drug detection and banning people who pose a 
risk to public order and safety) at designated hours. 

12.9. Maintaining a clean and high-quality streetscape can influence people using the late-night precinct.  
Significant effort is made to refresh the late-night precinct prior to the new day starting to reduce 
conflict between the night and daytime economies.  

12.10. Project Night Light, led by the City of Adelaide, is partnering with twelve hospitality venues to run a 
pilot program to help improve women’s safety in licensed premises. Each venue has participated in a 
safety assessment and bystander intervention training for employees and continues participation in a 
‘champions network’ for peer support and collective action. The pilot uses a primary prevention model 
which highlights the role gender inequality plays in driving violence against women.  

CoA Strategic and Policy Opportunities 
13. The City of Adelaide Safer City Policy 2019-2023 and Safer City Action Plan 2019-2023, are scheduled for 

review in 2023 and Council will have the opportunity to workshop its policy and strategic response to safety 
in its first term. 

14. Work has commenced on the developing of a strategic response to the night time economy (NTE) to enact 
Council’s decision made on 14 June 2022, Item 10.2 – Rebuilding Adelaide’s Night Life. 

 

Page 90

https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/survey-report-resident-2020-Report.pdf?mtime=20210108122214&focal=none
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/report-city-user-profile-2021.pdf?mtime=20220421180738&focal=none?mtime=20220421180738&focal=none


 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

15. The City of Adelaide is progressing with work in response to the Council decision on 14 June 2022 to 
formulate an approach for seeking advice on the Night Time Economy Advisory and the creation of a 24 
Hour Strategy.  Through conversations with key stakeholders, including the State Government, this work 
could be achieved through existing or modified committee structures and advice will be brought to Council on 
this approach. 

 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Link 1 -  Late Night Trading Code of Practice  

Link 2 - Late Night Trading Code of Practice (Late Night Code) Review | YourSAy 

Link 3 - Resident Survey 2020 (page 27 and 28) 

Link 4 - City User Profile  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

Attachment A - Submission - Review of the Late Night Trading Code of Practice  

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 91

https://www.cbs.sa.gov.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/late-night-trading-code-of-practice-liquor.pdf?timestamp=1664173108337
https://yoursay.sa.gov.au/late-night-code-review
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/survey-report-resident-2020-Report.pdf?mtime=20210108122214&focal=none
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/report-city-user-profile-2021.pdf?mtime=20220421180738&focal=none?mtime=20220421180738&focal=none


Enquiries: XXXXX 
Reference: XXXXX 
 
 
XX February 2023 
 
 
Commissioner Dini Soulio 
Attorney General’s Department  
GPO Box 1815 
ADELAIDE SA 5001 
 
By email: CBSReforms@sa.gov.au  
 
 
Dear Commissioner Soulio,  
 
City of Adelaide’s Submission – Review of SA’s Liquor Licensing Late Night 
Trading Code of Practice (Late Night Code) 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide a submission on the Review of South Australia’s 
Liquor Licensing Late Night Trading Code of Practice (Late Night Code).   

Council considered the Late Night Code at its meeting on 31 January 2023 and continues 
to support the Code as an effective policy instrument to reduce alcohol-related harm in 
and around licensed venues.  

A summary of feedback under relevant sections of the Late Night Code is provided 
below. 

Part 2, Section 7 – Required training and practices 
City of Adelaide supports amendment to the Code to require mandatory employee 
training in Bystander Intervention training; and provision of information about late night 
transport options. 

Training of relevant venue staff in Bystander Intervention seeks to reduce opportunities 
for sexual assault and gender inequality. This can be implemented through existing 
training options such as Responsible Service of Alcohol. The training should also 
reference broader discrimination including racism, ageism, and ableism. 

The Code could require venues to provide patron information about late night transport in 
relevant formats at a relevant time. For example, including information about the Home 
Zone, After Midnight Bus and Managed Taxi Ranks on screens around the venue after 
midnight on Saturday nights. 

Part 2, Section 7 – Drink marshal 
City of Adelaide supports amendment to the Code to require drink marshals to undertake 
specialist training in Bystander Intervention; and be informed of services available to 
support patrons leaving venues late at night and returning home. 

Drink marshals play an important role in moderating behaviours in venues and there is 
opportunity to support positive bystander intervention to prevent sexism, sexual assault 
and harassment and increase gender equality in venues. Such training could be modelled 
on the City of Adelaide’s Project Night Light Gender Equality Training  

Page 92

Attachment A

mailto:CBSReforms@sa.gov.au


Drink marshals should be provided with information about safer dispersal options to 
ensure that they can effectively direct patrons leaving the venue to late night public 
transport, ride share collection points and Managed Taxi Ranks. 

Part 2, Section 10 – Footpaths and other outdoor areas 

City of Adelaide supports existing policy to cease alcohol service and consumption to 
outdoor areas with public access from 2:01am. To support this, Council Outdoor Dining 
permits require furniture to be removed from the footpath from 3am.  This supports 
dispersal from the area and reduces the potential for congregation of persons who were 
unable to gain entry to the venue after 3am.  Note that this does not apply to existing 
fixed furniture.  

Part 3, Section 11 – Entry onto licensed premises and use of metal detectors 
City of Adelaide supports consideration of amendments to the Code to exclude 
restaurants and small venues from the requirement to purchase and operate a metal 
detector. The existing policy may act as a disincentive for restaurants and small venues 
to remain open after midnight. 

Part 4, Section 13 – Late night restricted entry 
City of Adelaide supports existing policy to restrict entry to venues between 3:01am and 
7:00am at all times when open for trade.  The practice of Late-Night Restricted Entry (or 
lockout) enables venues to continue trading until their approved closing time by providing 
a well-managed environment within the venue) and supports safety outcomes for all 
patrons by: 

  Reducing movement between venues by intoxicated persons  

  Removing the opportunity for severely intoxicated persons to repeatedly seek 
entry to venues after being refused entry by other venues after 3am  

  Requiring security within each venue to manage their patrons and reduce 
opportunities for anti-social or criminal behaviour within venues 

  Leading to less eviction that can often result in unmanaged violence between 
intoxicated people in the public realm 

  Encouraging venues to manage intoxication of patrons by encouraging them to 
drink steadily rather than excessively. 

I trust this information assists with the review of the Late Night Code and the City of 
Adelaide looks forward to hearing the outcome of your review. 

Please contact Sarah Gilmour, Associate Director Park Lands, Policy & Sustainability on 
8203 7033 or s.gilmour@cityofadelaide.com.au to discuss this submission further.  

 
Kind regards 
 
 
 
Clare Mockler 
Chief Executive Officer

Page 93

mailto:s.gilmour@cityofadelaide.com.au


Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Community Impact Grants and 
Community Infrastructure Grants  
Round One 
 
Strategic Alignment - Thriving Communities 

Program Contact:  
Jennifer Kalionis, Associate 
Director City Culture 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis - Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The City of Adelaide funds the community through the Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships 
Program. Four grant initiatives form part of this program. 

Quick Response Grant (up to $2,000) 

Community Impact Grant Round 1 and 2 (up to $25,000) 

Community Infrastructure Grant (up to $100,000) 

Strategic Partnerships (up to $50,000 per year for three years)  

The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval for grant allocations for Round One of the 2022/23 
Community Impact Grants, and the 2022/23 Community Infrastructure Grants.  

The Chief Executive Officer determines recommendations for Community Impact Grants under $10,000. 

All grant applications across these two rounds are above $10,000 and are included in this report for noting. 

In the second half of 2023, a report will be prepared on all current City of Adelaide and Adelaide Economic 
Development Agency (AEDA) grants, partnerships, and sponsorships. That report will provide Council with the 
opportunity to comprehensively review these programs and to shape their future strategic direction and investment.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Approves the following 2022/23 Community Impact Grants recommendations over $10,000, as per 
Attachment A to Item 10.3 on the Agenda for the meeting of Council held on 31 January 2023: 

1.1. Adelaide Skate Park Activation, YMCA Community Programming - $25,000 

1.2. Art in the City, The Art Bus - $20,000 

1.3. Inland Water Safety Education and Capacity Building, Royal Life Saving Society SA - $20,000 

1.4. Makerspace Relaunch, South Australian Makers Incorporated - $20,000 

1.5. Gym for People Experiencing Homelessness, Baptist Care SA - $16,000. 

2. Approves the following 2022/23 Community Infrastructure Grants recommendations, as per Attachment B 
to Item 10.3 on the Agenda for the meeting of Council held on 31 January 2023: 

2.1. Adelaide Archery Club - $100,000. 

3. Notes the 2022/23 Community Impact Round One and Community Infrastructure Funding 
Recommendation report. 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 10.3



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 

City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Thriving Communities  
This report supports Council’s vision of Adelaide as the most liveable city in the world. The 
Community Impact Grants support the delivery of the Thriving Communities outcome. 

Policy The recommendations in this report align with the Community Impact Grants and Strategic 
Partnerships Guidelines [Link 1 view here]. 

Consultation Not as a result of this report 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Grant recipients are required to provide public liability insurance, sign a grant agreement 
that identifies the projects key deliverables and satisfactorily acquit their grant on project 
completion, including obtaining required approvals. 

Opportunities 
The Community Impact Grants extend the community value achieved by Council by 
enabling community organisations to deliver City of Adelaide’s strategic priorities according 
to individual and community needs and opportunities. 

22/23 Budget 
Allocation 

Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships program budget allocation for 
2022/23 is $760,000.  
$155,000 is allocated to Round One of Community Impact Grants, and $114,000 is 
allocated for the Community Infrastructure Grants. 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Grant recipients are funded annually and must acquit within two years. 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report.  Physical assets created as a result of this funding are 
maintained by the applicant who is responsible for the lifecycle costs of the asset. 

Other Funding 
Sources 

Other grant funding contributors, co-contributions and in-kind support from applicants will 
usually be included in applications for grants. 

 

 

Page 95

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Grants_Link_1.pdf


 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
1. The 2022/23 Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program has been confirmed and 

publicly announced, with the current rounds called between August and November 2022.  

2. A further report will be presented to Council on all current City of Adelaide and Adelaide Economic 
Development Agency (AEDA) grants, partnerships, and sponsorships. That report will provide Council with 
the opportunity to comprehensively review these programs and to shape their future strategic direction and 
investment. This work will occur during the second half of 2023. 

3. The guidelines used to assess the Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program were 
approved by Council at its meeting on 8 June 2021. These guidelines are also scheduled for review in June 
2025. 

4. The purpose of the Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program is to provide financial 
support to eligible clubs, groups, educational institutions, organisations and residents to contribute to the 
outcomes of Council’s Strategic Plan 2020-2024. 

5. The Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships program has a budget of $760,000 for 2022/23 
and consists of the following categories: 

Funding Category Allocations Budget 2022/23 

Quick Response Grants  up to $2,000  $50,000 
Community Impact Grants (two 
rounds) between $2,000-$25,000  $311,750 

Community Infrastructure Grants  up to $100,000  $114,000 

Strategic Partnerships  up to $50,000 per year for three years  $284,250 

Total funding for 2022/23 $760,000 
 

6. Round One of Community Impact Grants was open from 19 September 2022 to 31 October 2022: 

6.1. 19 applications were received, with requests totalling $351,565. All applications were received through 
the online grants platform SmartyGrants.  

6.2. The Grants Coordinator initially assessed the grant funding. Final recommendations were considered 
and proposed by an assessment panel consisting of the Manager City Lifestyle and Team Leaders 
from Community Wellbeing, Community Lifestyle and Social Planning and Reconciliation, and an 
external representative from the Local Government Association of South Australia. The assessment 
panel unanimously agreed on the recommendations made in this report. 

6.3. Two applications were deemed ineligible as they did not meet the necessary criteria of the Community 
Impact Grants: 

6.3.1. Australian Passive House Association, Adelaide's Ice Box Challenge. 

6.3.2. KWY Aboriginal Corporation, The National Aboriginal Child Safety and Domestic Violence 
Summit 2023: Strong Families, Safer Children. 

6.4. Four applications over $10,000 were not recommended for funding. A summary of these applications 
is provided at Link 2 view here. 

6.5. This report recommends five applications (as listed in Attachment A). All grant agreements are for 
one year. 

6.6. In December 2022, seven applications of $10,000 and under were approved through Chief Executive 
Officer delegation totalling $54,000, with one application in the $10,000 and under category not 
recommended for funding, Link 3 view here.  

7. The Community Infrastructure Grants 2022/23 category was open between 31 August 2022 and 
11 November 2022: 

7.1. Approximately $114,000 total is allocated to Community Infrastructure Grants in 2022/23. 

7.2. Eight applications were received, with requests totalling $494,418 and full project costs exceeding 
$910,000. All applications were received through the online grants platform SmartyGrants.  

Page 96

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Grants_Link_2.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Grants_Link_3.pdf


 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

7.3. The Grants Coordinator initially assessed the applications. Final recommendations were considered 
and proposed by an assessment panel consisting of the Manager of City Lifestyle and Team Leaders 
from Community Wellbeing and Community Lifestyle, and the Office for Recreation, Sport and Racing 
as an external representative. 

7.4. The assessment panel unanimously agreed on the recommendations made in this report. 

7.5. Five applications were not recommended for funding. A summary of these applications is provided at 
Link 4 view here. 

7.6. Three applications are recommended for funding in this report (as listed in Attachment B). 

8. The following table outlines the breakdown of allocations across the Community Impact Grants and Strategic 
Partnerships funding categories and amounts allocated remaining as at 31 January 2023.  

 Community 
Impact 

Community 
Infrastructure 

Quick 
Response 

Strategic 
Partnerships Total 

Approved through CEO 
Delegation $54,000 N/A $20,855 N/A $74,855 

Approved by Council 
2021/22 $25,000 $0 N/A N/A $25,000 

Approved multi-year 
funding N/A N/A N/A $159,250 $159,250 

Total previously 
approved $79,000 $0 $20,855 $159,250 $259,105 

Total recommended for 
approval via this report $101,000 $114,000 N/A N/A $215,000 

Remaining funds for 2022/23 if approved $285,895 

Total funding allocated for 2022/23 $760,000 

 

9. If all recommendations in the report are approved, $285,895 of the grant budget will remain. These funds will 
be expended through delivery of Strategic Partnerships, Community Impact Grants Round Two and 
Community Impact Quick Response Grants in the remainder of the 2022/23 financial year. Community 
Impact Grant opening dates for the rest of FY 2022/23 are detailed in the table below. 

 
Grant 

Category Open Close Anticipated Notification Key Information 

Quick 
Response 

24 August 
2022 

30 June 
2023 15 working days  

Applications for delivery from 
the start of summer 
(December) 2022 until 30 
June 2023 

Community 
Impact 
Round Two 
Up to $25k 

16 January 
2023 

24 February 
2023 

$10,000 and under 
Mid April 2023 
Over $10,000 
Mid May 2023 

Applications for delivery up 
to the end of the calendar 
year 2023 

Strategic 
Partnerships 
Up to $50k 
per year for 
three years 

1 December 
2022 

20 January 
2023 Mid-March 2023 

Negotiations with successful 
partners March to May 2023 
Projects should commence 
delivery from July 2023 

 

 

Page 97

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Grants_Link_4.pdf


 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 - Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Guidelines  
Link 2 - Summary of Community Impact applications – over $10,000 not recommended for funding  
Link 3 – Summary of Community Impact applications – $10,000 and under approved under Chief Executive Officer 
delegation  
Link 4 - Summary of Community Infrastructure applications – not recommended for funding 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Community Impact Grants – Round One January 2023 funding recommendations – over $10,000 
for Council approval 

Attachment B – Community Infrastructure Grants 2022 2023 funding recommendations – for Council endorsement 

 

- END OF REPORT -

Page 98



 
ATTACHMENT A - 2022/23 Community Impact Grants (Round One) Recommendations over $10,000 for Council Endorsement 

Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program  
The purpose of the Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program is to provide financial support to eligible clubs, groups, educational institutions, organisations and residents to ensure the outcomes 
of Council’s Strategic Plan are realised. 

Category – Community Impact Grants Round One 
FUNDING 
Maximum of $25,000 per application 
FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES  
Two rounds per year, funding permitting 
FUNDING AVAILABLE 
$101,000 is allocated to the Community Impact Grants Round One category 
PROGRAM PRIORITIES  
Activities, events, or programs in alignment with Council’s Community Wellbeing strategic priorities and supporting and contributing to five identified priority areas:  

Priority Description 

Welcoming Create opportunities for people to welcome newcomers into their local neighbourhood 

Participation Encourage residents and community groups to actively participate in their local city community 

Reconciliation Develop and strengthen Reconciliation practices.  Support, promote and share Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
cultures recognising the Kaurna people as traditional owners of the land 

Social Inclusion Deliver inclusive responses to meet the needs of isolated and marginalised groups 

Neighbourhood Connection Create opportunities for people to connect with each other. Celebration of diverse community and collaborations 

Applications focusing on young people aged 18–30 and older people 65+ are prioritised in 2022/23. 
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA  

Criteria Consideration Weighting 

The application identifies a clear benefit for the community, encouraging residents to access, engage and actively participate in their local community. 

The application demonstrates evidence and /or clear reason for why the project was developed 

Community Benefit 

A clear plan for identifying the target group is outlined 

40% 

The application identifies a clear outcome/s, which is aligned to the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan (2020 – 2024)  

The application achieves at least one of the five City Lifestyle impact streams  

Strategic Alignment 

The application demonstrates consideration of: 
  Environmental sustainability (see Environmental Leadership outcomes in the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2020-2024) 
  Inclusiveness of all members of our community and accessibility for all  
  Low or no cost for disadvantaged groups  

25% 

The application responds to one or more of the Community Impact Grants Program Priorities 

The application outlines measures that will be used to evaluate the impact the project has on the community 

Impact  

The application outlines a strategy for supporting participants to continue their participation beyond the project/program 

25% 

The application outlines a plan for delivery – including consideration of risk, integration with other partners and innovation Financial Risk  
The proposal represents good value for money for City of Adelaide 

10% 

Total 100% 

P
age 99

A
ttachm

ent A



 
ATTACHMENT A - 2022/23 Community Impact Grants (Round One) Recommendations over $10,000 for Council Endorsement 

COMMUNITY IMPACT GRANTS – DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUNDING (OVER $10K) – ROUND ONE:  

Organisation 
Name 

Project Name Total 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Project Description Recommendation & 
Supporting Comments 

Funding Conditions 

The Art Bus Art in the City 
– Creating 
Connections 
in ACC 
(working title) 

$25,720 $20,000 $20,000 Art in the City is a community impact project developed 
by The Art Bus. It offers opportunities for cross 
generational friendships through bringing together 
older city residents and international students for 
weekly visual art workshops and supported visits to 
social and cultural sites of the City of Adelaide. 
Activities will include:  
• Two programs of 12-week visual art workshops, two 
art tutors, weekly over 90 minutes at a city-based 
community centre.  
• 16 participants in each group, who will attend for 12 
weeks.   
• A call out will be undertaken for participants drawn 
from international students and older city residents. An 
activation at a welcome international student event.  
• Excursions built into Art in the City, and undertaken 
within city of Adelaide, include to AGSA and selected 
galleries and museums, Central Market, Botanic and 
Himeji Garden, one off events including Oz Asia, 
Dumpling Market.  
• Each 12-week workshop session will conclude with a 
celebratory lunch to share a meal and celebrate 
friendships. The table will be set with the hand printed 
tablecloths and decorated bowls which will be used 
during lunch.  
• Concluding Art in the City, an exhibition of portraits 
and photographs will be staged in a city gallery or other 
venue.  
  
Council funds will be used to: purchase art materials 
for workshops, fees for tutors/artists, images and text 
for online promoting, updating any clearances. 

A very well thought out 
project offering real 
community impact and 
chance of wellbeing 
improvement to older 
residents and 
international students. 
Opportunity to create 
community connections 
and improve potential 
social isolation. The 
panel suggests funding 
this project in two stages, 
with $10k offered for 
Workshop #1 and $10k 
approved for Workshop 
#2 pending successful 
delivery of Workshop #1.  
Recommended to 
approve full funding of 
$20,000. 

Funding is subject to The Art Bus:  
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule 
and key performance indicators set by the City of 
Adelaide  
2. Delivering 2 x 12-week workshops of Art in the 
City  
3. Ensuring the event is heavily promoted to 
international students living in the City, as well as 
older City residents  
4. Measuring the number of CoA residents 
attending the activities  
5. Use of approved Council logo on all marketing 
and promotional communications  
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with an 
evaluation report after Workshop #1, with the 
funding for Workshop #2 dependent on successful 
delivery of Workshop #1  
7. Providing the City of Adelaide with attendee 
qualitative feedback and acquittal information post 
implementation of the full program  
8. Provide one brief case study of a participant of 
the program, demonstrating the benefits of 
participation related to enhancing the participant’s 
wellbeing and social connectivity. The case study 
should include a quote from the participant.  
9. Investigate the possibility for an activation or 
promotion at Youth Week 2023, 24th March - 2nd 
April 2023. 

Baptist Care 
SA 

Gym for 
People 
Experiencing 
Homelessness 

$25,000 $25,000 $16,000 Baptist Care SA wish to run a yearlong program 
inviting the homeless and vulnerable populations of 
Adelaide to improve their health and wellbeing by 
providing free access to facilities and weekly fitness 
sessions. This project was run successfully in 2019 but 
halted due to Covid-19 lockdowns in 2020.   
The activities will occur at Westcare Gym and include:  
• Gym Inductions, administered by University of South 
Australia Physiotherapy Students.  
• Group fitness classes for people experiencing, or at 
risk of, homelessness. Administered by Pushing 
Performance  
• Individual sessions for people experiencing, or at risk 
of, homelessness. Administered by Certificate 3 
Fitness Students (SACE Students studying with 
Pushing Performance)  
• General gym use, supervised by Social Work 
Students  

Strong application 
servicing a vulnerable 
community with 
additional opportunity for 
council and support 
services to further 
connect with community. 
Letters of support 
provided from Flinders 
University, Uni SA and 
Baptist Care. Applied for 
$25k but as most of the 
budget is provided for 2 x 
personal training 
sessions per week 
applicant has indicated it 
could be reduced to 1 x 

Funding is subject to Baptist Care SA:  
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule 
and key performance indicators set by the City of 
Adelaide  
2. Delivering the Gym for Homeless People in 
March 2023 - March 2024  
3. Ensuring the event is heavily promoted to 
homeless or vulnerable community members in 
the City  
4. Maintaining an attendance record of each 
session to be provided to the Council at any time 
on request  
5. Use of approved Council logo on all marketing 
and promotional communications  
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the program  
7. Provide one brief case study of a participant of 
the program, demonstrating the benefits of 

P
age 100



 
ATTACHMENT A - 2022/23 Community Impact Grants (Round One) Recommendations over $10,000 for Council Endorsement 

Organisation 
Name 

Project Name Total 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Project Description Recommendation & 
Supporting Comments 

Funding Conditions 

  
Council funds will contribute to: personal trainers, 
equipment compliance checks, and management 
oversight. 

session per week for part 
funding.   
Recommended to 
approve part funding of 
$16,000 ($25,000 
requested) 

participation related to enhancing the participant’s 
wellbeing and social connectivity. The case study 
should include a quote from the participant. 

YMCA 
Community 
Programming 

Adelaide 
Skate Park 
Activation 

$25,000 $25,000 $25,000 The Victorian YMCA has applied for funding on behalf 
of the Action Sports team for this comprehensive 
activation at the City of Adelaide Skate Park, Gladys 
Elphick Park / Narnungga (Park 25).  
This project will be achieved through three key 
initiatives delivered in Adelaide between March 2023 to 
December 2023:   
1. Train-the-Trainer: Action Sports Coaching 
program for 4 local coaches  
2. All Aboard Skateboarding Sessions: 26 
Inclusive free skateboarding workshops  
3. Skate Park League: 1 grassroots competition 
event with Skate, Scoot, BMX & Inline disciplines  
  
Participation in all activities will be free and a key 
intention of this program is to provide specific programs 
for girls and women to increase participation.  
  
Council funds will be used for: marketing and 
promotion of Train the Trainer program to upskill local 
coaches, advertising and administration of programs 
and services, and upskilling local staff (18-24) to 
facilitate events and services 

An excellent application 
addressing the desire to 
activate the recently 
opened City of Adelaide 
Skate Park, promote 
healthy lifestyles to 
younger people, and 
increase the capability of 
the skate community in 
South Australia. With 31 
free events planned and 
1274 estimated 
attendees it is great 
value for money at <$20 
per head.   
Recommended to 
approve full funding of 
$25,000 

Funding is subject to Victorian YMCA and Action 
Sports Team:  
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule 
and key performance indicators set by the City of 
Adelaide  
2. Delivering the workshops as outlined in their 
application submission using local South 
Australian contractors   
3. Ensuring the program is heavily promoted to 
female participants and those of all skill level 
ability.   
4. Measuring the number of CoA residents 
attending the workshops  
5. Use of approved Council logo on all marketing 
and promotional communications  
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the program  
7. Conducting some of the program workshops at 
King Rodney Park / Ityamai-Itpina (Park 15) Skate 
Park.  
8. Engage local South Australian skate 
contractors for program delivery.   
9. Provide one brief case study of a participant of 
the program, demonstrating the benefits of 
participation related to enhancing the participant’s 
wellbeing and social connectivity. The case study 
should include a quote from the participant.  
10. Investigate the possibility for an activation or 
promotion at Youth Week 2023, 24th March - 2nd 
April 2023. 

ROYAL LIFE 
SAVING 
SOCIETY 
AUST SOUTH 
AUSTRALIA 
BRANCH INC 

Inland Water 
Safety 
Education and 
Capacity 
Building in 
Adelaide 

$36,055 $20,705 $20,000 After a successful outcome of Community Impact Grant 
2021/2022 The Royal Live Saving Society SA wishes 
to expand the skills of participants of the CALD 
community within the City of Adelaide by providing 
water safety education and swimming lessons that will 
lead into the development of Swim Teacher courses 
addressing industry shortages. The program will run 
from March until April 2023 and could accommodate up 
to 50 participants. 
This project will deliver in three main areas: 
• Participants will learn swim teaching knowledge and 
skills and in our training room at RLSSA in the 
Adelaide Aquatic Centre, where they will have the time 
to acquire the necessary information and skills and 

This program has 
evolved over a few years 
of funding to a very 
comprehensive and 
beneficial program 
servicing the CALD 
community. It increases 
the wellbeing, health, and 
social connection of 
participants while also 
providing qualified water 
safety officers to the 
wider community. While 
$400 per person is 

Funding is subject to The Royal Live Saving 
Society SA:  
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule 
and key performance indicators set by the City of 
Adelaide  
2. Delivering the Swim Teacher courses in March 
- April 2023  
3. Ensuring the program is heavily promoted to 
the CALD community  
4. Measuring the number of CoA residents 
attending the program  
5. Use of approved Council logo on all marketing 
and promotional communications  
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 

P
age 101



 
ATTACHMENT A - 2022/23 Community Impact Grants (Round One) Recommendations over $10,000 for Council Endorsement 

Organisation 
Name 

Project Name Total 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Project Description Recommendation & 
Supporting Comments 

Funding Conditions 

become proficient in teaching swimming classes. 
• The program will commence with 4 weeks of water 
safety education to ensure participants are comfortable 
in the water. 
• From week 4 to week 8 participants will learn a series 
of practical skills such as: CPR and First Aid, Water 
Rescue activities in the pool, and swim teaching skills. 
These skills will be sustainable as participants will be 
leaders and first responders within their communities 
and families in water safety and swimming education. 
 
Council funds will be used for: venue hire, instructor 
and facilitator costs, equipment for participants. 

reasonably high cost, the 
outcomes of this project 
are very high. 
Recommended to 
approve part funding of 
$20,000 ($20,705 
requested) 

acquittals post implementation of the program  
7. Provide one brief case study of a participant of 
the program, demonstrating the benefits of 
participation related to enhancing the participant’s 
wellbeing and social connectivity. The case study 
should include a quote from the participant.  
8. Investigate the possibility for an activation or 
promotion at Youth Week 2023, 24th March - 2nd 
April 2023. 

South 
Australian 
Makers 
Incorporated 

Makerspace 
Relaunch 

$79,000 $23,500 $20,000 South Australian Makers Incorporated have recently 
moved venues in the City and wish to apply for funding 
for the Makerspace Relaunch. Activities will include:  
• Promotional Events: monthly repair cafe;  Cosplay 
and Science Alive;  3D Printing Demonstrations   
• Educational Workshops: e.g. picture framing, 3D 
printing, Laser Cutting, Metal and Wood tech, 
Electronics, etc.  
• Volunteer Development: Cultural Diversity; Conflict 
resolution; First aid; Grant applications; Organisation 
leadership, IT System management, WHS.  
• STEM In-house and Outreach: The Science of 
Recycling, Design for Repairability, Design Thinking, 
Arduino projects  
• Meet and Make - local residents' invited to use the 
space  
  
Council funds will be used for: promotional material, 
web assets, events; volunteer training; contribution to 
new equipment; creating accessible training materials; 
prototyping new courses. 

A top-level proposal for a 
community lead and 
driven program of 
activations with a high 
opportunity for wider 
community involvement. 
While this proposal is 
light on some detail the 
panel acknowledges that 
Makerspace's activities 
are always of quality and 
are strongly aligned with 
community impact goals. 
A more comprehensive 
implementation plan will 
be required to be 
provided before funding 
is supplied. 
Recommended to 
approve part funding of 
$20,000 ($23,500 
requested) 

Funding is subject to South Australian Makers 
Incorporated:  
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule 
and key performance indicators set by the City of 
Adelaide  
2. Providing the City of Adelaide with a detailed 
schedule of activations and program budget prior 
to grant payment being processed.   
3. Delivering the Makerspace Relaunch program 
in 2023  
4. Ensuring the program is heavily promoted to 
wider City of Adelaide community  
5. Measuring the number of CoA residents 
attending the program  
6. Use of approved Council logo on all marketing 
and promotional communications  
7. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the program  
8. Provide one brief case study of a participant of 
the program, demonstrating the benefits of 
participation related to enhancing the participant’s 
wellbeing and social connectivity. The case study 
should include a quote from the participant.  
9. Investigate the possibility for an activation or 
promotion at Youth Week 2023, 24th March - 2nd 
April 2023. 

   Total: $101,000    

P
age 102



 
ATTACHMENT B - 2022/23 Community Infrastructure Grants funding recommendations for Council Endorsement 

Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Grants Program  
The purpose of the Community Impact Grants and Strategic Partnerships Program is to provide financial support to eligible clubs, groups, educational institutions, organisations and residents to ensure the outcomes 
of Council’s Strategic Plan are realised. 

Category – Community Infrastructure 
FUNDING 
Maximum of $100,000 per application 
FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES  
One round per year 
FUNDING AVAILABLE 
$114,000 is allocated to the Community Infrastructure category 
PROGRAM PRIORITIES  
Infrastructure improvements or new infrastructure contributing to Council’s key strategic themes:  

Priority Description 

Welcoming Create opportunities for people to welcome newcomers into their local neighbourhood 

Participation Encourage residents and community groups to actively participate in their local city community 

Reconciliation Develop and strengthen Reconciliation practices.  Support, promote and share Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures recognising the 
Kaurna people as traditional owners of the land 

Social Inclusion Deliver inclusive responses to meet the needs of isolated and marginalised groups 

Neighbourhood Connection Create opportunities for people to connect with each other. Celebration of diverse community and collaborations 

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 

Criteria Consideration Weighting 

The application identifies a clear benefit for the community and will lead to an increase in community access and/or participation. 

The application demonstrates evidence and /or clear reason for why the project was developed. 

The application addresses an identified need, gap or deficiency in the availability of facilities in the community. 

The application identifies a clear target group that will benefit from the project. 

Community Benefit 

The application identifies a clear plan to measure the benefit of the project. 

35% 

The application identifies a clear outcome/s, which is/are aligned to the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan (2020 – 2024)  Strategic Alignment 
The application demonstrates consideration of: 

  environmental sustainability (see Environmental Leadership outcomes in the City of Adelaide Strategic Plan 2020-2024) 
  inclusivity of all members of our community and accessibility for all. 

25% 

Quality Infrastructure The application demonstrates that the project will: 
  Increase community access 
  Increase a facility’s carrying capacity or participation 
  Provide fit for purpose facilities 
  Address a safety issue or disability access 
  Reduce the environmental footprint of the facility 
  Improve the aesthetic of a facility 

20% 

The application outlines a clear plan for delivery – including consideration of risk, integration with other partners and resources required. Financial Risk and Project 
Delivery The project proposed represents good value for money and Council will receive a good return on investment. 

20% 

Total 100% 

P
age 103

A
ttachm

ent B



 
ATTACHMENT B - 2022/23 Community Infrastructure Grants funding recommendations for Council Endorsement 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE GRANTS 2022/2023 – DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUNDING:  

Organisation 
Name 

Project 
Name 

Total 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

Amount 
Recommended 

Project Description Recommendation & 
Supporting Comments 

Funding Conditions 

Adelaide 
Archery Club 
Incorporated 

Adelaide 
Archery Club 
building 
extension for 
storage & 
upgraded 
toilet with 
improved 
façade 

$393,150 $100,000 $100,000 The Adelaide Archery Club is a prominent 
club in South Australia and the only archery 
club in the City of Adelaide. The Club has 
been seeking funding for a few years to 
upgrade their outdated facilities, including to 
increase their storage space (therefore 
being able to host more participants), 
upgrade their toilets to comply with 
accessibility requirements, and upgrade the 
exterior of the building to improve the 
aesthetic of the façade. 
The project has already received 
Development Approval from Council and 
incorporated aesthetic requirements at the 
request of the Planning Department. The 
Club is seeking further funding from the 
Office of Recreation, Sport and Racing, 
along with a co-contribution of $100k. 
Community Impact Grant Priority – 
Participation 

The panel noted the very 
high merit of this project 
along with the quality of 
their application, clearly 
displaying the need for the 
improvements. The 
requested investment would 
make a significant 
difference to the Club's 
offering, as well as 
improving the access and 
inclusion of the space. 
Recommended to approve 
full funding of $100,000. 

Funding is subject to Adelaide Archery Club: 
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule and key 
performance indicators set by the City of Adelaide 
2. Undertaking improvements to the leased facility in 
Bullrush Park / Warnpangga (Park 10) as approved by 
Council and as per the Development Approval 
3. Continuing to work closely with Council staff 
throughout the delivery of the project 
4. Providing a case study to the City of Adelaide which 
outlines how Adelaide Archery Club worked together 
with City of Adelaide staff to jointly plan and deliver the 
upgrade, including any learnings that may improve the 
effectiveness of future, similar partnerships 
5. Acknowledging Council grant funding on all public 
communications regarding the upgrade of the facility 
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the project including 
as constructed drawings of the improvements 

Club de 
Petanque 
d'Adelaide 
Inc. 

Installation of 
motorised 
retractable 
awnings 

$13,000 $8,000 $8,000 The installation of motorised retractable 
awnings will allow elderly players and 
clients/guests with mobility issues to be 
protected from rain and sun whilst entering 
and exiting the facility, in a safe 
environment. 
Community Impact Grant Priority – 
Participation 

A well written application 
clearily outlining the need 
for the improvements to 
increase the amenity of the 
facility. Retractable awnings 
will increase the 
accessibility of the venue for 
patrons and players to not 
be exposed to the elements. 
A low-cost, low risk project 
compared to other 
applications. The panel 
believes it will have a 
positive impact on the 
facility and is a worthwhile 
investment. 
Recommended to approve 
full funding of $8,000. 

Funding is subject to Club de Petanque d'Adelaide: 
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule and key 
performance indicators set by the City of Adelaide 
2. Purchasing and installing 2 x retractable awnings on 
the outside of the leased facility at Kurangga Park, Park 
20, in 2022 / 2023 FY 
3. Continuing to work closely with Council staff 
throughout the delivery of the project 
4. Receiving formal landlord consent and Development 
Approval 
5. Providing a case study to Council highlighting the 
impact of the new awnings in reinvigorating 
enthusiasm, commitment and participation of existing 
members and any connection between the new 
awnings and the return of previous members and/or 
attracting new members. The case study should include 
a quote from a club member. 
6. Acknowledging Council grant funding on all public 
communications regarding the installation of the 
retractable awnings 
7. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the project including 
as constructed drawings of the improvements 

South 
Australian 
United 
Church 
Netball 
Association 

SAUCNA 
Reconciliation 
Project Stage 
2 

$11,878 $9,000 $6,000 The South Australian United Church Netball 
Association Incorporated (SAUCNA) have 
applied for funding to complete Stage 2 of 
the rollout of their Reconciliation themed 
artwork on netball pole covers. Stage 1 of 
this project was completed through a part-
funded Community Impact Grant in 21/22 
FY. Currently the reconciliation themed 

Community feedback on 
this project has been of high 
quality and the panel 
believes that the project 
would have greater impact 
with completion of 
installation. 

Funding is subject to SAUCNA: 
1. Agreeing and adhering to the grant schedule and key 
performance indicators set by the City of Adelaide 
2. Purchasing and installing the additional 30 
reconciliation themed netball pole covers for use at 
SAUCNA Association Courts - Josie Agius Park / 
Wikaparntu Wirra (Park 22) in 2022 / 2023 FY 
3. Continuing to work closely with Council staff 

P
age 104



 
ATTACHMENT B - 2022/23 Community Infrastructure Grants funding recommendations for Council Endorsement 

Incorporated 
(SAUCNA) 

artwork is only on half of the SAUCNA pole 
covers that are displayed at each game. 
Community Impact Grant Priority – 
Reconciliation  

Recommended to approve 
part funding of $6000 to 
finalise the project, 
dependent on SAUCNA 
co-contributing to cover 
the full expense of Stage 
2. 

throughout the delivery of the project 
4. Providing a case study to the Council highlighting the 
impact of the new pole covers in reinvigorating 
enthusiasm for reconciliation within the club and its 
members, and any connection between the new pole 
covers and the attraction of new members to the club. 
5. Acknowledging Council grant funding on all public 
communications regarding the installation of the pole 
covers. 
6. Providing the City of Adelaide with reports and 
acquittals post implementation of the project 

   Total $114,000    

P
age 105



Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Nomination of Council Appointed 
Members to Kadaltilla 
 
Strategic Alignment - Environmental Leadership 

Program Contact:  
Sarah Gilmour, Associate 
Director Park Lands, Policy & 
Sustainability 

Public Approving Officer:  
Ilia Houridis - Director City 
Shaping 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

The purpose of this report is to recommend nominees for the two vacant positions for consideration by Council as 
members of Kadaltilla / Adelaide Park Lands Authority to be appointed by the City of Adelaide. 

Under the provisions of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) (the Act), the Board of Management comprises: 

  The Lord Mayor (as Presiding Member) or, if the Lord Mayor chooses not to be a member of the Authority, 
a person appointed by the City of Adelaide (as the Presiding Member) 

  Four other members appointed by the City of Adelaide 

  Five members appointed by the Minister (one of whom will be the Deputy Presiding Member). 

At its meeting held on 13 December 2022, Council noted the Lord Mayor’s acceptance of the statutory position as 
Presiding Member and approved two Council Member nominations (and two deputy member nominations). Council 
also resolved to undertake a further targeted selection process for the two vacant positions. 

In making appointments, the City of Adelaide and the Minister must, in consultation with each other, endeavour to 
achieve a membership with a range of knowledge, skills and experience as defined in the Act, as well as gender 
balance. 

In accordance with section 6(2) of the Act, appointments are made by notice in the Gazette. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT COUNCIL: 

1. Notes the requirements of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) concerning the knowledge, skills and 
experience of Members, as well as gender balance. 

2. Approves the nomination (contingent upon consultation with the Minister for Planning) of the following two 
persons to Kadaltilla for the period commencing 31 January 2023 and expiring 31 December 2025: 

2.1. Rob Brookman AM - consistent with the tourism or event management experience criterion 

2.2. Allison Bretones - consistent with the recreation or open space planning or management experience 
criterion. 

 
 

Page 106

Agenda Item 10.4



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
Appointment of members to the Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority supports key action 5.2 
‘Demonstrate bold governance leadership in the Local Government Sector’ and key 
action 5.8 ‘Implement new approaches to engaging the community in Council 
decision-making’. 

Policy Consistent with the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) and Kadaltilla Charter.  

Consultation 

The Minister for Planning and the City of Adelaide must consult with each other in making 
appointments to the Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority to achieve a range of knowledge, 
skills and experience across the following areas set out in section 6(3) of the Act. 
After the 13 December 2022 Council meeting, a targeted selection process was undertaken 
in January 2023. 

Resource Not as a result of this report 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Consistent with the provisions of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) and Kadaltilla 
Charter. 

Opportunities 
Appointments will provide for the continued activity of the Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority 
with an appropriate membership and skill set to provide valuable advice to the City of 
Adelaide and State Government on matters pertaining to the Park Lands. 

22/23 Budget 
Allocation Board Member remuneration funded through existing operating budget. 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Consistent with the Kadaltilla Charter, the appointments can be for a maximum period of 
three years (until 31 December 2025). 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

Page 107



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
 

Kadaltilla Legislative Framework and Purpose 
1. The Adelaide Park Lands Authority is established under section 5(2) of the Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 

(SA) (the Act) as a subsidiary of the City of Adelaide to provide strategic advice to both Council and the State 
Government on the management of the Adelaide Park Lands.  

2. As per its Charter, the Adelaide Park Lands Authority is known as the Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority 
(Kadaltilla).  

3. The role, functions and powers of Kadaltilla are set out in the Act and the Kadaltilla Charter (the Charter).  

Membership Requirements (Skills Based) as per Legislation / Charter 
4. Kadaltilla is required to have a Board of Management and, all meetings/decisions of Kadaltilla are deemed 

meetings/decisions of the Board.  

5. Under the provisions of the Act, the Board of Management is constituted by:  

5.1. The Lord Mayor or, if the Lord Mayor chooses not to be a member of the Authority, a person 
appointed by the Council  

5.2. Four other persons appointed by the Council  

5.3. Five persons appointed by the Minister.  

6. In making appointments, Council must, in consultation with the Minister, endeavour to achieve membership 
with a range of knowledge, skills, and experience as set out in section 6(3) of the Act:  

a) biodiversity or environmental planning or management  

b) recreation or open space planning or management  

c) cultural heritage conservation or management  

d) landscape design or park management  

e) tourism or event management  

f) indigenous culture or reconciliation  

g) financial management  

h) local government.  

7. Based on the skills composition of the Board and vacancies, the City of Adelaide should seek to prioritise 
members with knowledge, skills and experience in:  

e) tourism or event management  

g) financial management.  

8. Both Council and the Minister:  

8.1. Must appoint at least one man and one woman to the Board of Management  

8.2. May appoint Deputy members.  

9. The Deputy Presiding Member appointed by the Minister for Planning is Kirsteen Mackay - South Australian 
Government Architect and former chair of the SA Heritage Council, appointed under section 6(3)(b) of the 
Act for knowledge, skills and experience in cultural heritage conservation or management. 

Remuneration 

10. Kadaltilla’s Charter states in section 4.6.1 that:  

“The Authority is entitled to pay appropriate remuneration fees to Board Members as approved by the 
Council, including for participation on Committees established under this Charter”.  

11. At the Council meeting on 14 May 2019, Council endorsed sitting fees for Kadaltilla as follows:  

1. Approves remuneration for all Adelaide Park Lands Authority Board members based on meeting 
attendance. 

Page 108

https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/__legislation/lz/c/a/adelaide%20park%20lands%20act%202005/current/2005.69.auth.pdf
https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/__legislation/lz/c/a/adelaide%20park%20lands%20act%202005/current/2005.69.auth.pdf
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/docs/charter-adelaide-parklands-authority.pdf?mtime=20211028140400&focal=none


 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

2. Approves the continuation of the application of the State Government Remuneration Framework for 
Boards and Committees at Category 2, Level 2 for the Authority’s sitting fees, with:  

2.1. An adjustment in accordance with the average increase in ‘Average Weekly Earnings’ for the 
period 2008-2018, to take effect from 1 June 2019, and be adjusted in each subsequent year by 
the change in ‘Average Weekly Earnings’ for the preceding year.  

2.2. The application of the provision for the payment of 3 hours meeting preparation time (for each 
meeting attended), also to take effect from 1 June 2019.  

12. The current sitting fee for Kadaltilla Board Members is $82.78 per hour plus a preparation fee of $248.34 per 
meeting.  

Selection Process Summary and Outcome 

13. At its meeting on 13 December 2022, Council resolved to consult with the Minister for Planning on the 
following nominations: 

13.1. Councillor Keiran Snape as Member of the Board - consistent with the local government experience 
criterion 

13.2. Councillor Henry Davis as Deputy Member to Councillor Snape - consistent with the local government 
experience criterion 

13.3. Tania Taylor as Member of the Board - consistent with the indigenous culture or reconciliation 
experience criterion. 

13.4. Les Wanganeen as Deputy Member to Ms Taylor - consistent with the indigenous culture or 
reconciliation experience criterion. 

14. The Minister for Planning endorsed the nominations on 11 January 2023. 

15. A further targeted selection process based on a relevant skills criterion was undertaken in January 2023. 

16. Following the expression of interest process and targeted selection process, the following nominations have 
been received: 

16.1. Rob Brookman AM - former Executive Director, Adelaide Festival and current Kadaltilla Board 
Member. 

16.2. Allison Bretones - Executive Officer Parks and Leisure Australia (SA/NT region), current Kadaltilla 
Board Member and Recreation Planner who has worked for over 15 years at a senior management 
level in the Parks and Recreation industry. 

16.3. Janelle Arbon - landscape architect with over 16 years experience working on a broad spectrum of 
public realm projects across Australia and Internationally, in private practice, education and public 
sectors. 

16.4. Daniel Bennett - registered landscape architect with over 20 years experience in cities, movement, 
places and green infrastructure. 

17. A further targeted selection process was undertaken following the decision of Council from its meeting on 
13 December 2022.  No additional candidates resulted from this process for consideration. 

18. The nominations examined through the skills matrix are as follows:  

Vacant Skills 
Category Skills Description Nominees 

Existing Kadaltilla 
Board Member 

b recreation or open space 
planning or management 

Allison Bretones Yes 

Janelle Arbon No 

d landscape design or park 
management 

Daniel Bennett No 

e tourism or event 
management Rob Brookman AM Yes 

Page 109



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

g financial management - N/R 

 

19. The forward program for Kadaltilla will consider issues that relate to the Skills Description categories above, 
with significant initiatives including: 

19.1. Strategic Work: Review of the Adelaide Park Lands Management Strategy and the prioritisation and 
funding approaches for prioritised initiatives 

19.2. Major State Government Projects: progress of the Adelaide Aquatic Centre, Women’s and Children’s 
Hospital and Adelaide Botanic High School 

19.3. Landscape focussed initiatives such as the approach for Helen Mayo Park 

19.4. Sport and Recreation planning and development initiatives, including responses to the remainder of 
Denise Norton Park / Pardipardinyilla (Park 2) associated with the Adelaide Aquatic Centre 
redevelopment. 

20. To continue to achieve a range of knowledge, skills, and experience across the required skills categories for 
the purposes of meeting the agenda of Kadaltilla and in accordance with the membership provisions of the 
Act, it is recommended that the City of Adelaide nominate (for consultation with the Minister): 

20.1. Rob Brookman AM - with experience in tourism or event management 

20.2. Allison Bretones - with experience in recreation or open space planning or management. 

21. It is recommended that the appointment period is from 1 February 2023 to 31 December 2025, consistent 
with the other appointed Kadaltilla Board Members and the maximum term permitted in the Act and Charter . 

22. The nomination and appointment process are subject to provisions pursuant to the City of Adelaide Standing 
Orders (162 and 167), which state: 

22.1. Unless determined otherwise by Council, in the event of more nominations than required, an election 
by voting ballot of all Council Members present will be undertaken to select a nominee. 

22.2. At the conclusion of a voting ballot or drawing of lots, a resolution of the Council will be required to 
confirm the outcome of the election process. 

23. A notice in the South Australian Government Gazette will finalise the appointment. 

 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 - Adelaide Park Lands Act 2005 (SA) 

Link 2 - Kadaltilla / Park Lands Authority Charter 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil  

 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 110



Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Award of Contracts 
 

Strategic Alignment - Enabling Priorities 
Program Contact:  
Anthony Spartalis, Manager 
Finance & Procurement 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Amanda McIlroy, Chief Operating 
Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Council’s Procurement Policy requires Council to approve the award of contracts valued at $2,000,000 (ex GST) 
and above. The City of Adelaide approached the market for goods and services listed below.  

1. Project 1: Jeffcott Street South Streetscaping - Renewal of bluestone kerb and water table infrastructure 
and minor ancillary works on Jeffcott Street, between Wellington Square and Montefiore Hill Link 2 view 
here. 

2. Project 2: Morphett Street Streetscaping – Renewal of road, kerb and footpath assets on Morphett Street 
between Gouger Street and Whitmore Square, and Waymouth Street to Franklin Street. Link 3 view here. 

This report outlines the procurement process undertaken, including the approach to market and process of 
evaluation which has been undertaken in accordance with the approved CoA Procurement Policy, Procurement & 
Contracts Management Operating Guideline and associated Procurement and Contract Approvals Operating 
Guideline. 

Council approval is sought to award the contract to the preferred tenderer(s) as determined by the evaluation 
panel(s). Authority is sought for the Chief Executive Officer, or delegate, to execute the contract, including the 
approval of any variation (financial and non-financial) to the contract awarded based on this procurement process. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Approves the award of contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s) as identified by the evaluation panel(s) for 
the following goods and Services 

1.1 Project 1: Jeffcott Street South Streetscaping 

1.2 Project 2: Morphett Street Streetscaping 

2. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer or delegate to execute the relevant contract(s) including the 
approval of any variation (financial and non financial) to the contract based on the procurement process 
conducted. 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10.5

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Contracts_Link_2.pdf
https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Contracts_Link_3.pdf


 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  

Policy Projects 1, 2: The tender process and proposed award of contract comply with Council’s 
Procurement Policy. (Link 1 view here), 

Consultation 

Project 1, 2: In accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy, the published forward 
procurement plan available on our website for public viewing included the planned 
procurement for this contract.  
 
Jeffcott Street Engagement Project 1: 

  Engagement with impacted stakeholders will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Infrastructure Delivery Team’s standard practices for works of this nature. 

  Once construction times are confirmed key stakeholders will be contacted via a 
letter drop and inform them of construction timelines, impact and construction 
approach (individual meeting will ne held if and when required). 

  Project Manager (PM) will be primary contact for works,  
  Comprehensive Stakeholder Management Plan to be developed by PM, approved 

by Manager and Director  
 
Morphett Street Engagement Project 2: 

  Engagement with impacted stakeholders will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Infrastructure Delivery Team’s standard practices for works of this nature.  

  This will involve notification from the contractor to all adjacent properties 
prior to commencement of the works, daily updates provided from the site 
staff to locations directly impacted by the works (e.g. when driveways are 
going to be closed, etc). 

 
 

Resource Projects 1, 2: Not as a result of this report  

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

Projects 1, 2: A delay to approval has the potential to impact project material lead times and 
availability as well as project pricing and practical completion date. 

Opportunities Projects 1, 2: Tender approach enabled ability to choose preferred tenderer increasing 
ability to deliver in a timely manner and achieve value for money.  

22/23 Budget 
Allocation 

Project 1: The budget allocation for Jeffcott Street South Streetscaping over the project 
program is $2.5m 
 
Project 2: The budget allocation for Morphett Street Streetscaping over the project program 
is $3.25 million 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report  

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Project 1: Jeffcott Street - Contract term valid until December 2023 (indicative) + 12 Months 
Defects & Liability period  
 
Construction Timelines (subject to award of contract)  

  Lead time on pipes between 20 and 30 weeks will impact on construction 

Page 112



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

  Tender award post council decision (January 31st Council) 
  Construction program to be provided upon award – estimated 7 months 

construction period (to be confirmed)  
  Estimated completion date end of 2023 (calendar year) 

 
Project 2: Morphett Street - Contract term valid until December 2023 (indicative) + 12 
months Defects Liability period 
 
Construction Timelines (subject to award of contract) 
 

  We anticipate works will commence in the 3rd quarter of the 2023 calendar year 
and estimated completion by end of 2023 calendar.  

  Note: Commencement of the works will be dependent on the contractor availability, 
as well as the supply of stormwater drainage pipes and material. 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Project 1, 2: Not as a result of this report  

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report  

 

 
  

Page 113



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
Procurement Process 

1. In accordance with Council’s Procurement Policy, an open market approach was undertaken for Projects 1 
and 2, to ensure a suitably qualified contractor is appointed under the appropriate engagement terms and 
conditions. The evaluation process consisted of following stages:  

 1.1. Stage 1 – Preliminary Evaluation  

The preliminary evaluation allows for receipt of tenders via the public call for tender submission. All 
documents are viewed and downloaded into the record management system. Conflict of interest 
forms are submitted to the evaluation panel members. Panel members are trained and educated in 
good governance to ensure probity and transparency in decision making.  

 1.2. Stage 2 - Initial Short-listing of tenderers  

Panel members complete individual evaluations and rate the tenderers prior to the formal 
evaluation meeting. The panel discusses the individual evaluations collectively at the formal 
meeting. Any major discrepancies in scores are identified through this process thereby ensuing fact 
and evidence-based decision making to shortlist preferred suppliers.  

 1.3. Stage 3 – Final shortlisting of tenderers 

Where applicable and identified in the procurement plan, external consultant advice is applied by 
issuing further clarifications to shortlisted tenderers to minimise risk points raised during the 
evaluation panel meeting. Final negotiations, reference checks and financial viability assessments 
are conducted where deemed necessary. Following closure of the due diligence process, the 
preferred tenderer is established, and relevant authorisations are sought for financial delegations 
and contract award. 

 
2. The Council is required to approve all contract awards over $2,000,000 in accordance with the Procurement 

Policy and associated Procurement and Contract Approvals Operating Guideline.  
 
3. This report seeks approval to authorise the Chief Executive Officer, or delegate, the execute the relevant 

contract(s), including the approval of any variation (financial and non-financial) to the contract(s) based on the 
procurement process conducted.  

 
Project 1: Jeffcott Street South Streetscaping 

 
4. Background and special considerations: 

 
4.1. Jeffcott Street South requires heritage bluestone kerb and water table infrastructure to be renewed and 

minor ancillary works on Jeffcott Street, between Wellington Square and Montefiore Hill. 
 

4.2. Delivery of the contract provides value to Council by ensuring that the renewal works provide facilities to 
an appropriate standard for public use.  

 
4.3. The evaluation criteria utilised for this contract award were set prior to agreeing the procurement 

methodology and are as follows: 
 

4.3.1. Experience & Capability: The tenderer demonstrated appropriate skills, knowledge, and past 
performance in delivering the proposed works in similar projects.  
 

4.3.2. Methodology: A clear and comprehensive methodology was provided which demonstrated 
consideration of scope and site management of the project, whilst detailing the approach to 
stakeholder management. 

 
4.3.3. Program: A clear and logical sequence of tasks relevant to the tenderer’s methodology was provided. 

This identifies a critical path for overlapping stages of work, where applicable. 
 

4.3.4. Employment Contribution Test: % of labour hours performed in South Australia.  

Page 114



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

4.3.5. Price: Price and costing for the works is both competitive and comprehensive and is inclusive of all 
aspects of the requirements as set out in the specification.  
 

4.4. The evaluation panel consists of four key stakeholders with relevant expertise within the Infrastructure and 
Procurement workgroups. In addition to the panel, five internal advisors from assets, project delivery and 
infrastructure provided expert advice on submissions received. In accordance with Procurement Policy 
(Link 1 view here), integrity and probity in the evaluation process is evident in the records completed and 
filed in our record system. 

 
4.5. Five tenders were submitted by tenderers for the proposed works package. Per the evaluation process, 

the nominated panel members individually evaluated and scored each tenderer in accordance with the 
criteria.  

 
4.6. Short lists were created based on the methodology and pricing with resulting clarifications. Post receipt of 

the clarifications, the outcome supports that one tenderer is identified as the preferred supplier. As an 
outcome of the strict evaluation criteria and process, the tenderer as identified as bringing the best value 
for money approach is proposed to be engaged to deliver this critical infrastructure project. 

 
4.7. This report seeks approval to authorise the Chief Executive Officer or delegate to execute the relevant 

contract including the approval of any variation (financial and non-financial) to the contract based on the 
procurement process conducted.  

 
Project 2: Morphett Street Streetscaping 

 
5. Background and special considerations: 

 
5.1. The renewal works to Morphett Street requires supply and installation works to road, kerb and footpath 

assets, between Gouger Street and Whitmore Square, and Waymouth Street to Franklin Street.  
 

5.2. Delivery of the contract provides value to Council by ensuring that the renewal works provide facilities to 
an appropriate standard for public use.  

 
5.3. The evaluation criteria utilised for this contract award were set prior to agreeing the procurement 

methodology and are as follows: 
 

5.3.1. Price: Price and costing for the works is both competitive and comprehensive and is inclusive of all 
aspects of the requirements as set out in the specification.  

 
5.3.2. Methodology & Program: The tenderer provided a programme of works that was comprehensive, 

logical and demonstrated an ability to meet all key timeframes required so that Council can deliver 
timely.  

 
5.3.3. Capacity & Capability: The tenderer demonstrated that their existing workload is manageable 

inclusive of the proposed works under this Contract. The tenderer will utilise subcontractors in the 
delivery of the works.  

 
5.3.4. Resource & Experience: Through the tender process, the evaluation panel reviewed the tenderers 

resources and experience and deemed the proposed tenderer capable to deliver the works to a 
standard acceptable by Council.  

 
5.4. The evaluation panel consists of four key stakeholders with relevant expertise within the Infrastructure and 

Procurement workgroups. In accordance with Procurement Policy (Link 1 view here), integrity and probity 
in the evaluation process is evident in the records completed and filed in our record system. 

 
5.5. One tender was submitted by a tenderer for the proposed works package. Per the evaluation process, the 

nominated panel members individually evaluated and scored the tenderer’s response in accordance with 
the criteria. Based on the evaluation panels comprehensive review of the response received, a tenderer 
has been identified to be awarded the contract for this critical infrastructure project.  

 
5.6. Given only one tender response was received, the procurement team contacted relevant suppliers who 

downloaded the tender package from the SA Tenders website to obtain valuable feedback which has 
been shared with workgroups to improve responsiveness for future tenders.  

 
 

Page 115



 

Council – Agenda - Sunday, 1 January 2023

5.7. This report seeks approval to authorise the Chief Executive Officer or delegate to execute the relevant 
contract including the approval of any variation (financial and non-financial) to the contract based on the 
procurement process conducted.  

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Procurement Policy 
Link 2 – Project 1 - Jeffcott Street South Streetscaping 
Link 3 – Project 2 - Morphett Street Streetscaping 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 

- END OF REPORT -  
 

Page 116



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Appointments to External Bodies 
 

Strategic Alignment - Enabling Priorities 
Program Contact:  
Alana Martin, Manager 
Governance 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Amanda McIlroy - Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Council Members have an opportunity to represent the City of Adelaide on a number of external bodies.  

Council should consider if it wishes to have representation on each of these external bodies and, if so, is requested 
to approve the nominations of the relevant Council Members.  

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Approves the following representation on external bodies:  

1.1. One Council Member and one proxy to the Adelaide Airport Consultative Committee  

1.2. One Council Member to the Adelaide Botanic High School Council 

1.3. One Council Member to the Adelaide City of Music Limited Board 

1.4. One Council Member and one proxy member to the Business Events Adelaide Board (formerly 
known as Adelaide Convention Bureau Board) 

1.5. One Council Member to the Adelaide High School Governing Council 

1.6. One Council Member to the Adelaide Horse Trials Management Inc Board 

1.7. One Council Member to the Royal South Australia Regiment Council 

1.8. One Council Member to the Royal Adelaide Hospital Auxiliary Executive Committee 

2. Appoints Cr ______________ to the Adelaide Airport Consultative Committee for two years. 

3. Appoints Cr ______________ to the Adelaide Botanic High School Council for two years. 

4. Appoints Cr ______________ to the Adelaide City of Music Limited Board for two years.  

5. Appoints Cr ______________ to the Business Events Adelaide Board for two years. 

6. Appoints Cr _____________ to the Adelaide High School Governing Council for two years. 

7. Appoints Cr _____________ to the Adelaide Horse Trials Management Inc Board for three years. 

8. Appoints Cr _____________ to the Royal South Australia Regiment Council for two years. 

9. Appoints Cr _____________ to the Royal Adelaide Hospital Auxiliary Executive Committee for the 2022 – 
2026 municipal term.  

 

  

Page 117

Agenda Item 10.6



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
 

City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
This report aligns with the Strategic Plan objective of bold leadership and strategic 
partnerships to meet challenges and take up new opportunities. 

Policy Not as a result of this report 

Consultation Not as a result of this report 

Resource For participating members, preparation for and attendance at meetings. 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

There is no renumeration payable for these positions. 

Opportunities 
Appointments to outside bodies provide the opportunity for Council Members to contribute 
to discussion and decision making on a broad range of matters relevant to the City of 
Adelaide. 

22/23 Budget 
Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Not as a result of this report 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

  

Page 118



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
1. The following external bodies have written to the City of Adelaide requesting representation from Council:   

External Body  Appointment available  Term of appointment  
Adelaide Airport Consultative Committee  One member   Not specified 
Adelaide Botanic High School Council One member Maximum of two years 
Adelaide City of Music Limited Board One member  Not specified 
Business Events Adelaide Board (formerly 
known as Adelaide Convention Bureau 
Board) 

One member   Not specified 

Adelaide High School Governing Council  One member  Maximum of two years 
Adelaide Horse Trials Management Inc 
Board  

One member  Three years 

Royal South Australia Regiment Council One member  Not specified 
Royal Adelaide Hospital Auxiliary 
Executive Committee  

One member  
 

Can be for the term of Council 

2. Council should consider if it wishes to have representation on each body before appointing a Council 
Member. As none of these positions are legislated, Council is not obligated to have a representative. 

3. No remuneration is payable for these positions.  

4. Where a period of appointment is not specified, it is recommended that Council appoints a representative for 
two years. This allows the renewal of appointments to occur at the same time.   

5. Further information on the external bodies seeking representation from Council and meeting details found 
here found at Link 1 view here. 

6. Administration will write to these bodies and advise of Council’s decision. 

 

DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Link 1 – Further information on the external bodies seeking representation from Council  
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil  
 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 119

https://aws-ap-southeast2-coa-dmzfileserver.s3.ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/AgendasMinutes/files08/Attachments/Council_31_January_2023_Exernal_Bodies_Link_1.pdf


Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Premier's Climate Change Council 
 

Strategic Alignment - Enabling Priorities 
Program Contact:  
Alana Martin, Manager 
Governance 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Amanda McIlroy - Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Local Government Association of South Australia (LGA) has called for nominations for one local government 
representative position on the Premier’s Climate Change Council (PCCC). 

Council may put forward a maximum of two nominations of consideration by the LGA.  

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Authorises the nomination of two Council Members or staff members to represent the Local Government 
Association on the Premier’s Climate Council. 

2. Approves the nomination of Cr Dr Siebentritt as the City of Adelaide’s nominee to the LGA to represent it 
on the Premier’s Climate Council. 

 

Page 120

Agenda Item 10.7



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS 
City of Adelaide 
2020-2024 
Strategic Plan 

Strategic Alignment – Enabling Priorities  
This report supports the Strategic Plan action of building on effective advocacy and 
partnerships locally, nationally and globally. 

Policy Not as a result of this report 

Consultation 

Expressions of interest were sought from Council Members via an E-news on 5 January 
2023 
Councillor Siebentritt has expressed an interest in being nominated for the position. No 
other nominees have been received  

Resource For participating members, preparation for and attendance at five meetings per year. 

Risk / Legal / 
Legislative 

As remuneration is payable for the position, nominated Council Members are advised to 
declare a material conflict of interest and are recommended to leave the Council Chamber 
while the matter is being discussed and voted on. Nominations are still subject to the LGA 
appointment recommendation for Ministerial appointment 

A material conflict of interest may arise for a Council Member who is also a PCCC member 
if a matter were to be discussed at a meeting of the Council where the PCCC would gain a 
benefit, or suffer a loss, depending on the outcome of the consideration of the matter at the 
meeting. In that case, the Council Member must inform the Council meeting and leave the 
room while the matter is being discussed and voted on 

Opportunities 
Appointments to outside bodies provide an opportunity for Council Members to contribute to 
discussion and decision making on a broad range of matters relevant to the City of 
Adelaide. 

22/23 Budget 
Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Proposed 23/24 
Budget Allocation Not as a result of this report 

Life of Project, 
Service, Initiative 
or (Expectancy of) 
Asset 

Appointments to the Premier’s Climate Change Council are for a period of three years. 
In accordance with Standing Order 154, should a nominated Council member be appointed 
to the Premier’s Climate Change Council, they are required to resign from the position 
within one month of ceasing to be a Council Member. 

22/23 Budget 
Reconsideration  
(if applicable) 

Not as a result of this report 

Ongoing Costs 
(eg maintenance 
cost) 

Not as a result of this report 

Other Funding 
Sources Not as a result of this report 

 

 

Page 121



 

Council – Agenda - Tuesday, 31 January 2023

DISCUSSION 
1. The Local Government Association of South Australia (LGA) is seeking nominations for one local 

government representative for the Premier’s Climate Change Council (PCCC). 

2. The PCCC is established under Sections 9(2)(b) and 9(4) of the Climate Change and Greenhouse emissions 
Reduction Act 2007. 

3. The PCCC currently  includes representatives from State Government, business, environment and 
conservation, the scientific community, and local government. 

4. The PCCC’s primary function is to:  

  provide independent advice to the Minister for Environment and Water on reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions and adapting to climate change including achieving energy efficiencies, increasing the use 
of renewable energy, developing methods to remove greenhouse gases from the atmosphere, and 
establishing and achieving relevant targets. 

5. Nominations for the position must be current Council Members or staff members.  

6. Expressions of interest were sought from Council Members via an E-news on 5 January 2023. 

7. Council may put forward a maximum of two nominations for consideration by the LGA. 

8. Nominations will need to address the following selection criteria: 

8.1. Local government knowledge and experience 

8.2. Can demonstrate a commitment to action to address climate change 

8.3. Can demonstrate an understanding of the issues and impacts associated with climate change 

9. A statement about the nominee’s interest and experience in climate change must be provided. 

10. The appointment is for a period of three years. 

11. Councillor Siebentritt is the only Council Member who has expressed an interest in being nominated to the 
PCCC. 

12. Sitting fees of up to $12,383 p.a. are payable.  

13. Five meetings are held each year. The proposed meeting dates for the rest of the year are: 

13.1. Tuesday 11 July 2023, 2:00 pm to 5:00 pm 

13.2. Tuesday 19 September 2023, 9:00 am to 12:00 pm 

13.3. Tuesday 5 December 2023, 9:00 am to 12:00 pm. 

14. Nominations must be forwarded to the LGA by 5:00 pm Friday, 10 February 2023. 

15. The LGA will provide a shortlist of three nominees to the Minister, who will select the appointee from this list. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil  
 

- END OF REPORT -  

Page 122



 

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council 

Reports from Council Members 
 

Strategic Alignment - Enabling Priorities 
Program Contact:  
Alana Martin, Manager 
Governance 

Public 
 

Approving Officer:  
Amanda McIlroy - Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this report is to: 

1. Inform Council of Council Member activities and functions that Council Members have attended on behalf of 
the Lord Mayor. 

2. Provide a summary of Council Members’ attendance at meetings. 

Council Members can table reports on activities undertaken on relevant external Boards and committees where 
they are representing Council and these reports will be included in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Notes the Council Member activities and functions attended on behalf of the Lord Mayor (Attachment A to 
Item 12.1 on the Agenda for the meeting of the Council held on 31 January 2023). 

2. Notes the summary of Council Members meeting attendance (Attachment B to Item 12.1 on the Agenda 
for the meeting of the Council held on 31 January 2023) 

3. Notes that reports from Council Members tabled at the meeting of the Council held on 31 January 2023 be 
included in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Council Member activities and functions attended on behalf of the Lord Mayor 

Attachment B – Summary of Council Member meeting attendance 

 

- END OF REPORT -  

Page 123

Agenda Item 12.1



COUNCIL MEMBER DATE EVENT TITLE EVENT LOCATION

Councillor Phillip Martin (Deputy Lord Mayor) 01/12/22 TAFE Awards Civic Event, Adelaide Town Hall 

Councillor Jing Li 03/12/22 2022 SA Chinese Singing Competition Elder Hall, University of Adelaide 

Councillor Phillip Martin (Deputy Lord Mayor) 07/12/22 Adelaide Town Hall Christmas Concert Adelaide Town Hall 

Councillor Phillip Martin (Deputy Lord Mayor) 16/12/22 Asia Street Food Festival 2022 Pinky Flat 

Councillor Phillip Martin (Deputy Lord Mayor) 14/01/23  Adelaide International Finals 2023 Luncheon The Drive, War Memorial Drive 

FUNCTIONS ATTENDED ON BEHALF OF THE LORD MAYOR: 3 December 2022 - 16 January 2023

P
age 124

A
ttachm

ent A



Council Council
29 November 2022 13 December 2022

  2 2
  2 2

 2 1
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
  2 2
11 12

Key: Apology
Leave
Not a Member
Proxy Member

Total number

Councillor Jing Li

Councillor Arman Abrahimzadeh

Councillor Janet Giles
Councillor Simon Hou

Councillor Carmel Noon
Councillor Mark Siebentritt
Councillor Keiran Snape

Councillor David Elliott

Lord Mayor Dr Jane Lomax-Smith
Councillor Phillip Martin (Deputy Lord Mayor)

Councillor Mary Couros
Councillor Henry Davis

Council Member Meeting Attendance
Total meetings 

held
Total meetings 

attended

P
age 125

A
ttachm

ent B



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Paternity Leave 

 

Council Member  
Councillor Abrahimzadeh 

Public 
 

Contact Officer:  
Amanda Mcllroy, Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

QUESTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Abrahimzadeh will ask the following Question on Notice: 
‘In relation to paid paternity leave, what are male employees at the City of Adelaide entitled to? 

How does this entitlement compare to: 

  male employees of other Councils; 

  male employees of the Commonwealth; and 

  male employees of State Government.’ 

 

The Lord Mayor will provide a reply at the meeting, the reply and question will be included in the Minutes of the 
meeting. 

 

 

- END OF REPORT –  

 

Page 126

Agenda Item 13.1



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Free Adelaide Wi-Fi 

 

Council Member  
Councillor Li 

Public 
 

Contact Officer:  
Amanda Mcllroy, Chief 
Operating Officer 

 
 

QUESTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Abrahimzadeh will ask the following Question on Notice: 
‘What measures are in place to ensure the Adelaide Free Wi-Fi Project be delivered on time, within budget and 
achieve the planned benefits?’ 

 

The Lord Mayor will provide a reply at the meeting, the reply and question will be included in the Minutes of the 
meeting. 

 

 

- END OF REPORT –  

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 13.2



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Martin will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below 
to facilitate consideration by the Council: 
‘That Council: 
Asks the Administration to investigate and to report to the appropriate Council Committee by the end of the 2023 
school year the need for and the nature of any additional measures to enhance the safety of primary and 
secondary, public and private school students entering and leaving schools at the beginning and end of the school 
day, including the introduction of supervised or unsupervised so called “kiss and drop zones” at all schools in the 
City of Adelaide.’    
 
 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
 
1.  A business case for conducting a city-wide speed limit review will be presented to Council as part of the 

2023/2024 Business Plan and Budget. This responds to a number of motions presented to Council in 2022 
to review school safety and speed limits and builds on previous work undertaken on a City of Adelaide 
Speed Limit Review presented to Council on 1 October 2019. 

2. School safety and speed limits are closely linked. If this motion is carried, transport safety around schools 
will be included within the scope of the proposed city-wide speed limit review.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Student Safety 

 

 

Council Member  
Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor 
Martin 

Public 
 

Contact Officer:  
Tom McCready, Director City 
Services 

 

Page 128

Agenda Item 15.1



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 
Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

The city-wide speed limit review will include public consultation. 

External consultant advice 
 

Not applicable 

Legal advice / litigation (eg contract 
breach) 
 

Not applicable 

Impacts on existing projects 
 

City-wide speed limit review scope change 

Budget reallocation 
 

Not applicable 

Capital investment 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 

Not applicable 

Other Not applicable 
Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

To prepare this administration comment in response to the motion on 
notice took approximately 4.5 hours.  

 

 

- END OF REPORT –  

 

Page 129



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Abrahimzadeh will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below to facilitate 
consideration by the Council: 
‘That Council: 

  Notes Council’s previous campaigns and initiatives in relation to family and domestic violence (Step Up for 
Gender Equality, Bystander Action Workshops, Women’s Safety Mural and others). 

  Notes the state’s first public Coercive Control forum taking place in Adelaide in mid-March 2023. 

  Requests administration to work with the Office for Women and relevant state government Minister and 
provide in-kind support for this forum where possible (hosting / facilitating the forum, assist in distribution of 
information about the forum and other activities deemed appropriate).’ 

 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
 

1. The State Government is planning a public forum in Adelaide in mid-March 2023 on coercive control.  The 
forum follows the State Government’s election commitment to introduce legislation to criminalise coercive 
control and community consultation undertaken in late 2021. 

2. Coercive control is a pattern of controlling and coercive behaviours over time that may include physical, 
sexual, psychological, financial and emotional abuse and intimidation.  Coercive control is a form of domestic 
violence that is sometimes invisible to family and friends.  While anyone can experience coercive control, 
women are more likely to be impacted. 

3. A public forum on coercive control is:  

3.1. An important step in increasing community awareness about non-physical forms of domestic violence 

3.2. Consistent with City of Adelaide Safer City Policy 2019-2023 and Safer City Action Plan 2019-2023. 

4. The City of Adelaide supports gender equality in relation to family and domestic violence through multiple 
campaigns and initiatives including: 

4.1. Step Up for Gender Equality  

4.2. Bystander Action Workshops 

4.3. Women’s Safety Mural.  

5. The City of Adelaide’s gender equality initiatives aim to create a safer city environment where violence 
against women is less likely to occur as the community is equipped to take action to address the gendered 
drivers of violence. These are in addition to women’s focussed safety initiatives such as Project Night Light, 
an education and training program focussed on the safety of women at late night venues. 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Coercive Control Forum Support 

Council Member  
Councillor Abrahimzadeh 

Public Contact Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

Page 130

Agenda Item 15.2



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

6. The City of Adelaide established a Gender Equality Steering Group in May 2002 with membership across 
government, non-government and private organisations. The Office for Women is a member of the Steering 
Committee. 

7. The Office for Women will present about their work in women’s safety at the February 2023 meeting of the 
Gender Equality Steering Group. 

8. The Office for Women is currently working with us to explore opportunities to partner with Council to host the 
public forum on coercive control in mid-March 2023, including the potential to use the Town Hall as the 
venue. Opportunities to further support the forum will be explored with the Office for Women.   

 

Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

Council Administration will work with the Office for Women to promote 
the March public forum on Coercive Control in collaboration with other 
Gender Equality Steering Group Members. 

External consultant advice 
 

Not applicable  

Legal advice / litigation (e.g. contract 
breach) 
 

Not as a result of this report 

Impacts on existing projects 
 

Not as a result of this report 

Budget reallocation 
 

Town Hall Hire costs: $2,935 plus AV can be discounted by 10% for 
community focussed events. Cost information has been shared with the 
Office for Women.  

Capital investment 
 

Not as a result of this report 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 
 

Not applicable  

Other 
 

Not applicable 
Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

To prepare this administration comment in response to the motion on 
notice took approximately 4.5 hrs.  

 
 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 131



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Davis will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below to facilitate 
consideration by the Council: 

‘That parts 5 to 26 of the decision of Council on 17/1/2023 in relation to the Governance Structure, namely 

That Council: 

1.       …. 

2.       …. 

3.       …. 

4.       …. 

Option Three-Four Functional Committees 

5.       Establishes the following committees in accordance with section 41 of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA): 

5.1.    City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 

5.2.    Infrastructure and Public Works Committee 

5.3.    City Finance and Governance Committee 

5.4.    City Community Services and Culture Committee 

6.       Adopts a Committee Meeting Schedule as follows (noting that meeting cycles may vary at the discretion of 
the Chief Executive Officer in consultation with the Committee Chair), with all meetings being held in the 
Colonel Light Room, Adelaide Town Hall: 

6.1.    City Finance and Governance Committee first Tuesday of the month (except January and December) 
at 5.30pm 

6.2.    City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee the first Tuesday of the month (except 
January and December) not later than 7.00pm 

6.3.    City Community Services and Culture Committee third Tuesday of the month (except January and 
December) at 5.30pm 

6.4.    Infrastructure and Public Works Committee third Tuesday of the month (except January and 
December) not later than 7.00pm 

7.       Applies the provisions of Parts 1, 3 and 4 of the Local Government (Procedures at Meetings) Regulations 
2013 (SA) to all meetings of the committees established in part 4. 

8.       Notes that there will be a key liaison at Director level assigned to each Committee to assist Committee in 
discharging its responsibilities under its the Terms of Reference.  

9.       Approves the Chair and Deputy Chair of each Committee to attend training on Meeting Procedures and 
Chairing Skills (if deemed necessary). 

City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Governance Structure - Revocation 

 

 

Council Member  
Councillor Davis 

Public 
 

Contact Officer:  
Amanda Mcllroy, Chief 
Operating Officer 

Page 132

Agenda Item 15.3



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

10.     That the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee Terms of Reference be updated to 
delete the following 

“To monitor and report on the performance of Council owned subsidiaries, against their respective charters 
with which they have been established” 

11.     Appoints the following Council Members to the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee 
from 17 January 2023 until the last Council meeting in January 2025, those being: 

Lord Mayor 
Deputy Lord Mayor Martin  
Cr Abrahimzadeh OAM 
Cr Giles 
Cr Martin 
Cr Couros 
Cr Noon 
Cr Hou 
Cr Elliott 
Cr Li 
Cr Snape 
Cr Davis 
Cr Dr Siebentritt 

12.     Appoints Cr Noon as the Chair of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs Committee from 17 
January 2023 for a period of a year. 

13.     Appoints DLM Cr Martin as the Deputy Chair of the City Planning, Development and Business Affairs 
Committee from 17 January 2023 for a period of a year. 

Infrastructure and Public Works Committee 

14.     Appoints the following Council Members to the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee from 17 January 
2023 until the last Council meeting in January 2025, those being: 

Lord Mayor 
Deputy Lord Mayor Martin  
Cr Abrahimzadeh OAM 
Cr Giles 
Cr Martin 
Cr Couros 
Cr Noon 
Cr Hou 
Cr Elliott 
Cr Li 
Cr Snape 
Cr Davis 
Cr Dr Siebentritt 

15.     Appoints Cr Couros as the Chair of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee from 17 January 2023 for 
a period of a year. 

16.     Appoints Cr Elliott as the Deputy Chair of the Infrastructure and Public Works Committee from 17 January 
2023 for a period of a year. 

City Finance and Governance Committee 

17.     That the Finance and Governance Committee Terms of Reference be updated to include the following 

“ monitor the City of Adelaide’s  performance though the receipt of assurance reports on programs, projects 
and services” . 

18.     That the Finance and Governance Committee Terms of Reference be updated to include the following 

“To monitor and report on the performance of Council owned subsidiaries, against their respective charters 
with which they have been established”. 

19.     Appoints the following Council Members to the City Finance and Governance Committee from 17 January 
2023 until the last Council meeting in January 2025, those being: 

Lord Mayor 
Deputy Lord Mayor Martin  
Cr Abrahimzadeh OAM 

Page 133



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

Cr Giles 
Cr Martin 
Cr Couros 
Cr Noon 
Cr Hou 
Cr Elliott 
Cr Li 
Cr Snape 
Cr Davis 
Cr Dr Siebentritt 

20.     Appoints Cr Siebentritt as the Chair of the City Finance and Governance Committee from 17 January 2023 
for a period of a year. 

21.     Appoints Cr Li as the Deputy Chair of the City Finance and Governance Committee from 17 January 2023 
for a period of a year. 

City Community Services and Culture Committee 

22.     Appoints the following Council Members to the City Community Services and Culture Committee from 17 
January 2023 until the last Council meeting in January 2025, those being: 

Lord Mayor 
Deputy Lord Mayor Martin  
Cr Abrahimzadeh OAM 
Cr Giles 
Cr Martin 
Cr Couros 
Cr Noon 
Cr Hou 
Cr Elliott 
Cr Li 
Cr Snape 
Cr Davis 
Cr Dr Siebentritt 

23.     Appoints Cr Giles as the Chair of the City Community Services and Culture Committee from 17 January 
2023 for a period of a year. 

24.     Appoints Cr Davis as the Deputy Chair of the City Community Services and Culture Committee from 17 
January 2023 for a period of a year. 

25.     Adopts the Terms of Reference (as contained as Attachment C to Item 4.1 on the Agenda of the Special 
Council meeting held on 17 January 2023), and authorises the amendment of these documents to reflect the 
resolution of Council. 

26.     Authorise the CEO to make any necessary or desirable typographical or syntactical revisions to the Terms of 
Reference for the adopted committee structure. 

be revoked.’ 
Contingent upon parts 5 to 26 of the decision of decision of the Council 31/01/2023 being revoked, I Councillor 
Davis, having complied with the Regulations will then move: 

‘That Council: 

1. Establish four regular information and briefing sessions (IBS) for the purposes of Section 90A of the Local 
Government Act 1999 (SA) called: 

1.1. City Planning, Development and Business Affairs  

1.2. Infrastructure and Public Works  

1.3. City Finance and Governance  

1.4. City Community Services and Culture 

2.  Adopts an IBS Schedule as follows (noting that IBS cycles may vary at the discretion of the Chief Executive 
Officer) in consultation with the IBS Chair), with all sessions being held in the Colonel Light Room, Adelaide 
Town Hall: 

2.1. City Planning, Development and Business Affairs IBS first Tuesday of the month (except January and 
December) at 5.30pm 

Page 134



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

2.2. Infrastructure and Public Works IBS first Tuesday of the month (except January and December) at 
7.00pm 

2.3. City Finance and Governance IBS third Tuesday of the month (except January and December) at 5.30 
pm 

2.4. City Community Services and Culture IBS third Tuesday of the month (except January and December) 
at 7.00 pm  

3. Request that the Administration prepare a draft guiding procedure document for each of the four IBS, in a 
manner consistent with Section 90A of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA), setting out relevant procedural 
and resourcing matters governing the operation of the IBS, for adoption by Council. 

4. That in respect of each IBS: 

4.1. it be recorded;  

4.2. it be live Streamed; and 

4.3. prescribed information be recorded and given to the public about the IBS, consistent with Section 
90A(7) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) and Regulation 8AB of the Local Government 
(General) Regulations 2013. 

5. Approves the delivering of training sessions for the Chair and Deputy Chair of each IBS regarding the 
provisions of Section 90A of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) and the terms of the IBS procedures to be 
adopted by Council. 

6. Appoints Cr Noon as the Chair and DLM Cr Martin as the Deputy Chair of the City Planning, Development 
and Business Affairs IBS from 17 January 2023 for a period of a year. 

7. Appoints Cr Couros as the Chair and Cr Elliott as the Deputy Chair of the Infrastructure and Public Works 
IBS from 17 January 2023 for a period of a year. 

8. Appoints Cr Dr Siebentritt and Cr Li as the Deputy Chair as the Chair of the City Finance and Governance 
IBS from 17 January 2023 for a period of a year. 

9. Appoints Cr Giles as the Chair and Cr Davis as the Deputy Chair of the City Community Services and 
Culture IBS from 17 January 2023 for a period of a year.’ 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
1. The Motion on Notice seeks to revoke the Council Committee structure and replace it with a series of 

Informal Briefing Sessions.  

Revocation 
2. The Local Government (Procedures at Meetings) Regulations 2013 prescribes that a motion to revoke a 

Council Decision (made since the last general election) must happen through a notice of motion.  

3. If the motion is lost, a motion to the same effect cannot be brought to Council for the next 12 months.  

4. This means, if the motion to revoke is lost, the Council Committee Structure, as a whole, cannot be changed 
for the next 12 months. This would not affect the ability to update the Terms of References that apply.  

5. Those members appointed as Presiding Members to Council Committees will have a Material Conflict of 
Interest in the revoking of the Council Committee Structures. This is because the result of the revocation 
would mean the cessation of the extra allowance paid. 

6. Part 4 of the decision of Council on 17 January 2023, noted the Governance Structure (including any terms 
of reference) will be reviewed in consultation with Council Members in July 2023 for effectiveness.  

Establishing Information and Briefing Sessions 
7. The Motion on Notice seeks to establish a series of information and briefing sessions (IBS) consistent with 

Section 90A of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA). The provisions applicable to Council Committees 
cannot be applied, as these IBS are not established under Section 41 of the Local Government Act 1999 
(SA). 

8. Such sessions would be entirely informal, not subject to substantive meeting procedural rules, and would not 
constitute decision-making bodies. 

Page 135



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

9. While these sessions could be chaired by Council members, given that the sessions would be largely 
informal, there would be limited work for a chairperson to do. These roles would not attract any additional 
remuneration  

Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

Not applicable. 
 

External consultant advice 
 

Not applicable. 
 

Legal advice / litigation (eg contract 
breach) 
 

Council has sought legal advice (approximately $600 + GST) in relation 
to the constitution of the Information Briefings Sessions as well as the 
Conflict-of-Interest Provisions which has been incorporated into this 
response.  

Impacts on existing projects 
 

Not applicable. 
 

Budget reallocation 
 

If successful, the alternative motion will mean that Council will not  have 
any committees, nor any committee chairs.  As such, an additional 
allowance to presiding members of committees will no longer be payable  
The Renumeration Tribunal has determined that the Presiding Members 
of core Council Committees shall be paid $7,173 in addition to their 
allowance.  
 

Capital investment 
 

Not applicable. 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 

Not applicable. 

Other Not applicable. 
Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

5.5 hours. 

 

 

- END OF REPORT –  

 

Page 136

https://www.remtribunal.sa.gov.au/documents/2022/20220705-Determination-3-of-2022-Members-of-Adelaide-City-Council.pdf


 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Elliott will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below to facilitate 
consideration by the Council: 
‘That Council: 

1.  Requests that Administration investigate and report to Council on the implementation of Pedestrian Actuated 
Crossing (PAC) automation and longer pedestrian crossing signal durations at key areas to facilitate safer 
and quicker walking journeys. 

2.  Requests that Administration investigate and report to Council on the implementation of touchless and on-
demand pedestrian crossing technologies to facilitate safer and quicker pedestrian movements.’ 

 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
 
1. At its meeting on 8 March 2022, a Motion on Notice to maintain permanent automation of pedestrian 

crossings was considered but not carried by Council. As per the Council decision, automated pedestrian 
crossings were reset to pre-COVID-19 settings. 

2. All Traffic Signals operated with the Central Business District (CBD) are owned and maintained by the City of 
Adelaide and monitored by the Department for Infrastructure and Transport’s Traffic Management Centre 
(TMC). 

3. Of the 130 traffic signals and pedestrian crossings operating within the CBD, approximately 50 sites remain 
automated. This number changes as reviews of individual sites are conducted. 

4. As part of the 2023/2024 Business Plan and Budget, the following business cases are currently being 
prepared for Council consideration: 

4.1 Conducting a traffic signal review. Automation of pedestrian crossings will be considered as part of 
  this review. 

4.2 Developing a new Integrated Transport Strategy. Pedestrian infrastructure and level of service will 
  be considered as part of this strategy. 

 
  

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Re-automation of Pedestrian Actuated 

Crossings 
 

 Council Member  
Councillor Elliott 

Public 
 

Contact Officer:  
Tom McCready, Director City 
Services 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 15.4



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

Public consultation will occur as part of the development of a new 
integrated transport strategy 

External consultant advice 
 

Not applicable  

Legal advice / litigation (e.g. contract 
breach) 
 

Not applicable 

Impacts on existing projects 
 

Not applicable 

Budget reallocation 
 

Not applicable 

Capital investment 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 

Not applicable 

Other Not applicable 
Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

To prepare this administration comment in response to the motion on 
notice took approximately 4.5 hours.  
 

 

 

- END OF REPORT –  

 

Page 138



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Snape will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below to facilitate 
consideration by the Council: 
‘That Council: 

In order to protect much-welcomed native waterfowl: 

1. The area inside Victoria Park/Pakapakanthi (Park 16) that is known as the South-East Wetlands, be 
designated as 'Dogs on leash at all times.' 

2. Asks administration to install appropriate signage at every entrance to the wetlands including a brief 
explanation why.’ 

 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
 

1. The City of Adelaide’s dog on-leash and off-leash areas form part of the General Provisions of the 
Community Land Management Plan, which were adopted by Council in December 2021. 

2. Council’s decision followed a public consultation process which received a significant amount of feedback, 
with responses from both those supporting off-leash areas, and others preferring on-leash areas. 

3. In Victoria Park / Pakapakanthi (Park 16) dogs may be off-leash, apart from the area east of the Criterium 
Track and north of the central path where they must be on-leash. At the time of consultation this was where 
pedestrian/recreational activity was highest. 

4. The current dog leash provisions were developed, and the community consulted, well in advance of 
completion of the Brownhill Keswick Creek Project ‘Victoria Park Wetlands’ in May 2022. 

5. Shortly after the Victoria Park Wetlands were completed, members of the community raised concerns about 
the potential impact of dogs off leash on the new wildlife.  

6. In response, the Brownhill Keswick Creek Project Team installed advisory signage to raise awareness and 
educate dog owners on the need to protect the new plants and wildlife. 

7. This signage states: “Please stay on the pathways and keep dogs out of the water and off planted areas. Our 
new wetland needs time to establish. Aquatic plants, surrounding landscaping and lawned areas may be 
easily damaged.” 

8. If this Motion is carried, we will: 

8.1. Amend the Community Land Management Plan to include the Victoria Park Wetlands within Victoria 
Park / Pakapakanthi (Park 16) as a designated ‘Dogs on leash at all times’ area and update maps 
accordingly.  

8.2. Install appropriate signage at entrances to the Victoria Park Wetlands to communicate this change to 
the community.  

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Vic Park Wetlands – Dogs on Leash 

Council Member  
Councillor Snape 

Public Contact Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

Page 139

Agenda Item 15.5

https://www.cityofadelaide.com.au/resident/pets-and-animals/dog-on-leash-and-off-leash-areas/
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/Plan-CLMP-General-Provisions.pdf
https://d31atr86jnqrq2.cloudfront.net/Plan-CLMP-General-Provisions.pdf


 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

Extensive community consultation was undertaken in 2021 and further 
consultation is not considered necessary should this motion be carried.  

External consultant advice 
 

Not applicable  

Legal advice / litigation (e.g. contract 
breach) 
 

Not applicable 

Impacts on existing projects 
 

Not applicable 

Budget reallocation 
 

The installation of signage will be managed within existing budgets 

Capital investment 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 
 

Not applicable 

Other 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

To prepare this administration comment in response to the motion on 
notice took approximately 4.5 hours. 
 

 
 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 140



 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 

MOTION ON NOTICE 
Councillor Giles will move a motion and seek a seconder for the matter shown below to facilitate 
consideration by the Council: 
‘That Council: 

Acknowledges the concerns of residents of North Adelaide who live adjacent to the proposed site for the Adelaide 
Aquatic Centre and supports them in their opposition to the location of the Centre and their request for the 
identification of an alternate site that delivers the redevelopment of this valued community asset but also protects 
their rights as residents.’  
 

 

ADMINISTRATION COMMENT 
 

1. On 5 September 2022 the Premier Peter Malinauskas MP advised that the new Adelaide Aquatic Centre will 
be located in the south western corner of Pardipardinyilla / Denise Norton Park (Park 2), with works planned 
to commence late 2023. 

2. The State Government undertook community consultation with regard to the final selection for the site of 
their redevelopment project. 

3. The State Government noted in their communication with the public, and their briefing session with Council, 
that while they had selected the south western corner of Pardipardinyilla / Denise Norton Park (Park 2), they 
had looked to push the development site as north as possible toward the existing car park and current 
facility, to provide as much buffer as possible from residents. 

4. Council will have opportunity to engage with the Adelaide Aquatic Centre Redevelopment Project, including 
decision making in relation to the project, at upcoming Committee and Council meetings through early 2023, 
the first opportunity will be on 21 February 2023 at the City Community Services and Culture Committee. 

5. Consultation for the Department for Infrastructure and Transport’s (DIT) Adelaide Aquatic Centre Code 
Amendment opened on 23 January 2023 and closes 5pm on 6 March 2023.   

6. Residents of North Adelaide can respond in writing to the State Government’s Proposal to Initiate an 
Amendment to the Planning & Design Code Amendment through DIT’s consultation process. 

 
Should the motion be carried, the following implications of this motion should be considered. Note any costs 
provided are estimates only – no quotes or prices have been obtained: 
Public consultation 
 

The State Government is undertaking consultation as part of the 
Department for Infrastructure and Transport’s (DIT) Adelaide Aquatic 
Centre Code Amendment. This consultation opened on 23 January 2023 
and closes 5pm on 6 March 2023. 

External consultant advice Not applicable 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Adelaide Aquatic Centre 

Council Member  
Councillor Giles 

Public Contact Officer:  
Ilia Houridis, Director City 
Shaping 

Page 141

Agenda Item 15.6

https://plan.sa.gov.au/have_your_say/code-amendments/on-consultation


 

Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 31 January 2023

 
Legal advice / litigation (eg contract 
breach) 

Not applicable 

Impacts on existing projects 
 

Not applicable 

Budget reallocation 
 

Not applicable 

Capital investment 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in preparing the workshop / 
report requested in the motion 
 

Not applicable 

Other 
 

Not applicable 

Staff time in receiving and preparing 
this administration comment 
 

To prepare this administration comment in response to the motion on 
notice took approximately 4 hours. 
 

 
 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 142



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 13 December 2022

 

Tuesday, 31 January 2023 
Council Exclusion of the Public 

 

Program Contact:  
Alana Martin, Manager 
Governance 8203 7092 

2018/04291 
Public 

 

Approving Officer:  
Clare Mockler, Chief 
Executive Officer 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act), states that a Council may order that the public be 
excluded from attendance at a meeting if the Council considers it to be necessary and appropriate to act in a 
meeting closed to the public to receive, discuss or consider in confidence any information or matter listed in section 
90(3) of the Act.  

It is the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer that the public be excluded from this Council meeting for 
the consideration of information and matters contained in the Agenda. 

For the following Chief Executive Officer Reports seeking consideration in confidence 
18.1 Lease Rundle Street [section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act] 
18.2 Assignment of Lease – 86 Grote Street [section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act] 

  
The Order to Exclude for Items 18.1 and 18.2: 

1. Identifies the information and matters (grounds) from section 90(3) of the Act utilised to request 
consideration in confidence. 

2. Identifies the basis – how the information falls within the grounds identified and why it is necessary and 
appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public. 

3. In addition, identifies for the following grounds – section 90(3) (b), (d) or (j) of the Act - how information 
open to the public would be contrary to the public interest. 

 

 
 

ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 18.1 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Having taken into account the relevant consideration contained in section 90(3) (b) & (d) and section 90(2) & 
(7) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA), this meeting of the Council dated 31 January 2023 resolves that 
it is necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public as the consideration of Item 18.1 
[Lease Rundle Street] listed on the Agenda in a meeting open to the public would on balance be contrary to 
the public interest. 

Grounds and Basis 

This Item contains certain information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure of 
which could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council is 
conducting business, prejudice the commercial position of the council and prejudice the commercial position 
of the person who supplied the information and confer a commercial advantage to a third party.  

More specifically, the disclosure of certain information in this report could reasonably prejudice the 
commercial position of the Council including its future commercial dealings given that it contains financial 
information in regards to commercial leasing and further direction with regard to Council’s assets and 
strategic land holdings.    

Page 143

Agenda Item 17



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 13 December 2022

 

Public Interest  

The Council is satisfied that the principle that the meeting be conducted in a place open to the public has 
been outweighed in the circumstances given that the information in this report, including certain financial 
information and further direction, may prejudice its future commercial dealings within regard to its assets and 
strategic land holdings.  On this basis, the disclosure of such information may severely prejudice the City of 
Adelaide’s ability to influence the proposal for the benefit of the City of Adelaide and the community in this 
matter. 

2. Pursuant to section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act), this meeting of the Council dated 
31 January 2023 orders that the public (with the exception of members of Corporation staff and any person 
permitted to remain) be excluded from this meeting to enable this meeting to receive, discuss or consider in 
confidence Item 18.1 [Lease Rundle Street] listed in the Agenda, on the grounds that such item of business, 
contains information and matters of a kind referred to in section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act.    

 

ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 18.2 
THAT COUNCIL 

1. Having taken into account the relevant consideration contained in section 90(3) (b) & (d) and section 90(2) & 
(7) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA), this meeting of the Council dated 31 January 2023 resolves that 
it is necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public as the consideration of Item 18.2 
[Assignment of Lease – 86 Grote Street] listed on the Agenda in a meeting open to the public would on 
balance be contrary to the public interest. 

Grounds and Basis 

This Item contains certain information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure of 
which could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council is 
conducting business, prejudice the commercial position of the council and prejudice the commercial position 
of the person who supplied the information and confer a commercial advantage to a third party.  

More specifically, the disclosure of certain information in this report could reasonably prejudice the 
commercial position of the Council including its future commercial dealings given that it contains financial 
information in regards to commercial leasing and further direction with regard to Council’s assets and 
strategic land holdings.    

Public Interest  

The Council is satisfied that the principle that the meeting be conducted in a place open to the public has 
been outweighed in the circumstances because the disclosure of this information in this report, including 
certain financial information and further direction, may prejudice its future commercial dealings within regard 
to its assets and strategic land holdings.  On this basis, the disclosure of such information may severely 
prejudice the City of Adelaide’s ability to influence the proposal for the benefit of the City of Adelaide and the 
community in this matter.  

2. Pursuant to section 90(2) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act), this meeting of the Council dated 
31 January 2023 orders that the public (with the exception of members of Corporation staff and any person 
permitted to remain) be excluded from this meeting to enable this meeting to receive, discuss or consider in 
confidence Item 18.2 [Assignment of Lease – 86 Grote Street] listed in the Agenda, on the grounds that such 
item of business, contains information and matters of a kind referred to in section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act.    

 
 

 
 

Page 144



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 13 December 2022

DISCUSSION 
1. Section 90(1) of the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) (the Act) directs that a meeting of Council must be 

conducted in a place open to the public. 

2. Section 90(2) of the Act, states that a Council may order that the public be excluded from attendance at a 
meeting if Council considers it to be necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public to 
receive, discuss or consider in confidence any information or matter listed in section 90(3) of the Act.  

3. Section 90(3) of the Act prescribes the information and matters that a Council may order that the public be 
excluded from. 

4. Section 90(4) of the Act, advises that in considering whether an order should be made to exclude the public 
under section 90(2) of the Act, it is irrelevant that discussion of a matter in public may - 

‘(a) cause embarrassment to the council or council committee concerned, or to members or employees 
of the council; or  

(b) cause a loss of confidence in the council or council committee; or 

(c) involve discussion of a matter that is controversial within the council area; or  

(d) make the council susceptible to adverse criticism.’ 

5. Section 90(7) of the Act requires that an order to exclude the public: 

5.1 Identify the information and matters (grounds) from section 90(3) of the Act utilised to request 
consideration in confidence. 

5.2 Identify the basis – how the information falls within the grounds identified and why it is necessary 
and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the public. 

5.3 In addition identify for the following grounds – section 90(3) (b), (d) or (j) of the Act - how information 
open to the public would be contrary to the public interest. 

6. Section 83(5) of the Act has been utilised to identify in the Agenda and on the Report for the meeting, that 
the following reports are submitted seeking consideration in confidence. 

6.1. Information contained in Item 18.1 – Lease Rundle Street 

6.1.1 Is not subject to an Existing Confidentiality Order. 

6.1.2 The grounds utilised to request consideration in confidence is section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act 

(b) information the disclosure of which –  

(i) could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person 
with whom the council is conducting, or proposing to conduct, business, or to 
prejudice the commercial position of the council; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest; 

(d) commercial information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure 
of which-  

(i) could reasonably be expected to prejudice the commercial position of the 
person who supplied the information, or to confer a commercial advantage on a 
third party; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest;  

6.2. Information contained in Item 18.2 – Assignment of Lease – 86 Grote Street 

6.2.1 Is not subject to an Existing Confidentiality Order. 

6.2.2 The grounds utilised to request consideration in confidence is section 90(3) (b) & (d) of the Act 

(b) information the disclosure of which –  

(i) could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial advantage on a person 
with whom the council is conducting, or proposing to conduct, business, or to 
prejudice the commercial position of the council; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest; 

(d) commercial information of a confidential nature (not being a trade secret) the disclosure 
of which-  

Page 145



Council – Agenda – Tuesday, 13 December 2022

(i) could reasonably be expected to prejudice the commercial position of the 
person who supplied the information, or to confer a commercial advantage on a 
third party; and 

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest;  

 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 
Nil  
 

- END OF REPORT - 

Page 146



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 18.1
Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) - Section 90(3) ((b),(d))



Document is Restricted

Page 151

Agenda Item 18.2
Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) - Section 90(3) ((b),(d))



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Attachment A
Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1999 (SA) - Section 90(3) ((b),(d))


	Agenda
	10.1 Planning System Implementation Review
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A for Planning System Implementation Review
	Draft Letter from CEO to J Stimson - Chair Expert Panel - Planning System Implementation Review - February 2023
	PPS23-028 Planning System Implementation Review_25 Jan 2023_v4
	Table section


	10.2 Submission to the Review of the Late Night Trading Code of Practice
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A for Late Night Code of Practice Submission

	10.3 Community Impact Grants and Community Infrastructure Grants Round 1
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A - Community Impact Grants - Round 1 Funding Recommendations January 2023 - over 10k recommended
	Attachment B - Community Infrastructure Grant funding recommendations 2022 2023 - for Council endorsement

	10.4 Nomination of Council Appointed Members to Kadaltilla
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS

	10.5 Award of Contracts
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS

	10.6 Appointments to External Bodies
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	DATA AND SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	ATTACHMENTS

	10.7 Premier's Climate Change Council
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	IMPLICATIONS AND FINANCIALS
	DISCUSSION
	ATTACHMENTS

	12.1 Reports from Council Members
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	ATTACHMENTS
	Attachment A for Reports from Council Members
	Attachment B for Reports from Council Members

	13.1 Councillor Abrahimzadeh - QoN - Paternity Leave
	QUESTION ON NOTICE

	13.2 Councillor Li - QoN - Free Adelaide Wi-Fi
	QUESTION ON NOTICE

	15.1 Deputy Lord Mayor (Councillor Martin) - MoN - Student Safety
	MOTION ON NOTICE
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	15.2 Councillor Abrahimzadeh - MoN - Coercive Control Forum Support
	MOTION ON NOTICE
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	15.3 Councillor Davis - MoN - Governance Structure - Revocation
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	15.4 Councillor Elliott - MoN - Re-automation of Pedestrian Actuated Crossings
	MOTION ON NOTICE
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	15.5 Councillor Snape - MoN - Vic Park Wetlands - Dogs on Leash
	MOTION ON NOTICE
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	15.6 Councillor Giles - MoN - Adelaide Aquatic Centre
	MOTION ON NOTICE
	ADMINISTRATION COMMENT

	17 Exclusion of the Public
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 18.1
	ORDER TO EXCLUDE FOR ITEM 18.2
	DISCUSSION
	ATTACHMENTS

	18.1 Lease Rundle Street
	18.2 Assignment of Lease - 86 Grote Street
	Attachment A - Site map of premises




